UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Decoupling for the parabola and connections to efficient congruencing

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/0cz3756c

Author Li, Zane Kun

Publication Date 2019

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Decoupling for the parabola and connections to efficient congruencing

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics

by

Zane Kun Li

© Copyright by Zane Kun Li 2019

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

Decoupling for the parabola and connections to efficient congruencing

by

Zane Kun Li Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics University of California, Los Angeles, 2019 Professor Terence Chi-Shen Tao, Chair

This thesis presents effective quantitative bounds for l^2 decoupling for the parabola. We first make effective the argument of Bourgain and Demeter in [BD17] for the case of the parabola. This allows us to improve upon the bound of $O_{\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ on the decoupling constant. Next, we give a new proof of l^2 decoupling for the parabola inspired from efficient congruencing. We also mention how efficient congruencing relates to decoupling for the cubic moment curve. This chapter contains the first known translation of an efficient congruencing argument into decoupling language. Finally, we discuss equivalences and monotonicity of various parabola decoupling constants and a "small ball" l^2 decoupling problem. The dissertation of Zane Kun Li is approved.

John B. Garnett

Rowan Brett Killip

Monica Visan

Terence Chi-Shen Tao, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Intr	$\operatorname{ntroduction}$		
	1.1	What is decoupling?		
		1.1.1 Decoupling for the paraboloid and moment curve		
		1.1.2 The extension operator formulation		
	1.2	Vinogradov's mean value theorem		
	1.3	Summary of the results		
2	Effe	ective l^2 decoupling for the parabola		
	2.1	Introduction		
	2.2	Weight functions and consequences		
		2.2.1 The weights w_B and \tilde{w}_B		
		2.2.2 Explicit Schwartz functions		
		2.2.3 Immediate applications		
		2.2.4 Bernstein's inequality		
		2.2.5 $l^2 L^2$ decoupling		
	2.3	Equivalence of local decoupling constants		
		2.3.1 Proof of Lemma 2.3.10		
		2.3.2 Proof of (2.56)		
	2.4	Parabolic rescaling: an application		
	2.5	Bilinear equivalence		
	2.6	Ball inflation		
	2.7	The iteration: preliminaries		
	2.8	Control of the bilinear decoupling constant		

		2.8.1	Case $2 \leq p \leq 4$	76
		2.8.2	Case $4 $	79
	2.9	Decou	pling at lacunary scales	82
		2.9.1	Case $4 $	83
		2.9.2	Case $p = 6$	85
	2.10	Decou	pling at all scales	86
	2.11	Proof	of Theorem 2.1.1	87
3	An	l^2 deco	oupling interpretation of efficient congruencing in 2D	89
	3.1	Introd	luction	89
		3.1.1	More notation	90
		3.1.2	Outline of proof of Theorem 3.1.1	91
		3.1.3	Comparison with 2D efficient congruencing as in [Pie19, Section 4]	93
		3.1.4	Comparison with 2D l^2 decoupling as in [BD17]	94
		3.1.5	Comparison of the iteration in Section 3.2 and 3.4	95
		3.1.6	Overview of chapter	96
	3.2	Proof	of Theorem 3.1.1	97
		3.2.1	Parabolic rescaling and consequences	97
		3.2.2	A Fefferman-Cordoba argument	100
		3.2.3	The $O_{\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ bound	104
		3.2.4	An explicit bound	105
	3.3	An un	acertainty principle interpretation of Lemma 3.2.8	108
	3.4	An alt	ternate proof of $D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$	113
		3.4.1	Some basic properties	114
		3.4.2	Ball inflation	115

	3.4.3	The $O_{\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ bound	118
3.5	Unifyi	ng the two styles of proof	120
3.6	An eff	ficient congruencing style proof of $l^2 L^4$ decoupling for the parabola	124
	3.6.1	Setup and some standard lemmas	124
	3.6.2	The key technical lemma	126
	3.6.3	The iteration and endgame	130
3.7	A dec	oupling interpretation of efficient congruencing for the cubic moment	
	curve		132
ł Mo	re proj	perties of the parabola decoupling constant	136
4.1	Equiv	alence of some more parabola decoupling constants	136
	4.1.1	Basic tools and definitions	137
	4.1.2	Equivalence of parallelogram decoupling constants	139
	4.1.3	Equivalence of decoupling constants	142
4.2	Monot	tonicity of the parabola decoupling constant	144
4.3	An ele	ementary proof of $l^2 L^4$ decoupling for the parabola	147
4.4	Small	ball l^2 decoupling for the paraboloid $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	150
	4.4.1	The lower bound	151
	4.4.2	The upper bound	152
Refere	ences .		155

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor Terence Tao for his constant encouragement, advice, patience, and support. I am very grateful to Ciprian Demeter and Larry Guth for the many discussions about decoupling we had at various conferences and during visits. I am greatly indebted to Elias Stein who taught my first course in Fourier analysis at Princeton and gave me advice and support through my undergraduate and graduate careers.

I would also like to thank Kevin Hughes and Trevor Wooley for discussions on efficient congruencing that helped me gain a better understanding of the area. The work in Section 3.7 was based off discussions with Shaoming Guo and Po-Lam Yung at the Chinese University of Hong Kong and I thank Po-Lam for being such a wonderful host and providing me with support to visit him. I also thank Kirsti Biggs and Sarah Peluse for preliminary discussions on this topic. Finally, I thank Hong Wang for allowing me to use her example in Section 4.4.

This thesis was completed with support in part by an NSF Graduate Research Fellowship (DGE-1144087), NSF grant DMS-1266164, and a Girsky Fellowship award.

VITA

2013	A.B. (Mathematics), Princeton University
2013	National Science Foundation Graduate Research Fellowship
2015	M.A. (Mathematics), University of California, Los Angeles
2018	Girsky Fellowship, Department of Mathematics, University of California, Los Angeles

PUBLICATIONS

Zane Kun Li, An l^2 decoupling interpretation of efficient congruencing in 2D, Preprint: arXiv:1805.10551.

Zane Kun Li, Effective l^2 decoupling for the parabola, Preprint: arXiv:1711.01202.

Zane Kun Li, *Quadratic twists of elliptic curves with 3-Selmer rank 1*, International Journal of Number Theory **10** (2014), no. 5, 1191–1217.

David Corwin, Tony Feng, Zane Kun Li, and Sarah Trebat-Leder, *Elliptic curves with full 2*torsion and maximal adelic Galois representations, Mathematics of Computation **83** (2014), 2925–2951.

Zane Kun Li and Alexander W. Walker, Arithmetic properties of Picard-Fuchs equations and holonomic recurrences, Journal of Number Theory **133** (2013), 2770–2793.

Zane Kun Li, *A normal form for cubic surfaces*, International Journal of Algebra **4** (2010), no. 5, 233–239.

Zane Kun Li, On a special case of the intersection of quadric and cubic surfaces, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra **214** (2010), no. 11, 2078–2086.

Stephen P. Humphries and Zane Kun Li, *Counting powers of words in monoids*, European Journal of Combinatorics **30** (2009), no. 5, 1297–1308.

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

1.1 What is decoupling?

Consider a region $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ and a partition $\{\theta\}$ of Ω . Let f_{θ} be defined on the Fourier side by $\hat{f}_{\theta} = \hat{f} \mathbf{1}_{\theta}$. Then

$$f = \sum_{\theta} f_{\theta}.$$

Furthermore since the $\{\theta\}$ are a partition of Ω , Plancherel's theorem gives that

$$\|f\|_2 = (\sum_{\theta} \|f_{\theta}\|_2^2)^{1/2}$$

and hence to study $||f||_2$, it suffices to study $||f_{\theta}||_2$ for each θ . In this sense f has "decoupled" into the individual f_{θ} pieces.

We now ask instead of taking an L^2 norm, what happens in the case when we use instead an L^p norm. That is, let $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|f\|_p \leqslant D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta) (\sum_{\theta} \|f_{\theta}\|_p^2)^{1/2}$$
(1.1)

for all f with Fourier transform supported in Ω . What is the best estimate we can have for $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta)$? From the triangle inequality and Cauchy-Schwarz, $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta) \leq (\#\theta)^{1/2}$, however we seek the optimal bound of $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta)$. In (1.1), we defined an l^2L^p decoupling for $\Omega = \bigcup \theta$, however we could have as well defined an l^qL^p decoupling here where the l^2 sum is replaced by an l^q one. For brevity, we will often just use the phrase " l^2 decoupling" rather than " l^2L^p decoupling."

Decoupling-type inequalities were first studied by Wolff in [Wol00] who proved a sharp $l^p L^p$ decoupling theorem for the cone in 2 + 1 dimensions for p > 74 and applied it to

derive new local smoothing estimates. Wolff's work was further extended and generalized in [LW02, LP06, GS09, GS10]. Bourgain in [Bou13] was able to use induction on scales from [BG11] and multilinear restriction from [BCT06] to partially resolve l^2L^p decoupling for smooth compact hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^n in the range $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2n}{n-1}$. Following the proof of l^2L^p decoupling for smooth compact hypersurfaces in \mathbb{R}^n by Bourgain and Demeter in [BD15] for the full range $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$, decoupling inequalities for various curves and surfaces have found many applications to PDE ([Lee16, DGG17, DGL17, BBG18, BHS18, DGL18, FSW18, DZ19]), geometric measure theory ([DGO18, GIO18]), and analytic number theory ([BD16, BDG16, Bou17a, Bou17b, BDG17, Guo17, Hea17, BW18, GZ18a, GZ18b]). This list is by no means exhaustive, for a more complete list see [Pie19].

1.1.1 Decoupling for the paraboloid and moment curve

We now restriction attention to l^2 decoupling for the paraboloid [BD15] and moment curve [BDG16]. In the case of decoupling for the paraboloid, let

$$\Omega = \{ (\underline{s}, |\underline{s}|^2 + t) : \underline{s} \in [0, 1]^{n-1}, |t| \le \delta^2 \}$$

and we partition Ω into θ of the form

$$\{(\underline{s}, |\underline{s}|^2 + t) : \underline{s} \in Q, |t| \leq \delta^2\}$$

for frequency cube $Q \subset [0,1]^{n-1}$ of length δ . Then in [BD15], it was shown that $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $2 \leqslant p \leqslant \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$. Note that having a δ^2 neighborhood is natural here since at this scale, the θ look like a $\delta \times \delta \times \cdots \times \delta \times \delta^2$ rectangular boxes.

For decoupling for the moment curve $t \mapsto (t, t^2, t^3, \ldots, t^n)$, let Ω be the δ^n -neighborhood of $\{(t, t^2, \ldots, t^n) : t \in [0, 1]\}$ and the $\{\theta\}$ be the δ^n -neighborhood of $\{(t, t^2, \ldots, t^n) : t \in J\}$ where J runs through a partition of [0, 1] into intervals of length δ . Then in [BDG16], it was shown that $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $2 \leq p \leq n(n+1)$. Similarly as the previous paragraph, a δ^n neighborhood is natural here since at this scale, the θ look like a $\delta \times \delta^2 \times \delta^3 \cdots \times \delta^n$ rectangular box. Applying this decoupling theorem to a particular f, then showed Vinogradov's mean value theorem.

We note that the ranges of $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$ and $2 \leq p \leq n(n+1)$ in decoupling for the paraboloid and moment curve, respectively, are sharp up to $\delta^{-\epsilon}$ -losses. That is, to have $D_p(\Omega = \bigcup \theta) \leq_{\epsilon} \delta^{-\epsilon}$ in the cases mentioned above, we need $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$ for the paraboloid and $2 \leq p \leq n(n+1)$ for the moment curve. To see the necessity of the upper bounds of $p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$ and $p \leq n(n+1)$, we can consider the example where $\hat{f}_{\theta}(\xi)$ is a Schwartz function version of $\frac{1}{|\theta|} 1_{\theta}(\xi)$. Finally to see the necessity of the lower bound $p \geq 2$ in both cases, we can consider the example where $\hat{f}_{\theta}(\xi)$ is a Schwartz function version of $\frac{1}{|\theta|} 1_{\theta}(\xi) e^{2\pi i c_{\theta} \cdot \xi}$ where $\{c_{\theta}\}$ are a collection of very far spaced points in \mathbb{R}^n .

1.1.2 The extension operator formulation

Instead of using the Fourier localized version of decoupling, we will instead use the extension operator formulation of decoupling. Both versions of decoupling are equivalent (see Sections 2.3 and 4.1 and Remark 5.2 of [BD15]) however the latter formulation makes it easier to see how decoupling estimates imply exponential sum estimates.

We define the extension operator formulation of decoupling for the paraboloid and moment curve. We note that we will use various different formulations in each of the chapters later, so the following two definitions are just for the reader to get a flavor of what definitions are ahead.

Let $P_{\delta}(Q)$ be the partition of $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ into cubes of length δ . For a cube $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ centered at c_B of side length R, let

$$w_B(x) := (1 + \frac{|x - c_B|}{R})^{-100n}.$$

For the paraboloid, given an cube $Q \subset [0, 1]^{n-1}$, let

$$(\mathcal{E}_Q g)(x) = \int_Q g(\xi) e(\xi \cdot \underline{x} + |\xi|^2 x_n) \, d\xi$$

where $e(z) := e^{2\pi i z}$ and $\underline{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1})$. Let $D_p^{parab}(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]^{n-1}}g\|_{L^p(B)} \leqslant D_p^{parab}(\delta) \left(\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\mathcal{E}_Q g\|_{L^p(w_B)}^2\right)^{1/2}$$
(1.2)

for all functions $g: [0,1]^{n-1} \to \mathbb{C}$ and cubes $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of side length δ^{-2} . Then [BD15] showed that $D_p^{parab}(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$.

Now we define the extension operator formulation of decoupling for the moment curve. For $J \subset [0, 1]$, let

$$(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x) = \int_J g(\xi) e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2 + \dots + \xi^n x_n) d\xi.$$

Let $D_p^{moment}(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq D_{p}^{moment}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(1.3)

for all functions $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and cubes $B \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of side length δ^{-n} . Then [BDG16] showed that $D_p^{moment}(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for $2 \leq p \leq n(n+1)$.

In all sections except Sections 3.7 and 4.4, we will be considering decoupling for the parabola. Note that the parabola is the moment curve in \mathbb{R}^2 .

1.2 Vinogradov's mean value theorem

For integers $s, k \ge 1$, let $J_{s,k}(N)$ be the number of 2s tuples $(x_1, \ldots, x_s, y_1, \ldots, y_s) \in [1, N]^{2s}$ such that

$$x_1 + x_2 + \dots + x_s = y_1 + y_2 + \dots + y_s$$
$$x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \dots + x_s^2 = y_1^2 + y_2^2 + \dots + y_s^2$$
$$\vdots$$
$$x_1^k + x_2^k + \dots + x_s^k = y_1^k + y_2^k + \dots + y_s^k.$$

Since $1_{n=0} = \int_0^1 e(n\alpha) \, d\alpha$, we have

$$J_{s,k}(N) = \int_{[0,1]^k} |\sum_{n=1}^N e(\alpha_1 n + \alpha_2 n^2 + \dots + \alpha_k n^k)|^{2s} \, d\alpha.$$
(1.4)

If we set $x_i = y_i$ for i = 1, 2, ..., s, then $J_{s,k}(N) \ge N^s$. If we view the x_j and y_j as uniformly distributed in [1, N], the *i*th power equation heuristically has a $1/N^i$ chance of being true and so this gives another $N^{2s}/\prod_{i=1}^k N^{-i} = N^{2s-k(k+1)/2}$ many solutions. This heuristic can be made rigorous as follows. Observe that for $1 \le i \le k$, since

$$|x_1^i + x_2^i + \dots + x_s^i - y_1^i - y_2^i - \dots - y_s^i| \leq 2sN^i.$$

Then

$$N^{2s} \lesssim \sum_{\substack{|h_1| \leq 2sX \\ \vdots \\ |h_k| \leq 2sX^k}} \int_{[0,1]^k} |\sum_{n=1}^N e(\alpha_1 n + \alpha_2 n^2 + \dots + \alpha_k n^k)|^{2s} e(-\alpha_1 h_1 - \alpha_2 h_2 - \dots - \alpha_k h_k) \, d\alpha.$$

Applying the triangle inequality then shows that $J_{s,k}(N) \gtrsim_{s,k} N^{2s - \frac{k(k+1)}{2}}$. Thus we have obtained as a lower bound that

$$J_{s,k}(N) \gtrsim_{s,k} N^s + N^{2s - \frac{k(k+1)}{2}}.$$

In 1935, Vinogradov [Vin35] was motivated by applications to Waring's problem and the Riemann zeta function to study the mean value (1.4). The main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value methods was that the lower bound on $J_{s,k}(N)$ is essentially an upper bound. That is,

$$J_{s,k}(N) \lesssim_{s,k,\varepsilon} N^{\varepsilon} (N^s + N^{2s - \frac{k(k+1)}{2}})$$
(1.5)

or equivalently

$$\int_{[0,1]^k} |\sum_{n=1}^N e(\alpha_1 n + \alpha_2 n^2 + \dots + \alpha_k n^k)|^{2s} \, d\alpha \lesssim_{s,k,\varepsilon} N^{\varepsilon} (N^s + N^{2s - \frac{k(k+1)}{2}}).$$
(1.6)

From Hölder's inequality it suffices to just consider the critical case when 2s = k(k + 1) in which case (1.6) reduces to showing

$$\int_{[0,1]^k} \left| \sum_{n=1}^N e(\alpha_1 n + \alpha_2 n^2 + \dots + \alpha_k n^k) \right|^{k(k+1)} d\alpha \lesssim_{k,\varepsilon} N^{\frac{k(k+1)}{2} + \varepsilon}.$$

A change of variables and using periodicity shows that this is equivalent to showing that

$$\int_{[0,N^k]^k} |\sum_{n=1}^N e(\alpha_1 \frac{n}{N} + \alpha_2 (\frac{n}{N})^2 + \dots + \alpha_k (\frac{n}{N})^k)|^{k(k+1)} \lesssim_{k,\varepsilon} N^{k^2 + \frac{k(k+1)}{2} + \varepsilon}.$$

But this follows from l^2 decoupling for the moment curve (1.3) with the choice: $g(\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} 1_{\xi=j/N}, p = k(k+1), \text{ and } \delta = 1/N.$

The critical case when k = 2 is classical. Wooley developed over a series of papers [Woo12, Woo13, Woo15, Woo17] the theory of efficient congruencing for Vinogradov's mean value

theorem eventually proving in [Woo17] that (1.5) is true for all $1 \le s \le \frac{1}{2}k(k+1) - \frac{1}{3}k + o(k)$. Additionally in 2014 he was able to prove the critical k = 3 case ([Woo16], with a simplified approach by Heath-Brown in [Hea15]). In 2015, Bourgain-Demeter-Guth [BDG16] proved the sharp l^2 decoupling of the moment curve which then resolved Vinogradov's mean value conjecture for all $k \ge 2$. In 2017, Wooley [Woo19] then modified his efficient congruencing approach to also work for all $k \ge 2$. We refer the reader to [Pie19] for a more detailed summary of the history, background, and motivation of both efficient congruencing and decoupling methods.

Determining the dependence on ε for the implied constant in $J_{k(k+1)/2,k}(N) \leq_{\varepsilon} N^{k(k+1)/2+\varepsilon}$ is essential to applications of Vinogradov's mean value theorem to number theoretic results such as the growth of the zeta function in the critical strip, the zero free region, and zero density estimates [For02, Hea17]. See also [Hea17] and the MathOverflow question [Lew15] for applications of an effective Bourgain-Demeter-Guth result. One key point is that it is important to work out the dependence on the dimension n. The proof of decoupling for the moment curve in n dimensions relies on decoupling for the moment curve in (n-1)dimensions. We then need to first study decoupling for $\xi \mapsto (\xi, \xi^2)$, in other words (2.4) with n = 2. This motivates why we study decoupling for the parabola in detail in this thesis.

Similarities between the efficient congruencing [Woo19] and decoupling [BDG16] methods such as the reliance on translation-dilation invariance for efficient congruencing and parabolic rescaling for decoupling have been observed (see Section 8.5 of [Pie19]). However, no precise dictionary between the two methods has been written down. Chapter 3 is the first to write down an efficient congruencing argument in decoupling language and makes precise how these two methods compare in the special case of a parabola. There is ongoing work joint with Shaoming Guo and Po-Lam Yung dealing with interpreting more complicated efficient congruencing arguments such as those found in [Hea15] and [Woo19].

1.3 Summary of the results

We now summarize all results in this thesis. We will let $D_p(\delta)$ be as in (1.2) with n = 2(that is the decoupling constant for the parabola). Chapter 2 deals with obtaining explicit estimates in the decoupling constant for the parabola. By following the argument of [BD17], in Theorem 2.1.1, we show that

$$D_p(\delta) \lesssim \begin{cases} \exp(O((\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1-c_p})) & \text{if } 2 \leq p < 6\\ \exp(O(\frac{\log \frac{1}{\delta}}{\log \log \frac{1}{\delta}} \log \log \log \frac{1}{\delta})) & \text{if } p = 6 \end{cases}$$

where c_p is a small constant increasing to 1 as p increases to 6. We make all implied constants explicit and we carefully deal with various smoothed versions of 1_B that show up in the argument.

Chapter 3 was inspired from reading [Pie19, Section 4.3] and is the first concrete interpretation of an efficient congruencing proof into a decoupling language. The proof of l^2 decoupling for the parabola is boiled down the four basic steps: parabolic rescaling, bilinearization, ball inflation, and Hölder. Using our explicit estimates from Chapter 2, the argument we give in this chapter obtains that

$$D_6(\delta) \lesssim \exp(O(\frac{\log \frac{1}{\delta}}{\log \log \frac{1}{\delta}})).$$

This reproves

$$\|\sum_{|n|\leqslant N} a_n e^{2\pi i (nx+n^2t)}\|_{L^6_{x,t}(\mathbb{T}^2)} \lesssim \exp(O(\frac{\log N}{\log \log N})) (\sum_{|n|\leqslant N} |a_n|^2)^{1/2}$$
(1.7)

without using any number theory. Bourgain showed (1.7) in Proposition 2.36 of [Bou93] using the divisor bound. It is unknown whether the $\exp(O(\frac{\log N}{\log \log N}))$ can be improved. We also give three proofs of $D_6(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$, one that looks like an efficient congruencing proof (Section 3.2), a proof using language more familiar to decoupling (Sections 3.3 and 3.4) that includes a simplified ball inflation lemma, and finally a proof that looks more similar to that done by Bourgain-Demeter in [BD15, BD17] (Section 3.5). Finally, in Section 3.7, we outline work in progress with Shaoming Guo and Po-Lam Yung dealing with interpreting efficient congruencing as in [Hea15] into the decoupling language. In our final chapter, we tie up some loose ends about the equivalence of various parabola decoupling constants (Section 4.1). Various equivalences of parabola decoupling constants were first dealt with in Section 2.3 to deal with issues arising from parabolic rescaling (Section 2.4). However all the decoupling constants in Section 2.3 were spatially localized (that is, have a $L^p(B)$ or $L^p(w_B)$) while in Section 4.1, we introduce some decoupling constants that are not spatially localized. This section complements the remark made in [BD15, Remark 5.2]. In Section 4.2, we give an immediate application of this equivalence and show that all eight parabola decoupling constants we define throughout this thesis (listed on Page 143) are equivalent and almost monotonic. Next we then given an elementary direct proof of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola in Section 4.3. Finally in Section 4.4, we discuss a "small ball" l^2 decoupling problem whose solution was first communicated to the author by Hong Wang.

CHAPTER 2

Effective l^2 decoupling for the parabola

2.1 Introduction

In [BD15] and later with a more streamlined proof [BD17], Bourgain and Demeter prove that the decoupling constant associated to the paraboloid $\{(\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_{n-1}, \xi_1^2 + \cdots + \xi_{n-1}^2) :$ $\xi_i \in [0, 1]\}$ is $O_{n,\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ for $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$. In [BDG16], Bourgain, Demeter, and Guth prove that the decoupling constant associated to the moment curve $\{(\xi, \xi^2, \ldots, \xi^n) : \xi \in [0, 1]\}$ is $O_{n,\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ for $2 \leq p \leq n(n+1)$ which resolved Vinogradov's mean value conjecture. Both the moment curve and the paraboloid are the same when n = 2. It is this case we study and make effective.

For each interval $J \subset [0,1]$ and $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, let

$$(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x) := \int_J g(\xi) e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2) \, d\xi$$

where here $e(z) = e^{2\pi i z}$. Note that $\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g$ is the extension operator for the parabola $\{(\xi, \xi^2) : \xi \in [0,1]\}$. For an integer $E \ge 1$ and a square $B = B(c_B, R) \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ centered at $c_B = (c_{B1}, c_{B2})$ of side length R, let

$$w_{B,E}(x) := (1 + \frac{|x - c_B|}{R})^{-E}.$$

If I is an interval in [0, 1] and $\delta \in (0, 1)$, let $P_{\delta}(I)$ be the partition of I into $|I|/\delta$ many intervals of length δ . Note that when writing $P_{\delta}(I)$, we assume $|I|/\delta \in \mathbb{N}$. For $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, $2 \leq p < \infty$, and $E \geq 1$, let $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ be the smallest constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq D_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(2.1)

for all (axis-parallel) squares $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of side length δ^{-1} and all functions $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$. Since $1_B \leq 2^E w_{B,E}$, the trivial bound for $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ is $2^{E/p} \delta^{-1/4}$ which follows from the triangle inequality and Cauchy-Schwarz. We will call $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ a (local) decoupling constant associated to the parabola $\{(\xi, \xi^2) : \xi \in [0, 1]\}$. Note that $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ is essentially the same size as $\text{Dec}_2(\delta, p, E)$ in [BD17] (a consequence of Proposition 2.2.11).

By making effective the arguments in [BD17], we have the following improvement over $D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$.

Theorem 2.1.1. Let $E \ge 100$ and $0 < \delta < 2^{-64E^{15E}}$ with $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$.

(i) If $2 \leq p \leq 4$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq \exp(E^{6E}(\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{2/3}).$$

(*ii*) If 4 , then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq \exp(E^{6E}(\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{\frac{2}{3} + \frac{1}{3}\log_2(\frac{p-2}{2})}).$$

(iii) If p = 6, then

$$D_{6,E}(\delta) \leq \exp(E^{6E} \frac{\log \frac{1}{\delta}}{\log \log \frac{1}{\delta}} \log \log \log \log \frac{1}{\delta}).$$

Using the trivial bound for $\delta > 2^{-64E^{15E}}$, one can obtain an upper bound on $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ that is valid for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$.

In the proof of decoupling for the paraboloid or the moment curve in n dimensions, one crucial input is a decoupling in (n-1) dimensions. This is most easily seen by the reliance on a Bourgain-Guth iteration to show the equivalence between linear and multilinear decoupling constants. In the case of the moment curve, this also makes an additional appearance in a step called lower dimensional decoupling (Lemma 8.2 of [BDG16]) since various sections of the moment curve look lower dimensional at certain scales. Thus ultimately we are reduced to first studying explicit decoupling in n = 2 dimensions. Because of this reduction of dimension argument, the arguments of [BD17, BDG16] should give an upper bound on the decoupling constant that is worse than those stated in Theorem 2.1.1.

While the argument in this chapter is similar to [BD17], we highlight some key features. One major feature is that we carefully work with the various weight functions that show up in the argument and obtain estimates with explicit constants. Section 2.2 develops all the estimates needed about the weight function $w_{B,E}$. The most crucial observation is that $w_{B(0,R),E} * w_{B(0,R'),E} \leq_E R'^2 w_{B(0,R),E}$ for $0 < R' \leq R$ (Lemma 2.2.1). The calculations in Section 2.2 can be easily generalized to n dimensions. A careful study of the weight $w_{B,E}$ reveals that the decoupling constant with weight $w_{B,E}$ does not behave too well under parabolic rescaling, see Lemma 2.2.18, Remark 2.2.19, and the proof of Proposition 2.4.1. Essentially this is because $w_{B,E}$ weights all directions evenly and so it is well-adapted for squares and circles but not rectangles and ellipses. To accommodate this, we introduce a second weight

$$\widetilde{w}_{B,E}(x) := w_{B,E}(x)(1 + \frac{|x_2 - c_{B2}|}{R})^{-E}$$
(2.2)

and let $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ be defined similarly as in (2.1) but with $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$. We will then need that $D_{p,E}(\delta) \sim_E \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ which is the topic of Section 2.3. Once we have this, we then recover almost multiplicativity of $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ in Section 2.4 and other applications of parabolic rescaling. This also introduces some slight changes compared to [BD17], namely our multilinear decoupling constant in Section 2.5 is defined with weight $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$ rather than $w_{B,E}$ and in our iteration, A_p uses weight $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$ rather than $w_{B,E}$. The ball inflation inequality of [BD17] is made effective in Section 2.6. We have chosen to keep track of the dependence on E since estimates for the decoupling constant in higher dimensions for a specific E may depend on an estimate for the decoupling constant at a lower dimension with a different E(see for example, Theorems 5.1 and 8.4 of [BD17]).

Another key feature is that we do not ignore integrality constraints about partitioning intervals into an integer number of smaller intervals. Tracing all the integrality constraints on the parameters in the argument, the iteration in Sections 2.7 and 2.8 gives a good upper bound for the linear decoupling constant along a lacunary sequence of scales (Section 2.9). Using almost multiplicativity of the linear decoupling constant (Proposition 2.4.1) and the trivial bound, we can upgrade this to be a good upper bound on all scales. This is done in Section 2.10. Finally optimizing in Section 2.11 completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.1.

2.2 Weight functions and consequences

2.2.1 The weights w_B and \widetilde{w}_B

As defined in Section 2.1, we recall that

$$w_B(x) := (1 + \frac{|x - c_B|}{R})^{-E}$$

and

$$\widetilde{w}_B(x) := w_B(x)(1 + \frac{|x_2 - c_{B2}|}{R})^{-E}.$$

If w is a weight function for B, let

$$||f||_{L^p_{\#}(w)} := \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f(x)|^p w(x) \, dx\right)^{1/p}.$$

We will make use of the following two inequalities that are immediate applications of Hölder's inequality: If 1/p = 1/q + 1/r, then

$$||fg||_{L^p(w_{B,E})} \leq ||f||_{L^q(w_{B,E})} ||g||_{L^r(w_{B,E})}$$

and if q > p,

$$\|f\|_{L^p_{\#}(w_{B,E})} \leqslant \|f\|_{L^q_{\#}(w_{B,E})}.$$
(2.3)

The above two inequalities also hold with $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\tilde{w}_{B,E}$. When B is a square centered at the origin, w_B and \tilde{w}_B obey the following two important self-convolution estimates.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let $E \ge 10$. For $0 < R' \le R$,

$$w_{B(0,R),E} * w_{B(0,R'),E} \leq 4^{E} R'^{2} w_{B(0,R),E}.$$
(2.4)

We also have

$$R^2 w_{B(0,R),E} \leqslant 3^E \mathbf{1}_{B(0,R)} * w_{B(0,R),E}.$$
(2.5)

The same inequalities with the same constants hold true when $w_{B(0,R),E}$ is replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$.

Proof. We first prove (2.4). We would like to give an upper bound for the expression

$$\frac{1}{R'^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|}{R}\right)^{-E} \left(1 + \frac{|y|}{R'}\right)^{-E} \left(1 + \frac{|x|}{R}\right)^E dy$$

depending only on E. A change of variables in y and rescaling x shows that it suffices to give an upper bound for

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1+|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|)^{-E} (1+|y|)^{-E} (1+|x|)^E \, dy \tag{2.6}$$

depending only on E. If $|x| \leq 1$, then (2.6) is

$$\leq 2^E \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1+|y|)^{-E} \, dy \leq 2^E$$

If |x| > 1, then we split (2.6) into

$$\left(\int_{|x-\frac{R'}{R}y| \leq \frac{|x|}{2}} + \int_{|x-\frac{R'}{R}y| > \frac{|x|}{2}}\right)\left(1 + |x-\frac{R'}{R}y|\right)^{-E}(1+|y|)^{-E}(1+|x|)^{E}\,dy.$$
(2.7)

In the case of the first integral in (2.7), $(R'/R)|y| \ge |x| - |x - (R'/R)y| \ge |x|/2$ and hence

$$\begin{split} \int_{|x-\frac{R'}{R}y| \leq \frac{|x|}{2}} (1+|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|)^{-E} (1+|y|)^{-E} (1+|x|)^E \, dy \\ & \leq (\frac{(1+|x|)^E}{(1+(R/R')|x|/2)^E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1+|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|)^{-E} \, dy \leq (4R'/R)^E (R/R')^2 \leq 4^E. \end{split}$$

In the case of the second integral in (2.7),

$$\begin{split} \int_{|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|>\frac{|x|}{2}} (1+|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|)^{-E}(1+|y|)^{-E}(1+|x|)^E \, dy \\ &\leqslant (\frac{1+|x|}{1+|x|/2})^E \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1+|y|)^{-E} \, dy \leqslant 2^E. \end{split}$$

This then proves (2.4).

To prove (2.5) it suffices to give a lower bound for

$$\frac{1}{R^2} \int_{B(0,R)} (1 + \frac{|x-y|}{R})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|x|}{R})^E \, dy$$

which depends only on E. As before, rescaling x and a change of variables in y gives that it suffices to give a lower bound independent of x for

$$\int_{B(0,1)} \left(\frac{1+|x|}{1+|x-y|}\right)^E dy \ge \left(\frac{1+|x|}{2+|x|}\right)^E \ge 2^{-E}.$$

Thus we have shown that $\frac{1}{R^2}(1_{B(0,R)} * w_{B(0,R),E}) \ge 2^{-E} w_{B(0,R),E}$ which shows (2.5).

We now prove the analogues for $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$. We first prove the analogue of (2.4). We would like to give an upper bound for the expression

$$\frac{1}{R'^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1 + \frac{|x - y|}{R})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|x_2 - y_2|}{R})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|y|}{R'})^{-E} \times (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{R'})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|x|}{R})^E (1 + \frac{|x_2|}{R})^E dy.$$

A change of variables in y and rescaling x shows it suffices to bound

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (1+|x-\frac{R'}{R}y|)^{-E} (1+|y|)^{-E} (1+|x|)^E \times (1+|x_2-\frac{R'}{R}y_2|)^{-E} (1+|y_2|)^{-E} (1+|x_2|)^E \, dy.$$
(2.8)

By the triangle inequality,

$$(1+|x_2-\frac{R'}{R}y_2|)^{-E}(1+|y_2|)^{-E}(1+|x_2|)^E \le \left(\frac{1+(R'/R)|y_2|}{1+|y_2|}\right)^E \le 1.$$

The upper bound for (2.8) then reduces to finding an upper bound for (2.6).

To prove the analogue of (2.5) for $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$, it suffices to give a lower bound for

$$\frac{1}{R^2} \int_{B(0,R)} \left(1 + \frac{|x-y|}{R}\right)^{-E} \left(1 + \frac{|x_2-y_2|}{R}\right)^{-E} \left(1 + \frac{|x|}{R}\right)^{E} \left(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{R}\right)^{E} dy$$

which depends only on E. Once again, a change of variables in y and a rescaling in x show that it suffices to give a lower bound for

$$\int_{B(0,1)} (1+|x-y|)^{-E} (1+|x|)^{E} (1+|x_{2}-y_{2}|)^{-E} (1+|x_{2}|)^{E} dy.$$
(2.9)

Since $y \in B(0, 1)$, the triangle inequality gives

$$\frac{1+|x_2|}{1+|x_2-y_2|} \ge \frac{1+|x_2|}{3/2+|x_2|} \ge \frac{2}{3}$$

Therefore (2.9) is bounded below by

$$(2/3)^E \int_{B(0,1)} \left(\frac{1+|x|}{1+|x-y|}\right)^E dy \ge (2/3)^E \left(\frac{1+|x|}{2+|x|}\right)^E \ge 3^{-E}.$$

This then proves the analogue of (2.5) for $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.1.

Remark 2.2.2. As a corollary of Lemma 2.2.1 and the observation that $1_B \leq_E w_{B,E}$, we have $w_{B(0,R),E} * w_{B(0,R),E} \sim_E R^2 w_{B(0,R),E}$. This is also true for $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$.

Remark 2.2.3. Let I = [-R/2, R/2] and I' = [-R'/2, R'/2] with $0 < R' \leq R$. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$, let $w_{I,E}(x) := (1 + \frac{|x|}{R})^{-E}$ and similarly define $w_{I',E}$. The same proof as (2.4) gives that

$$w_{I,E} * w_{I',E} \leqslant 4^E R' w_{I,E}$$

This estimate will be used extensively in the proof of Lemma 2.3.17.

Lemma 2.2.1 has an immediate corollary which serves as the continuous analogue of the localization lemma given in Lemma 4.1 of [BD17]. This will allow us to upgrade from unweighted to weighted estimates, see later in Proposition 2.2.11. The inequality below is from the proof of Theorem 5.1 in [BD17].

Corollary 2.2.4. For $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $E \geq 10$,

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w_{B(0,R),E})}^{p} \leq 3^{E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|f\|_{L^{p}_{\#}(B(y,R))}^{p} w_{B(0,R),E}(y) \, dy.$$

This corollary is also true with $w_{B(0,R),E}$ replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,R),E}$.

Proof. Lemma 2.2.1 implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|f\|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,R))}^p w_{B(0,R),E}(y) \, dy = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f(x)|^p \left(\frac{1}{R^2} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,R)} * w_{B(0,R),E}\right)(x) \, dx$$
$$\geqslant 3^{-E} \|f\|_{L^p(w_{B(0,R),E})}^p$$

which completes the proof of Corollary 2.2.4.

We close this section by proving two lemmas about the interaction between \tilde{w}_B and rotations which will be used in the proof of Theorem 2.6.1.

Lemma 2.2.5. Let $c_J \in [\delta/2, 1 - \delta/2]$,

$$R_J = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+4c_J^2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -2|c_J| \\ 2|c_J| & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and θ_J be such that $\cos \theta_J = 1/\sqrt{1+4c_J^2}$ and $\sin \theta_J = 2|c_J|/\sqrt{1+4c_J^2}$. Suppose $|a| \leq 2\delta^{-1}$, then

$$\widetilde{w}_{B(R_J(a,0)^T,\delta^{-1})}(s) \leqslant 16^E \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1})}(s).$$

Proof. We want to give an upper bound for

$$\left(\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s|}{\delta^{-1} + |s - (\cos\theta_J, \sin\theta_J)a|}\right)^E \left(\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s_2|}{\delta^{-1} + |s_2 - (\sin\theta_J)a|}\right)^E$$
(2.10)

that only depends on E. We first consider the first expression in (2.10). If $|s| < 3\delta^{-1}$, then

$$\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s|}{\delta^{-1} + |s - (\cos \theta_J, \sin \theta_J)a|} \leq 4$$

If $|s| \ge 3\delta^{-1}$, then

$$\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s|}{\delta^{-1} + |s - (\cos\theta_J, \sin\theta_J)a|} = \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{|s|} + 1\right)\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{|s|} + \frac{|s - (\cos\theta_J, \sin\theta_J)a|}{|s|}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (2.11)

Since $|s| \ge 3\delta^{-1}$ and $|a| \le 2\delta^{-1}$,

$$\frac{|s - (\cos \theta_J, \sin \theta_J)a|}{|s|} \ge 1 - \frac{|a|}{|s|} \ge \frac{1}{3}.$$

Therefore (2.11) is ≤ 4 and so the first expression in (2.10) is $\leq 4^{E}$. We next consider the second expression in (2.10). The proof is almost exactly the same. If $|s_2| \leq 3\delta^{-1}$,

$$\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s_2|}{\delta^{-1} + |s_2 - (\sin \theta_J)a|} \leqslant 4.$$

For $|s_2| > 3\delta^{-1}$,

$$\frac{\delta^{-1} + |s_2|}{\delta^{-1} + |s_2 - (\sin\theta_J)a|} = \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{|s_2|} + 1\right)\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{|s_2|} + \frac{|s_2 - (\sin\theta_J)a|}{|s_2|}\right)^{-1}.$$
 (2.12)

Since $|s_2| > 3\delta^{-1}$ and $|a| \leq 2\delta^{-1}$,

$$\frac{|s_2 - (\sin \theta_J)a|}{|s_2|} \ge 1 - \frac{|a|}{|s_2|} \ge \frac{1}{3}.$$

Therefore (2.12) is ≤ 4 and so the second expression in (2.10) is $\leq 4^{E}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.5.

Lemma 2.2.6. Let R_J be as in Lemma 2.2.5. Then

$$\left(1 + \frac{|(R_J^{-1}x)_1|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-2E} \left(1 + \frac{|(R_J^{-1}x)_2|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-2E} \leqslant \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}.$$
(2.13)

Proof. Since $(1 + \delta |x|) \leq (1 + \delta |x_1|)(1 + \delta |x_2|)$, the left hand side of (2.13) is

$$\leq (1 + \frac{|R_J^{-1}x|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-2E} = (1 + \frac{|x|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-2E} \leq \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}$$

where the equality is because R_J is a rotation. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.6.

2.2.2 Explicit Schwartz functions

In addition to our polynomial decaying weights w_B and \tilde{w}_B , we will also need to construct an explicit Schwartz function weight. More specifically, in Corollary 2.2.9, we construct a nonnegative η in \mathbb{R}^2 such that $1_{B(0,1)}(x) \leq \eta(x)$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\hat{\eta}) \subset B(0,1)$. Such an η will be used in the proof of reverse Hölder (Lemma 2.2.20), l^2L^2 decoupling (Lemma 2.2.21), and will also allow us to reset the "*E* parameter" when we prove the equivalence of local decoupling constants in Section 2.3 (in particular, Lemma 2.3.8 and Proposition 2.3.11).

We also construct an explicit smoothed indicator function which is equal to 1 on [-1, 1]and vanishes outside [-3, 3]. This will be used in the proof of ball inflation (Theorem 2.6.1) and the equivalence of local decoupling constants (Lemma 2.3.10).

Existence of such Schwartz functions is easy to justify, however our goal is to obtain explicit bounds and so not only will we need to construct such functions but also need to construct them in such a way as to make it easy to compute with. Both Schwartz functions rely on the following lemma which is a small modification of Theorem 1.3.5 of [Hor90].

Lemma 2.2.7. Let $a_0 \ge a_1 \ge \cdots$ be a positive sequence such that $a := \sum_{i\ge 0} a_i < \infty$. For $i \ge 0$, let

$$H_i(x) := \frac{1}{a_i} \mathbb{1}_{[-a_i/2, a_i/2]}(x)$$

and let

$$u_k(x) := (H_0 * \cdots * H_k)(x).$$

Then for $k \ge 2$, $u_k \in C_c^{k-1}(\mathbb{R})$ is supported in [-a/2, a/2] and converges (uniformly) to a function $u \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ as $k \to \infty$ which is also supported in [-a/2, a/2]. Furthermore,

$$|u^{(j)}(x)| \leq \frac{2^j}{a_0 a_1 \cdots a_j}$$

for $j \ge 0$ and

$$\widehat{u}(\xi) = \prod_{i=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{sinc}(a_i \xi)$$

where $\operatorname{sinc}(x) = (\sin \pi x)/(\pi x)$.

Proof. The proof is the same as that in Theorem 1.3.5 of [Hor90] except in this case we have

$$u_k^{(j)} = \left[\prod_{i=0}^{j-1} \frac{1}{a_i} (\tau_{-a_i/2} - \tau_{a_i/2})\right] (H_j * \dots * H_k)$$

for $j \leq k-1$ where $(\tau_a f)(x) = f(x-a)$ and the product is a composition of operators.

For the claim about \hat{u} , note that $\widehat{H}_i(\xi) = \operatorname{sinc}(a_i\xi)$ which implies $\widehat{u}_k(\xi) = \prod_{i=0}^k \operatorname{sinc}(a_i\xi)$. Since $u_k \to u$ uniformly as $k \to \infty$ and since u_k and u are both supported on [-a/2, a/2], $\widehat{u}_k \to \widehat{u}$ uniformly as $k \to \infty$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.7.

We use Lemma 2.2.7 to construct a function ψ on \mathbb{R} such that $\psi \ge 1_{[-1/2,1/2]}$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset [-1/2, 1/2].$

Lemma 2.2.8. For $x \in \mathbb{R}$, let

$$\psi(x) := 4(\operatorname{sinc}(\frac{x}{6}) \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{sinc}(\frac{x}{6i^2}))^2.$$

Then $\psi \ge 1_{[-1/2,1/2]}$, $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\psi}) \subset [-1/2,1/2]$, and for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $E \ge 100$,

$$|\psi(x)| \le \frac{E^{6E}}{(1+|x|)^{2E}}.$$

Proof. Let u be as in Lemma 2.2.7 with $a_0 = 1$ and $a_i = 1/i^2$. Then

$$\hat{u}(x) = \operatorname{sinc}(x) \prod_{i=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{sinc}(x/i^2)$$

and u is supported in $\left[-3/2, 3/2\right]$.

Observe that $\psi(x) = F(x)^2$ with $F(x) = 2\hat{u}(x/6)$. Since F is even, for $x \in [-1/2, 1/2]$, $F(x) \ge F(1/2) \ge 1$. As $\psi \ge 0$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, $\psi \ge 1_{[-1/2, 1/2]}$. From the support of u, the Fourier transform of F is supported in [-1/4, 1/4]. Since $\hat{\psi} = \hat{F} * \hat{F}$, $\hat{\psi}$ is supported in [-1/2, 1/2].

By the construction of u,

$$|u^{(j)}(x)| \leq 2^j \prod_{k=0}^j a_k^{-1} = 2^j \prod_{k=1}^j k^2 \leq 2^j j^{2j}.$$

The support of u and integration by parts gives that for any $j \ge 0$ and $x \ne 0$,

$$|\widehat{u}(x)| \leq \frac{1}{(2\pi|x|)^j} \|u^{(j)}\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R})} \leq \frac{3j^{2j}}{\pi^j |x|^j}.$$

Applying the above bound to j = E shows that for $x \neq 0$, $|\hat{u}(x)| \leq E^{2E}|x|^{-E}$. Then for $|x| \geq 1$,

$$|\psi(x)| = 4|\hat{u}(x/6)|^2 \le E^{5E}|x|^{-2E}$$

Thus if $|x| \ge 1$, $(1 + |x|)^{2E} |\psi(x)| \le E^{6E}$. If $|x| \le 1$, then explicit computation gives that $(1 + |x|)^{2E} |\psi(x)| \le 4^{E+1}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.8.

Since $B(0,1) = [-1/2, 1/2]^2$ and $(1+|x|)(1+|x_2|) \leq (1+|x_1|)(1+|x_2|)^2$, we immediately have the following corollary.

Corollary 2.2.9. Let ψ be as in Lemma 2.2.8. For $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$, let

$$\eta(x) = \psi(x_1)\psi(x_2).$$

Then $\eta \ge 1_{B(0,1)}$, $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\eta}) \subset B(0,1)$, and for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $E \ge 100$,

$$|\eta(x)| \leq \frac{E^{12E}}{(1+|x_1|)^{2E}(1+|x_2|)^{2E}}.$$

For $B = B(c_B, R)$, define

$$\eta_B(x) := \eta(\frac{x - c_B}{R}).$$

Then for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and arbitrary $E \ge 100$,

$$\eta_B(x) \leqslant E^{12E} \widetilde{w}_{B,E}(x) \leqslant E^{12E} w_{B,E}(x).$$

We now construct our smoothed indicator function and estimate the size of the Fourier transform of its moments.

Lemma 2.2.10. Let u be as in Lemma 2.2.7 with $a_0 := 1/3$ and $a_i := 1/(3i^2)$. Then

$$\Psi(x) := (u * 1_{[-2,2]})(x)$$

is a $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ function which is equal to 1 on [-1, 1] and vanishes outside [-3, 3]. For $k \ge 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$, and $E \ge 100$ we have

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} t^{k} \Psi(t) e^{2\pi i t x} dt\right| \leq \frac{6^{k} E^{5E}}{(1+|x|)^{2E}}.$$
(2.14)

Proof. From Lemma 2.2.7, u is supported in [-1,1]. Since $u \ge 0$, $||u||_{L^1} = \hat{u}(0) = 1$. Then

$$\Psi(x) = \int_{[x-2,x+2] \cap [-1,1]} u(s) \, ds = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } x \in [-1,1] \\ 0 & \text{if } x \notin [-3,3]. \end{cases}$$

To prove (2.14), we first prove that for $k \ge 0$,

$$\left|\partial^{2E}(x^{k}\Psi(x))\right| \leqslant 6^{2E+k}E^{4E} \tag{2.15}$$

where $\partial^E = d^E/dx^E$. From Lemma 2.2.7, for $j \ge 0$, $|u^{(j)}(x)| \le 3(2^j) \prod_{i=1}^j 3i^2 = 3(6^j)(j!)^2$. Thus for $j \ge 0$,

$$|\Psi^{(j)}(x)| = |(u^{(j)} * 1_{[-2,2]})(x)| \le 12(6^j)(j!)^2.$$

First suppose $2E \leq k$. Then since Ψ is supported on [-3, 3],

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial^{2E}(x^{k}\Psi(x))| &= |\sum_{j=0}^{2E} \binom{2E}{j} \partial^{j}(x^{k})\Psi^{(2E-j)}(x)| \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j=0}^{2E} \binom{2E}{j} \frac{k!}{(k-j)!} 3^{k-j} 12(6^{2E-j})(2E-j)!^{2} \\ &\leqslant 12(6^{2E}3^{k})(2E!)^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{2E} \binom{k}{j} \leqslant 12(6^{2E+k})(2E!)^{2} \end{aligned}$$

Next suppose k < 2E. Then similarly,

$$\left|\partial^{2E}(x^{k}\Psi(x))\right| \leq \sum_{j=0}^{k} \binom{2E}{j} \frac{k!}{(k-j)!} 3^{k-j} 12(6^{2E-j})(2E-j)!^{2} \leq 12(6^{2E+k})(2E!)^{2}.$$

Since $E \ge 100$, $12(2E!)^2 \le E^{4E}$, and so when combined with the above implies

$$\left|\partial^{2E}(x^k\Psi(x))\right| \leqslant 6^{2E+k}E^{4E}$$

which proves (2.15).

We now prove (2.14). Integration by parts and (2.15) give that for $x \neq 0$,

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} t^{k} \Psi(t) e^{2\pi i t x} dt\right| \leq \frac{6}{(2\pi |x|)^{2E}} \|\partial^{2E}(t^{k} \Psi(t))\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \frac{6^{k} E^{4E}}{|x|^{2E}}.$$

Thus for $|x| \ge 1$,

$$(1+|x|)^{2E} |\int_{\mathbb{R}} t^k \Psi(t) e^{2\pi i t x} dt| \leq 2^{2E} 6^k E^{4E} \leq 6^k E^{5E}.$$

Observe that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} |t^k \Psi(t)| \, dt \leqslant 3^k \|\Psi\|_{L^1} = 4(3^k)$$

where the last equality we have used that $u \ge 0$ and $||u||_{L^1} = 1$. Then for |x| < 1,

$$(1+|x|)^{2E} |\int_{\mathbb{R}} t^k \Psi(t) e^{2\pi i t x} dt| \leq 4^{E+1} 3^k.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.10.

2.2.3 Immediate applications

Corollary 2.2.4 allows us to upgrade from estimates in $L^p(B)$ and $L^p(\eta_B)$ to estimates in $L^p(w_B)$ and $L^p(\tilde{w}_B)$. We have the following proposition which contains all three different scenarios we will need to upgrade from an unweighted estimate to a weighted estimate.

Proposition 2.2.11. Let $I \subset [0,1]$ and \mathcal{P} be a disjoint partition of I.

(a) Suppose for some $2 \leq p < \infty$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq C(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R. Then for each $E \ge 10$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})} \leq 12^{E/p} C (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(2.16)

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R.

(b) Suppose we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{2}(B)} \leq C(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\eta_{B}^{2})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R. Then for each $E \ge 100$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{2}(w_{B,E})} \leq 12^{E/2} E^{12E} C (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(2.17)

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R.

(c) Suppose for some $1 \leq p < q < \infty$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^q_{\#}(B)} \leqslant C \|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\eta^p_B)}$$

for all $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R. Then for each $E \ge 100$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{q}_{\#}(w_{B,E})} \leq 12^{E/q} E^{12E} C \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}_{\#}(w_{B,Ep/q})}$$
(2.18)

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R.

The same results are also true with $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$.

Proof. We first prove (a). Since for $a \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x+a) = (\mathcal{E}_J h)(x)$ where $h(\xi) = g(\xi)e(a_1\xi + a_2\xi^2)$, a change of variables shows that it suffices to prove (2.16) in the case when B is centered at the origin. Corollary 2.2.4 implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{p} &\leqslant 3^{E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}_{\#}(B(y,R))}^{p} w_{B,E}(y) \, dy \\ &\leqslant 3^{E} R^{-2} C^{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B(y,R),E})}^{2})^{p/2} w_{B,E}(y) \, dy \\ &= 3^{E} R^{-2} C^{p} \|\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B(y,R),E})} \|_{L^{p}_{y}(w_{B,E})l_{J}^{2}}^{p}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $p \ge 2$, we can interchange the $L_y^p(w_{B,E})$ and l_J^2 norms and the above is

$$\leq 3^{E} R^{-2} C^{p} \| \| \mathcal{E}_{J} g \|_{L^{p}(w_{B(y,R),E})} \|_{l_{J}^{2} L^{p}_{y}(w_{B,E})}^{p} \\ = 3^{E} R^{-2} C^{p} \bigg(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \| \mathcal{E}_{J} g \|_{L^{p}(w_{B(y,R),E})}^{p} w_{B,E}(y) \, dy \right)^{2/p} \bigg)^{p/2}.$$

$$(2.19)$$

Since B is assumed to be centered at the origin,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B(y,R),E})}^p w_{B,E}(y) \, dy = \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E} * w_{B,E})}^p \leqslant 4^E R^2 \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^p$$

where the inequality is an application of Lemma 2.2.1. Inserting this into (2.19) gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{p} \leq 12^{E}C^{p}(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{P}}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{p/2}.$$

Taking 1/p powers of both sides completes the proof of (2.16).

We next prove (b). Once again it suffices to prove (2.17) in the case when B is centered at the origin. Corollary 2.2.4 implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{2}(w_{B})}^{2} &\leqslant 3^{E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(B(y,R))}^{2} w_{B}(y) \, dy \\ &= 3^{E}R^{-2}C^{2} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\eta^{2}_{B(y,R)})}^{2} w_{B}(y) \, dy \\ &= 3^{E}R^{-2}C^{2} \sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\eta^{2}_{B}*w_{B})}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.20)$$

By Corollary 2.2.9 and Lemma 2.2.1,

$$\eta_B^2 * w_B \leqslant E^{24E} w_{B,2E} * w_{B,E} \leqslant E^{24E} 4^E R^2 w_{B,E}$$

and hence (2.20) is

$$\leq E^{24E} 12^E C^2 \sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^2(w_B)}^2.$$

Taking 1/2 powers of both sides completes the proof of (2.17).

We finally prove (c). Again it suffices to prove (2.18) in the case when B is centered at the origin. Corollary 2.2.4 implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{q}(w_{B,E})}^{q} &\leqslant 3^{E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{q}_{\#}(B(y,R))}^{q} w_{B,E}(y) \, dy \\ &\leqslant 3^{E} C^{q} R^{-2q/p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(\eta^{p}_{B(y,R)})}^{q} w_{B,E}(y) \, dy \\ &= 3^{E} C^{q} R^{-2q/p} \||\mathcal{E}_{I}g(s)|\eta_{B(y,R)}(s)\|_{L^{q}_{y}(w_{B,E})L^{p}_{s}}^{q}. \end{aligned}$$

Since q > p, we can interchange the norms and the above is

$$\leq 3^{E} C^{q} R^{-2q/p} |||\mathcal{E}_{I}g|\eta_{B(y,R)}||_{L_{s}^{p}L_{y}^{q}(w_{B,E})}^{q} = 3^{E} C^{q} R^{-2q/p} (\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g(s)|^{p} (\eta_{B}^{q} * w_{B,E})(s)^{p/q} ds)^{q/p}$$

$$(2.21)$$

Corollary 2.2.9 and Lemma 2.2.1 give that

$$\eta_B^q * w_{B,E} \leqslant E^{12Eq}(w_{B,Eq} * w_{B,E}) \leqslant E^{12Eq} 4^E R^2 w_{B,E}$$

Inserting this into (2.21) shows that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{q}(w_{B,E})}^{q} \leq 12^{E} E^{12Eq} C^{q} R^{2-2q/p} \|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,Ep/q})}^{q}$$

Changing L^q and L^p into $L^q_{\#}$ and $L^p_{\#}$, respectively, removes the factor of $R^{2-2q/p}$. Taking 1/q powers of both sides then completes the proof of (2.18).

Since the same estimates hold for $\tilde{w}_{B,E}$ in Lemma 2.2.1, Corollary 2.2.4, and Corollary 2.2.9, the above proof also shows that the proposition also holds with every instance of $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\tilde{w}_{B,E}$. This completes the proof of Proposition 2.2.11.

Remark 2.2.12. Note that a change of variables as in the beginning of the proof of Proposition 2.2.11 shows that knowing

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(B(0,R))} \leq C(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B(0,R),E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(2.22)

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ implies that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^p(B)} \leq C (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{P}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

for all $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R. Therefore often to check the hypotheses of Proposition 2.2.11 we will just prove (2.22) instead.

Remark 2.2.13. Corollary 2.2.4 is not the only way to convert unweighted estimates to weighted estimates. Another approach is to prove an unweighted estimate where B is replaced by $2^n B$ for all $n \ge 0$ and then use that $w_{B,E} \sim \sum_{n\ge 0} 2^{-nE} \mathbf{1}_{2^n B}$ to conclude the weighted estimate.

Proposition 2.2.14. Let B be a square of side length R and let \mathcal{B} be a disjoint partition of B into squares Δ with side length R' < R. Then for $E \ge 10$,

$$\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} w_{\Delta,E} \leqslant 48^E w_{B,E}.$$
(2.23)

This inequality remains true with $w_{\Delta,E}$ and $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E}$ and $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$.

Proof. It suffices to prove the case when B is centered at the origin. Since \mathcal{B} is a disjoint partition of B,

$$\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} 1_{\Delta} \leqslant 1_B$$

Therefore

$$\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} 1_{\Delta} * w_{B(0,R'),E} \leqslant 1_B * w_{B(0,R'),E}$$

Lemma 2.2.1 gives that

$$3^{-E}R'^2 \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} w_{\Delta,E} \leqslant \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} 1_\Delta * w_{B(0,R'),E}$$

and

$$1_B * w_{B(0,R'),E} \leq 8^E R'^2 w_{B,E}$$

where here we have also used $1_B \leq 2^E w_{B,E}$. Rearranging then proves (2.23). Since $1_B \leq 4^E \widetilde{w}_{B,E}$, the same proof then proves (2.23) with $w_{\Delta,E}$ and $w_{B,E}$ replaced with $\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E}$ and $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$, respectively. This completes the proof of Proposition 2.2.14.

Remark 2.2.15. The only property we really need in Proposition 2.2.14 is that $\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} 1_{\Delta} \leq C 1_B$ for some absolute constant C. In particular, the same proof will work with finitely overlapping covers and when $R/R' \notin \mathbb{N}$.

We illustrate two lemmas regarding how the weights w_B and \tilde{w}_B and shear matrices interact. Both lemmas are similar to Proposition 2.2.14 except now there is an additional shear matrix. Lemma 2.2.16 is used in the proof of Lemma 2.3.10. This lemma is a warmup to the proof of Lemma 2.2.18. Lemma 2.2.18 is the key lemma for the application of parabolic rescaling in Propositions 2.4.1 and 2.5.2 and is why we have two separate weights w_B and \tilde{w}_B .
Lemma 2.2.16. Let $E \ge 10$ and $S = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & a \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$ where $|a| \le 2$. Then

$$w_{B(0,R),E}(Sx) \leq 90^E w_{B(0,R),E}(x).$$

Proof. Since our weights are centered at the origin, rescaling x, it suffices to prove the case when R = 1. Since $|a| \leq 2$, $S^{-1}B(0,1) \subset B(0,3)$ and so $1_{B(0,1)}(Sx) \leq 1_{B(0,3)}(x)$ for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Therefore

$$1_{B(0,1)}(x) \leq 1_{B(0,3)}(S^{-1}x)$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Convolving both sides by $w_{B(0,1),E}$ and applying Lemma 2.2.1 gives that

$$3^{-E} w_{B(0,1),E} \leq (1_{B(0,3)} \circ S^{-1}) * w_{B(0,1),E}.$$

Thus it remains to prove that

$$(1_{B(0,3)} \circ S^{-1}) * w_{B(0,1),E} \leq 30^E w_{B(0,1),E} \circ S^{-1}.$$

This is the same as showing that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,3)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} \, dy \leq 30^E (1+|S^{-1}x|)^{-E}.$$
(2.24)

If $x \in 2^5 S(B(0,1))$, then $|S^{-1}x| \leq 2^4 \sqrt{2}$ and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} 1_{B(0,3)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} \, dy \leq 1 \leq 24^E (1+|S^{-1}x|)^{-E}$$

which proves (2.24) in this case. Next let $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B(0,1)) \setminus 2^n S(B(0,1))$ for some $n \ge 5$. Then

$$(1 + |S^{-1}x|)^{-E} \ge (1 + \sqrt{2} \cdot 2^n)^{-E} \ge (2 \cdot 2^n)^{-E}.$$

Thus in this case, to prove (2.24) it suffices to show that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,3)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} \, dy \leq 15^E 2^{-nE}.$$
(2.25)

We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,3)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} \, dy = \int_{S(B(0,3))} \frac{1}{(1+|x-y|)^E} \, dy$$
$$= \int_{x-S(B(0,3))} \frac{1}{(1+|y|)^E} \, dy.$$
(2.26)

For $y \in x - S(B(0,3))$, write y = Sa - Sb where $a \in B(0, 2^{n+1}) \setminus B(0, 2^n)$ and $b \in B(0,3)$. Since $||S^{-1}|| \leq 2||S^{-1}||_{\max} \leq 4$,

$$|y| = |S(a-b)| \ge ||S^{-1}||^{-1}|a-b| \ge \frac{1}{4}(2^{n-1} - \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{2}) \ge \frac{1}{10}2^n.$$

Therefore the right hand side of (2.26) is bounded above by $9(10^E)2^{-nE}$ which proves (2.25) and hence (2.24). This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.16.

Remark 2.2.17. The same proof also shows that $w_{B(0,R),E}(S^t x) \leq 90^E w_{B(0,R),E}$ since the only two properties of S we used were $S^{-1}B(0,1) \subset B(0,3)$ and $||S^{-1}|| \leq 4$. These properties are satisfied if we replace S with S^t .

Lemma 2.2.18. For $0 < \delta \leq \sigma < 1$ with $\sigma^{-1/2} \in \mathbb{N}$, let

$$T = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^{1/2} & 2a\sigma^{1/2} \\ 0 & \sigma \end{pmatrix}$$

with $0 \leq a \leq 1 - \sigma^{1/2}$ and $B = B(0, \delta^{-1})$. Then T(B) is contained in a $3\sigma^{1/2}\delta^{-1} \times \sigma\delta^{-1}$ rectangle centered at the origin. Let \mathcal{B} denote the partition of this rectangle into $3\sigma^{-1/2}$ many squares with side length $\sigma\delta^{-1}$. Then for $E \geq 100$,

$$\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E} \leqslant 720^E w_{B,E} \circ T^{-1}.$$
(2.27)

Proof. The proof is similar to what we did in Proposition 2.2.14 and Lemma 2.2.16. Since B is axis-parallel and centered at the origin, T(B) is a parallelogram centered at the origin with a base parallel to the x-axis and height $\sigma\delta^{-1}$. The corners of B are given by $(\pm\delta^{-1}/2, \pm\delta^{-1}/2)$ and hence the corners of T(B) are given by

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1/2}(1+2a)\delta^{-1},\frac{1}{2}\sigma\delta^{-1}) & (-\frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1/2}(1+2a)\delta^{-1},-\frac{1}{2}\sigma\delta^{-1}) \\ (\frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1/2}(1-2a)\delta^{-1},-\frac{1}{2}\sigma\delta^{-1}) & (-\frac{1}{2}\sigma^{1/2}(1-2a)\delta^{-1},\frac{1}{2}\sigma\delta^{-1}). \end{array}$$

Then T(B) is contained in a $3\sigma^{1/2}\delta^{-1} \times \sigma\delta^{-1}$ rectangle centered at the origin.

Note that $T(B) \subset \bigcup_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \Delta \subset 10T(B)$ (we actually have $\bigcup_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \Delta \subset (3+2a)T(B)$, but this is not needed) and so

$$\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} 1_{B(c_{\Delta}, \sigma \delta^{-1})} \leq 1_{B(0, 10\delta^{-1})} \circ T^{-1}.$$

Convolution with $\widetilde{w}_{B(0,\sigma\delta^{-1}),E}$ gives that

$$(\sigma\delta^{-1})^2 \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E} \leqslant 3^E (1_{B(0,10\delta^{-1})} \circ T^{-1}) * \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\sigma\delta^{-1}),E}.$$

Thus it suffices to show that

$$(\sigma\delta^{-1})^{-2}(1_{B(0,10\delta^{-1})}\circ T^{-1})*\widetilde{w}_{B(0,\sigma\delta^{-1}),E} \leq 240^E w_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}\circ T^{-1}.$$

That is,

$$(\sigma\delta^{-1})^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathbf{1}_{B(0,10\delta^{-1})} (T^{-1}y) (1 + \frac{|x-y|}{\sigma\delta^{-1}})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|x_2-y_2|}{\sigma\delta^{-1}})^{-E} dy$$
$$\leq 240^E (1 + \frac{|T^{-1}x|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E}.$$

Rescaling x and y (by setting $X = x/(\sigma\delta^{-1})$ and $Y = y/(\sigma\delta^{-1})$) shows it suffices to prove that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} 1_{B(0,10)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} (1+|x_2-y_2|)^{-E} dy \leq 240^E (1+|S^{-1}x|)^{-E}$$
(2.28)

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ where $S = \sigma^{-1}T = \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^{-1/2} & 2a\sigma^{-1/2} \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$. Suppose $x \in 2^6S(B)$. Then $|S^{-1}x| \leq 32\sqrt{2}$ and so

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} 1_{B(0,10)} (S^{-1}y) (1+|x-y|)^{-E} (1+|x_2-y_2|)^{-E} \, dy \le 1 \le 50^E (1+|S^{-1}x|)^{-E}.$$

It then remains to prove (2.28) for $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B) \setminus 2^n S(B)$ for all $n \ge 6$.

Fix an $n \ge 6$. For $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B) \setminus 2^n S(B)$, $|S^{-1}x| \le 2^{n+1/2}$ and so $(2^{n+1})^{-E} \le (1 + |S^{-1}x|)^{-E}$. Therefore to prove (2.28) it is enough to prove

$$\int_{10S(B(0,1))} \frac{1}{|x-y|^E (1+|x_2-y_2|)^E} \, dy \le 120^E 2^{-nE}$$

for all $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B) \setminus 2^n S(B)$. A change of variables shows that we need to prove

$$\int_{x-10S(B(0,1))} \frac{1}{|y|^E (1+|y_2|)^E} \, dy \le 120^E 2^{-nE} \tag{2.29}$$

for all $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B(0,1)) \setminus 2^n S(B(0,1))$.

Fix an $x \in 2^{n+1}S(B(0,1)) \setminus 2^n S(B(0,1))$. First suppose $|x_2| \ge 2^{2n/E}$. If $y \in x - 10S(B(0,1))$, then y = Sa - Sb for some $a \in B(0, 2^{n+1}) \setminus B(0, 2^n)$ and $b \in B(0, 10)$. Since $||S^{-1}|| \le 2||S^{-1}||_{\max} \le 4$, we first have

$$|y| = |S(a-b)| \ge ||S^{-1}||^{-1}|a-b| \ge \frac{1}{4}|a-b| \ge \frac{1}{4}(2^{n-1} - 5\sqrt{2}) \ge \frac{1}{20}2^n.$$

Next, $y_2 = x_2 - (Sb)_2 = x_2 - b_2$ and $b_2 \in [-5, 5]$ and so

$$\frac{1+|x_2|}{1+|y_2|} = \frac{1+|x_2|}{1+|x_2-b_2|} \le 1+|b_2| \le 6.$$

Therefore

$$\int_{x-10S(B(0,1))} \frac{1}{|y|^E (1+|y_2|)^E} \, dy \leq \left(\frac{6}{1+|x_2|}\right)^E \int_{|y| \ge 2^n/20} \frac{1}{|y|^E} \, dy \leq 120^E \frac{2^{2n}}{(1+|x_2|)^E} 2^{-nE}$$

and since $|x_2| \ge 2^{2n/E}$, we have proven (2.29) in this case.

Next, suppose $|x_2| < 2^{2n/E}$. In this case, we claim that $y \in x - 10S(B(0,1))$ satisfies $|y| \gtrsim 2^n \sigma^{-1/2}$ and so we can bound the integral trivially. By assumption, $|(S^{-1}x)_2| = |x_2| < 2^{2n/E}$. Since $S^{-1}x \in 2^{n+1}B(0,1) \setminus 2^n B(0,1)$, $|S^{-1}x| \ge 2^{n-1}$. Thus

$$|(S^{-1}x)_1| \ge 2^{n-1} - 2^{2n/E}.$$

Since $(S^{-1}x)_1 = \sigma^{1/2}x_1 - 2ax_2$, it follows that

$$|x_1| \ge \sigma^{-1/2} (2^{n-1} - 3 \cdot 2^{2n/E})$$

As in the previous paragraph, write y = x - Sb for some $b \in B(0, 10)$. Then

$$|y| \ge |y_1| = |x_1| - \sigma^{-1/2} |b_1 + 2ab_2| \ge \sigma^{-1/2} (2^{n-1} - 3 \cdot 2^{2n/E} - 15) \ge \frac{1}{5} \sigma^{-1/2} 2^n$$

where the last inequality we have used that $n \ge 6$ and $E \ge 100$. Thus in the case when $|x_2| < 2^{2n/E}$,

$$\int_{x-10S(B(0,1))} \frac{1}{|y|^E (1+|y_2|)^E} \, dy \le (100\sigma^{-1/2}) 5^E \sigma^{E/2} 2^{-nE} \le 6^E 2^{-nE}$$

which proves (2.29) in this case. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.18.

29

Remark 2.2.19. The $\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E}$ on the left hand side of (2.27) was needed to make sure the E on both sides stays the same which is needed when we iterate later (for example in Lemma 2.5.2). If the $\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E}$ is replaced with $w_{\Delta,E}$, then by the same method as the proof above, one can obtain $\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} w_{\Delta,E} \leq_E w_{B,E-2} \circ T^{-1}$. In this case, some loss in E must occur since we can consider the analogue of (2.28) and (2.29) and let a = 0 and $x = (0, 2^{n-1})$.

2.2.4 Bernstein's inequality

Another immediate application of Proposition 2.2.11 is Bernstein's inequality (also called reverse Hölder in [BD17]). This should be compared with (2.3) at the beginning of Section 2.2. Our proof of Lemma 2.2.20 is the same as that of Corollary 4.3 of [BD17] except we make effective all the implicit constants.

Lemma 2.2.20. Let $1 \leq p < q \leq \infty$, $E \geq 100$, $J \subset [0,1]$ with $\ell(J) = 1/R$ and $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ a square with side length $R \geq 1$. If $q < \infty$, then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^q_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})} \leqslant E^{23E} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,Ep/q})}.$$
(2.30)

If $q = \infty$, then

$$\sup_{x \in B} |(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x)| \leqslant E^{23E} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}.$$
(2.31)

Proof. Let η be as in Corollary 2.2.9. Since $\eta_B \ge 1_B$,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^q(B)} \leqslant \|\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^2)}.$$

Let $\theta(x) = \Psi(2x_1)\Psi(2x_2)$ where Ψ is defined as in Lemma 2.2.10. Then $\theta = 1$ on B(0, 1)and vanishes outside B(0,3). Since $\widehat{\eta_B}$ is supported on B(0, 1/R), the Fourier transform of $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g$ is supported in some square S with side length 10/R. Then we have the following self-replicating formula

$$\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g = (\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g) * \check{\theta_S}.$$

Young's inequality then gives

$$\|\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^2)} \leq \|\eta_B \mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^2)} \|\check{\theta}_S\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)} = \|\check{\theta}_S\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(\eta_B^p)}$$

where 1/q = 1/p + 1/r - 1 (since q > p, we have r > 1 and $\check{\theta}_S \in L^r$). Since $\check{\theta}(\xi) = (1/4)\check{\Psi}(\xi_1/2)\check{\Psi}(\xi_2/2), \|\check{\theta}\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)} = 4^{1/r-1} \|\check{\Psi}\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R})}^2$, applying Lemma 2.2.10 gives that

$$\|\check{\theta}_S\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)} = (10/R)^{2-2/r} \|\check{\theta}\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^2)} = 25^{1/r'} R^{-2/r'} \|\check{\Psi}\|_{L^r(\mathbb{R})}^2 \le 25^{1/r'} R^{-2/r'} E^{10E}$$

Therefore

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{q}(B)} \leq 25^{1/r'} E^{10E} R^{-2/r'} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(\eta_{B}^{p})}$$
(2.32)

for all squares $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with side length R. If $q < \infty$, applying Proposition 2.2.11 and then using that $q > p \ge 1$ and $E \ge 100$ proves (2.30).

If $q = \infty$, then (2.32) and Corollary 2.2.9 implies that

$$\sup_{x \in B} |(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x)| \leq 25^{1/p} E^{22E} R^{-2/p} ||\mathcal{E}_J g||_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}$$

Since $E \ge 100$, (2.31) then follows. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.20.

2.2.5 l^2L^2 decoupling

We now prove l^2L^2 decoupling which will follow from almost orthogonality. This proof is the same as that of Proposition 6.1 of [BD17] except we once again make explicit all implicit constants.

Lemma 2.2.21. Let $J \subset [0,1]$ be an interval of length $\geq 1/R$ such that $|J|R \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for $E \geq 100$ and each square $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with side length R,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2} \leqslant E^{13E} \sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2}.$$

Proof. Let η be as in Corollary 2.2.9. Since $\eta_B^2 \ge 1_B$,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(B)}^{2} \leqslant \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\eta_{B}^{2})}^{2} = \|\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{2} = \|\sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{2}.$$

Note that the Fourier transform of $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{J'}g$ is supported in the 1/R-neighborhood of the piece of parabola above J'. Therefore $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{J'}g$ and $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{J''}g$ have disjoint Fourier support if J' and J'' are separated by ≥ 2 intervals. Applying this and Plancherel gives

$$\begin{split} \| \sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leqslant \sum_{J'_{1} \in P_{1/R}(J)} \sum_{\substack{J'_{2} \in P_{1/R}(J) \\ d(c_{J'_{1}}, c_{J'_{2}}) \leqslant 2/R}} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{1}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{2}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leqslant (\sum_{J'_{1} \in P_{1/R}(J)} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{1}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2})^{1/2} (\sum_{J'_{1} \in P_{1/R}(J)} (\sum_{\substack{J'_{2} \in P_{1/R}(J) \\ d(c_{J'_{1}}, c_{J'_{2}}) \leqslant 2/R}} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{2}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2})^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant \sqrt{5} (\sum_{J'_{1} \in P_{1/R}(J)} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{1}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2})^{1/2} (\sum_{\substack{J'_{1} \in P_{1/R}(J) \\ d(c_{J'_{1}}, c_{J'_{2}}) \leqslant 2/R}} \| \eta_{B} \mathcal{E}_{J'_{2}} g \|_{L^{2}}^{2})^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant 5 \sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^{2}(\eta_{B}^{2})}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Thus we have shown that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^2(B)} \leqslant \sqrt{5} (\sum_{J' \in P_{1/R}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^2(\eta_B^2)}^2)^{1/2}$$

for all squares $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ with side length R. Applying Proposition 2.2.11 then completes the proof of Lemma 2.2.21.

Remark 2.2.22. To modify the weights w_B and \tilde{w}_B , the main properties the weights need to satisfy are Lemma 2.2.1 and Lemma 2.2.18. The other lemmas such as Lemmas 2.2.5, 2.2.6, and 2.2.16 are also desired, but these should be easy to satisfy.

2.3 Equivalence of local decoupling constants

Recall that $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ is defined similarly as $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ except instead of $w_{B,E}$ we use $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$. The main goal of this section is to prove that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \sim_E \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \tag{2.33}$$

for $2 \leq p \leq 6$, $E \geq 100$, and $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$. This is proven in Proposition 2.3.11. This equivalence is a consequence of a larger equivalence of a collection of local decoupling constants. This section is similar to Remark 5.2 of [BD15] and may be of independent interest since it shows that an array of slightly different local decoupling constants are essentially the same size. The restriction $p \leq 6$ is very mild and can be removed with a bit more care (at the cost of introducing an implied constant that depends on p). However since $2 \leq p \leq 6$ is precisely the range we need, we restrict to this range. The appearance of the weight \tilde{w}_B in parabolic rescaling (arising from Lemma 2.2.18) means that (2.33) will play an essential part of the argument (for example in Proposition 2.4.1, Lemma 2.5.2, and Lemma 2.8.11).

Let f_R denote the Fourier restriction of f to R. For each $J = [n_J \delta^{1/2}, (n_J + 1) \delta^{1/2}] \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])$, let

$$\theta_J := \{ (s, L_J(s) + t) : n_J \delta^{1/2} \leqslant s \leqslant (n_J + 1) \delta^{1/2}, -5\delta \leqslant t \leqslant 5\delta \}$$

where

$$L_J(s) := (2n_J + 1)\delta^{1/2}s - n_J(n_J + 1)\delta^{1/2}s$$

and $0 \leq n_J \leq \delta^{-1/2} - 1$. Here θ_J is a parallelogram that has height 10δ and has base parallel to the straight line connecting $(n_J \delta^{1/2}, n_J^2 \delta)$ and $((n_J + 1)\delta^{1/2}, (n_J + 1)^2 \delta)$. We note that for $\xi \in \theta_J$,

$$|\xi_2 - L_J(\xi_1)| \leqslant 5\delta \tag{2.34}$$

and

$$|L_J(\xi_1) - \xi_1^2| \le \delta/4. \tag{2.35}$$

Boundedness of the Hilbert transform implies that Fourier restriction to θ_J is a bounded operator from $L^p \to L^p$ with operator norm bounded independent of J, we make this explicit with the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3.1. For each $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])$ and $2 \leq p < \infty$, $||f_{\theta_J}||_p \leq C_p ||f||_p$ with $C_p := (\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\cot(\frac{\pi}{2p}))^4$.

Proof. Fix $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])$. Let R denote the operator defined by $\widehat{Rf} = \widehat{f}1_{\theta_J}$. Let S denote the operator defined by $\widehat{Sf} = \widehat{f}1_{[0,\infty)}$. Each θ_J is the intersection of four half planes in \mathbb{R}^2 .

Since multiplier norms are unchanged after rotation and translation,

$$||R||_{p \to p} \le ||S||_{p \to p}^4.$$
 (2.36)

Note that here we have also used that the operator norm of Fourier restriction to a half plane is bounded above by $||S||_{p\to p}$ which follows from Fubini's Theorem. If H denotes the Hilbert transform, observe that $\hat{f}(\xi) + i\widehat{Hf}(\xi) = 2\hat{f}(\xi)1_{[0,\infty)}(\xi)$ almost everywhere. Since $2 \leq p < \infty$, $||H||_{p\to p} \leq \cot(\frac{\pi}{2p})$. Therefore

$$||S||_{p \to p} \leq \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\cot(\frac{\pi}{2p}).$$

Inserting this into (2.36) then completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.1.

Remark 2.3.2. One can think of θ_J as a polygonal approximation of the set $\{(s, s^2 + t) : s \in J, |t| \leq \delta\}$. The reason why we use θ_J instead is because Fourier restriction to the aforementioned set is not bounded in L^p for $p \neq 2$.

To prove (2.33), we introduce two more local decoupling constants and show that all four decoupling constants are equivalent.

Definition 2.3.3. Let $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, $2 \leq p < \infty$ and $E \geq 1$. Let η be as in Corollary 2.2.9. Let $\overline{D}_p(\delta)$ be the smallest constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leqslant \overline{D}_{p}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(\eta_{B})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B with side length δ^{-1} . Let $\widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ be the smallest constant such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all f Fourier supported in $\Theta = \bigcup_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \theta_J$ and all squares B with side length δ^{-1} .

From our definitions of w_B , \tilde{w}_B , and η_B , observe that

$$1_B \leqslant 2^E w_{B,E}, \quad 1_B \leqslant 4^E \widetilde{w}_{B,E}, \quad 1_B \leqslant \eta_B.$$

Furthermore, note that by the triangle inequality followed by Cauchy-Schwarz, all four local decoupling constants we have defined are $\leq_{E,p} \delta^{-1/4}$. Taking a specific $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ or a specific f with Fourier support in Θ and using Proposition 2.2.11 shows that $D_{p,E}(\delta)$, $\tilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$, and $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ are $\geq_{E,p} 1$. We make this precise with $\hat{D}_{p,E}$ which is the only decoupling constant we need an explicit lower bound.

Remark 2.3.4. Another consequence of the equivalence of the four local decoupling constants is that $\overline{D}_p(\delta) \gtrsim_{E,p} 1$ but this is not immediate from the definition.

Lemma 2.3.5. For $p \ge 2$ and $E \ge 10$, $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \ge 12^{-E/p}$.

Proof. Let $\widehat{D}'_{p,E}(\delta)$ be the smallest constant such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})} \leq \widehat{D}'_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all f Fourier supported in Θ and all squares B with side length δ^{-1} . Proposition 2.2.11 implies that $\hat{D}'_{p,E}(\delta) \leq 12^{E/p} \hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$. From the definition,

$$\widehat{D}'_{p,E}(\delta) = \sup_{f,B} \frac{\|f\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}}{(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_J}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}}$$
(2.37)

where the sup is taken over the f and B as mentioned at the beginning of this proof. Taking an f with Fourier support on $\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}$ shows that $\hat{D}'_{p,E}(\delta) \ge 1$. Here note that we needed the numerator of the right hand side of (2.37) to be $L^p(w_{B,E})$ rather than $L^p(B)$. Therefore $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \ge 12^{-E/p}$ which completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.5.

Remark 2.3.6. The decoupling constants $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ and $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ are useful because $w_B * w_B \sim_E R^2 w_B$ and similarly for \widetilde{w}_B . This allows us to use Proposition 2.2.11 to upgrade from unweighted to weighted estimates which is an important part of the argument. The same cannot be said with the Schwartz weight decoupling constant $\overline{D}_p(\delta)$ since we do not necessarily have $\eta_B * \eta_B \sim R^2 \eta_B$. This useful convolution property of the w_B and \widetilde{w}_B makes $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ and $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ ideal for iterative parts of the argument.

On the other hand, the decoupling constants $\overline{D}_p(\delta)$ and $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ are more useful for Fourier type arguments since the Fourier transform of w_B and \tilde{w}_B are of sinc type and so do not work well with Fourier arguments. One corollary of the results proven in this section is that all four local decoupling constants are essentially equivalent so we can easily swap between them.

To prove (2.33) we will prove the chain of inequalities

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \lesssim_E \overline{D}_p(\delta) \lesssim_E \widehat{D}_{p,G}(\delta) \lesssim_E D_{p,E}(\delta)$$
(2.38)

for $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and some G < E we will make explicit in our proof.

The first two inequalities follow from that $\eta_B \leq_E w_B \leq \tilde{w}_B$. The third inequality follows from boundedness of the Hilbert transform (Lemma 2.3.1) and the last inequality will follow from adapting the proof of Theorem 5.1 in [BD17] to our case and is the most technical.

Lemma 2.3.7. For $E \ge 100$ and $2 \le p < \infty$,

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{12E/p}\overline{D}_p(\delta)$$

Proof. The first inequality follows from the observation that $\tilde{w}_B \leq w_B$. The second inequality follows from Corollary 2.2.9, in particular, $\eta_B \leq E^{12E} \tilde{w}_{B,E}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.7.

As mentioned above, the third inequality in (2.38) comes from boundedness of the Hilbert transform. In particular, we need the following lemma. Because \overline{D}_p does not depend on E, this lemma allows us to "reset" the E parameter in $D_{p,E}$. This is useful because going up in the E parameter of $D_{p,E}$ is easy but going down is much harder.

Lemma 2.3.8. For $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, $E \ge 1$, and $2 \le p < \infty$, we have

$$\overline{D}_p(\delta) \leq (3C_p + 5 \cdot 12^{E/p}) \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$$

where C_p is as defined in Lemma 2.3.1.

Proof. We first assume that $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ and $\delta \leq 1/36$. Fix arbitrary $g : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and square B with side length δ^{-1} . We can write

$$g = g \mathbf{1}_{[0,\delta^{1/2})\cup(1-\delta^{1/2},1]} + g \mathbf{1}_{[\delta^{1/2},1-\delta^{1/2}]} := g_1 + g_2.$$

Then

$$|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g||_{L^p(B)} \leq ||\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_1||_{L^p(B)} + ||\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_2||_{L^p(B)}$$

Using the support of g_1 , the triangle inequality, $1_B \leq \eta_B$, and Lemma 2.3.5, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_1\|_{L^p(B)} \leq \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}g\|_{L^p(B)} + \|\mathcal{E}_{[1-\delta^{1/2},1]}g\|_{L^p(B)}$$

$$\leq 2 \cdot 12^{E/p} \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(\eta_B)}^2)^{1/2}.$$
(2.39)

Since g_2 is supported in $[\delta^{1/2}, 1-\delta^{1/2}]$, the Fourier transform of $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2 = \eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[\delta^{1/2}, 1-\delta^{1/2}]} g_1$ is supported in a δ -neighborhood of this interval which is contained in Θ . Therefore

$$\|\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2\|_{L^p(B)} \leq \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_J}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (2.40)

Note that since $g_2 = g \mathbb{1}_{[\delta^{1/2}, 1-\delta^{1/2}]}$,

$$\begin{split} (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_{2})_{\theta_{J}} &= (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{[\delta^{1/2},1-\delta^{1/2}]}g)_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J = [0,\delta^{1/2}] \\ &= \begin{cases} (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{r}}g)_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J = [0,\delta^{1/2}] \\ (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{Jg} + \eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{r}}g)_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J = [\delta^{1/2},2\delta^{1/2}] \\ (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{\ell}}g + \eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{Jg} + \eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{r}}g)_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([2\delta^{1/2},1-2\delta^{1/2}]) \\ (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{\ell}}g + \eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{Jg})_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J = [1-2\delta^{1/2},1-\delta^{1/2}] \\ (\eta_{B}\mathcal{E}_{J_{\ell}}g)_{\theta_{J}} & \text{if } J = [1-\delta^{1/2},1]. \end{split}$$

where J_{ℓ} and J_r denote the intervals to the left and right of J. Lemma 2.3.1 gives that for $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([2\delta^{1/2}, 1 - 2\delta^{1/2}]),$

$$\|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_2)_{\theta_J}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} \leq \sum_{J' \in \{J_\ell, J, J_r\}} \|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{J'}g)_{\theta_J}\|_p \leq C_p \sum_{J' \in \{J_\ell, J, J_r\}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^p(\eta_B)}$$

Similarly we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} &\leq C_p \| \mathcal{E}_{[\delta^{1/2}, 2\delta^{1/2}]} g \|_{L^p(\eta_B)} \\ \|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_{[1-\delta^{1/2},1]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} &\leq C_p \| \mathcal{E}_{[1-2\delta^{1/2},1-\delta^{1/2}]} g \|_{L^p(\eta_B)} \\ \|(\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_{[\delta^{1/2}, 2\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} &\leq C_p (\| \mathcal{E}_{[\delta^{1/2}, 2\delta^{1/2}]} g \|_{L^p(\eta_B)} + \| \mathcal{E}_{[2\delta^{1/2}, 3\delta^{1/2}]} g \|_{L^p(\eta_B)}) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \| (\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_{[1-2\delta^{1/2}, 1-\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} \\ &\leqslant C_p(\| \mathcal{E}_{[1-3\delta^{1/2}, 1-2\delta^{1/2}]} g\|_{L^p(\eta_B)} + \| \mathcal{E}_{[1-2\delta^{1/2}, 1-\delta^{1/2}]} g\|_{L^p(\eta_B)}) \end{aligned}$$

where here we have used that $\delta \leq 1/36$. Applying Cauchy-Schwarz and using the above four inequalities gives that

$$\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \| (\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_2)_{\theta_J} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2 \leqslant 9C_p^2 \sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^p(\eta_B)}^2$$

Combining this with (2.40) and $1_B \leq \eta_B$ gives

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_2\|_{L^p(B)} \leq 3C_p \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(\eta_B)}^2\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.41)

Combining (2.39) and (2.41) proves that

$$\overline{D}_p(\delta) \leqslant (3C_p + 2 \cdot 12^{E/p}) \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$$
(2.42)

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ and $\delta \leq 1/36$.

For $\delta = 1, 1/4, 1/9, 1/16$, and 1/25, we resort to the trivial bound. Proceeding as in the proof of (2.39) shows that for each such $\delta = 1/i^2$, i = 1, 2, ..., 5, we have

$$\overline{D}_p(\delta) \leqslant 5 \cdot 12^{E/p} \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta).$$

Combining this with (2.42) then completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.8.

Remark 2.3.9. The reason why we split g up into g_1 and g_2 in proof above is because $\eta_B \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g$ is Fourier supported in a set that is slightly bigger than Θ .

The last inequality in (2.38) is the most technical of the four inequalities. The proof is similar to that of Theorem 5.1 in [BD17] however our proof is more complicated since our definition of $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ uses Fourier restriction to the parallelogram θ_J (to take advantage of L^p boundedness) rather than Fourier restriction to a δ -tube of a piece of parabola. We also want explicit constants and so we will need to spend some time to extract explicit constants from taking a large number of derivatives. We state our lemma below but due to the length of its proof, we defer the proof to the end of this section. To simplify some constants, we also restrict to the range when $2 \le p \le 6$ since this is the range we care about. The restriction that $p \le 6$ is only used once in the proof of Lemma 2.3.10 (in particular at the end of the proof of Lemma 2.3.16) and is a very mild assumption which can be removed with a bit more care.

Lemma 2.3.10. For $E \ge 10$ and $2 \le p \le 6$,

$$\widehat{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{60E} D_{p,2E+7}(\delta).$$

Since $w_{B,E_2} \leq w_{B,E_1}$ for $E_1 \leq E_2$, $D_{p,E_1}(\delta) \leq D_{p,E_2}(\delta)$ and so we can increase the *E* parameter at no cost. Combining Lemmas 2.3.7-2.3.10 proves the following result which shows (2.38) and hence (2.33).

Proposition 2.3.11. For $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, $E \ge 100$, and $2 \le p \le 6$, we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{6E}\overline{D}_p(\delta) \leqslant E^{7E}\widehat{D}_{p,G}(\delta) \leqslant E^{70E}D_{p,E}(\delta)$$

where $G = \lfloor (E - 7)/2 \rfloor$.

Proof. Fix arbitrary integer $E \ge 100$. Using Lemma 2.3.7 and that $2 \le p \le 6$, we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{6E}\overline{D}_p(\delta).$$

Now we use Lemma 2.3.8 to reset our E. Since $E \ge 100$, G > 10. From Lemmas 2.3.8 and 2.3.10,

$$E^{6E}\overline{D}_p(\delta) \leqslant E^{7E}\widehat{D}_{p,G}(\delta) \leqslant E^{7E}G^{60G}D_{p,2G+7}(\delta)$$

where in the first inequality we have used that $C_p \leq 32$ for $2 \leq p \leq 6$. Increasing 2G + 7 to E bounds the above by $E^{70E}D_{p,E}(\delta)$. This completes the proof of Proposition 2.3.11.

2.3.1 Proof of Lemma 2.3.10

This proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 5.1 in [BD17]. Our goal is to show that if f is Fourier supported on $\Theta = \bigcup_{J \in P_{s^{1/2}}([0,1])} \theta_J$, then

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq_{E} D_{p,2E+7}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all squares B with side length δ^{-1} and some implied constant that will be made explicit in our proof. It suffices to show that this is true in the case when B is centered at the origin.

Since f is Fourier supported on Θ , for $x \in B$,

$$f(x) = \sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \int_{\theta_J} \hat{f}(\xi) e(\xi \cdot x) d\xi$$

=
$$\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \int_{J \times [-5\delta,5\delta]} \hat{f}(s, L_J(s) + t) e(sx_1 + s^2x_2) e((L_J(s) - s^2)x_2) e(tx_2) ds dt.$$

Note that here both t and $L_J(s) - s^2$ are of size $O(\delta)$ and x_2 is of size $O(\delta^{-1})$, so the contribution from $e((L_J(s) - s^2)x_2)$ and $e(tx_2)$ should be negligible. We make this rigorous. Since

$$e(tx_2) = \sum_{j \ge 0} \frac{(2\pi)^j}{j!} (\frac{2ix_2}{\delta^{-1}})^j (\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j$$

and

$$e((L_J(s) - s^2)x_2) = \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{(2\pi)^k}{k!} (\frac{2ix_2}{\delta^{-1}})^k (\frac{\delta^{-1}(L_J(s) - s^2)}{2})^k,$$

it follows that for $x \in B$,

$$|f(x)| \leq \sum_{j,k \geq 0} \frac{(2\pi)^k (2\pi)^j}{k! j!} |\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} (\mathcal{E}_J g_{j,k})(x)|$$

where $g_{j,k} : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ is defined pointwise almost everywhere piecewise on each $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])$ by

$$g_{j,k}(s) = \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(L_J(s) - s^2)}{2}\right)^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(s, L_J(s) + t) \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2}\right)^j dt$$

for $s \in J$. Let F := 2E + 7. We then have

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq D_{p,F}(\delta) \sum_{j,k \geq 0} \frac{(2\pi)^{k} (2\pi)^{j}}{k! j!} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g_{j,k}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,F})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (2.43)

It then remains to prove that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g_{j,k}\|_{L^p(w_{B,F})} \lesssim_E \exp(O(j) + O(k)) \|f_{\theta_J}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}$$
(2.44)

for some implied constants that will be made explicit in our proof. We first claim it suffices to only prove (2.44) when $J = [0, \delta^{1/2}]$.

Lemma 2.3.12. Suppose we knew that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}s-s^2)}{2})^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(s,\delta^{1/2}s+t)(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j dt\|_{L^p(w_{B,F})} \\ \leqslant C \|f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})} \end{aligned}$$
(2.45)

for some constant C. Then

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{[n_{J}\delta^{1/2},(n_{J}+1)\delta^{1/2}]}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(L_{J}(s)-s^{2})}{2})^{k} \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(s,L_{J}(s)+t)(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^{j} dt\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,F})} \\ &\leqslant 90^{(E+F)/p} C \|f_{\theta_{[n_{J}\delta^{1/2},(n_{J}+1)\delta^{1/2}]}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.46)$$

Remark 2.3.13. Here s is a dummy variable, so $\mathcal{E}_J g(s)$ means the extension operator applied to the function g(s) creating the function $(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x)$.

Proof. This proof is essentially a change of variables. The idea is to translate $\theta_{[n_J,(n_J+1)\delta^{1/2}]}$ to the origin and apply a shear matrix to turn it into $\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}$. Then apply (2.45) and finally undo the shear transformation. The weights w_B are preserved from (2.45) because of Lemma 2.2.16.

We have

$$\begin{pmatrix} \mathcal{E}_{[n_J\delta^{1/2},(n_J+1)\delta^{1/2}]}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(L_J(s)-s^2)}{2})^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \hat{f}(s,L_J(s)+t)(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j dt \end{pmatrix}(x) \\ = \int_{[n_J\delta^{1/2},(n_J+1)\delta^{1/2}]} (\frac{\delta^{-1}(L_J(s)-s^2)}{2})^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \hat{f}(s,L_J(s)+t)(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j dt \, e(sx_1+s^2x_2) \, ds.$$

The change of variables $u = s - n_J \delta^{1/2}$ and the observation that

$$L_J(u + n_J \delta^{1/2}) - (u + n_J \delta^{1/2})^2 = \delta^{1/2} u - u^2$$

gives that the above is equal in absolute value to

$$\begin{split} \int_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]} (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}u - u^2)}{2})^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(u + n_J \delta^{1/2}, L_J(u + n_J \delta^{1/2}) + t) \\ & \times (\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j e(u(x_1 + 2n_J \delta^{1/2}x_2) + u^2 x_2) \, du. \end{split}$$

Since $|2n_J \delta^{1/2}| \leq 2$, after a change of variables and an application of Lemma 2.2.16, the right hand side of (2.46) is bounded above by

$$90^{F/p} \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]} (\frac{\delta^{-1} (\delta^{1/2} s - s^2)}{2})^k \times \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(s + n_J \delta^{1/2}, L_J(s + n_J \delta^{1/2}) + t) (\frac{\delta^{-1} t}{2})^j dt \|_{L^p(w_{B,F})}$$
(2.47)

Observe that

$$L_J(s + n_J \delta^{1/2}) = n_J^2 \delta + (2n_J + 1)\delta^{1/2} s.$$

Let

$$g_J(x) := f(x)e^{-2\pi i x \cdot (n_J \delta^{1/2}, n_J^2 \delta)}.$$

Then

$$\widehat{f}(s+n_J\delta^{1/2}, L_J(s+n_J\delta^{1/2})+t) = \widehat{g}_J(s, (2n_J+1)\delta^{1/2}s+t).$$

This implies that

$$\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}s-s^2)}{2}\right)^k \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \widehat{f}(s+n_J\delta^{1/2}, L_J(s+n_J\delta^{1/2})+t)\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2}\right)^j dt$$
$$= \int_0^{\delta^{1/2}} \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}s-s^2)}{2}\right)^k \widehat{g}_J(s, (2n_J+1)\delta^{1/2}s+t)\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2}\right)^j e(sx_1+s^2x_2) dt ds$$

which is equal to

$$\int_{\theta_J - (n_J \delta^{1/2}, n_J^2 \delta)} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1} (\delta^{1/2} \xi_1 - \xi_1^2)}{2}\right)^k \widehat{g}_J(\xi) \left(\frac{\delta^{-1} (\xi_2 - (2n_J + 1)\delta^{1/2} \xi_1)}{2}\right)^j e(\xi_1 x_1 + \xi_1^2 x_2) \, d\xi.$$
(2.48)

Let

$$T_J = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ -2n_J \delta^{1/2} & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Notice that T_J sends $\theta_J - (n_J \delta^{1/2}, n_J^2 \delta)$ to $\theta_{[0, \delta^{1/2}]}$. Letting $\mu = T_J \xi$ gives that (2.48) is equal to

$$\begin{split} \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} &(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\mu_1 - \mu_1^2)}{2})^k \widehat{g_J}(T_J^{-1}\mu) (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\mu_2 - \delta^{1/2}\mu_1)}{2})^j e(\mu_1 x_1 + \mu_1^2 x_2) \, d\mu \\ &= \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\mu_1 - \mu_1^2)}{2})^k \widehat{g_J \circ T_J^t}(\mu) (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\mu_2 - \delta^{1/2}\mu_1)}{2})^j e(\mu_1 x_1 + \mu_1^2 x_2) \, d\mu \\ &= \int_0^{\delta^{1/2}} \int_{-5\delta}^{5\delta} (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2} s - s^2)}{2})^k \widehat{g_J \circ T_J^t}(s, \delta^{1/2} s + t) (\frac{\delta^{-1}t}{2})^j \, dt \, e(sx_1 + s^2 x_2) \, ds. \end{split}$$

Inserting the above into (2.47) and applying (2.45) shows that the left hand side of (2.46) is bounded by

$$90^{F/p} C \| (g_J \circ T_J^t)_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}.$$
(2.49)

By Lemma 2.2.16 and the definitions of T_J and g_J , we have

$$\begin{split} \|(g_{J} \circ T_{J}^{t})_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{p} \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{g_{J}}(T_{J}^{-1}\xi) 1_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}(\xi) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \xi} \, d\xi \right|^{p} w_{B,E}(x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{g_{J}}(\mu) 1_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}(T_{J}\mu) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \mu} \, d\mu \right|^{p} w_{B,E}(T_{J}^{-t}x) \, dx \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{f}(\mu + (n_{J}\delta^{1/2}, n_{J}^{2}\delta)) 1_{\theta_{J}}(\mu + (n_{J}\delta^{1/2}, n_{J}^{2}\delta)) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \mu} \, d\mu \right|^{p} w_{B,E}(T_{J}^{-t}x) \, dx \\ &\leqslant 90^{E} \|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{p}. \end{split}$$

Inserting this into (2.49) completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.12.

We now prove (2.44) when $J = [0, \delta^{1/2}]$, in other words we will prove (2.45). Corollary 2.2.4 implies that it is enough to show that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]} g_{j,k}\|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))}^p w_{B,F}(y) \, dy \lesssim_E \exp(p(O(j) + O(k))) \|f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^p. \tag{2.50}$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]})g_{j,k}(x) \\ &= \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\xi_1 - \xi_1^2)}{2})^k (\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1)}{2})^j e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)x_2) e(\xi \cdot x) \, d\xi. \end{aligned}$$

For $x \in B(y, \delta^{-1})$, since

$$e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)x_2) = e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)y_2)e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)(x_2 - y_2)),$$

a Taylor expansion of $e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)(x_2 - y_2))$ gives that for $x \in B(y, \delta^{-1})$,

$$\left| (\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}g_{j,k})(x) \right| \leq \sum_{\ell \geq 0} \frac{(2\pi)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \left| \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) C_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)y_2) e(\xi \cdot x) \, d\xi \right|$$
(2.51)

where

$$C_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) := \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\xi_1 - \xi_1^2)}{2}\right)^k \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1)}{2}\right)^j \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)}{2}\right)^\ell.$$

Let Ψ be as in Lemma 2.2.10 and so $\Psi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$, $\Psi = 1$ on [-1, 1] and vanishes outside [-3, 3]. For positive integer k and $\lambda > 0$, let

$$M_{k,\lambda}(x) := x^k \Psi(x/\lambda).$$

Because the integral on the right hand side of (2.51) is restricted to $\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}$, we can insert some Schwartz cutoffs into $C_{j,k,\ell}$. From (2.34) and (2.35), for $\xi \in \theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}$,

$$\frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}|\delta^{1/2}\xi_1 - \xi_1^2| \leqslant \frac{1}{8}, \quad \frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}|\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1| \leqslant \frac{5}{2}, \quad \frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}|\xi_1^2 - \xi_2| \leqslant \frac{21}{8}.$$

Furthermore, for $\xi \in \theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}$, $|\xi_1| \leq \delta^{1/2}$ and $|\xi_2| \leq 6\delta$. Let

$$F(\xi) := \Psi(\delta^{-1/2}\xi_1)\Psi(\frac{\delta^{-1}\xi_2}{6}),$$

$$M_1(\xi_1) := M_{k,1/8}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\xi_1 - \xi_1^2)}{2}),$$

$$M_2(\xi) := M_{j,5/2}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1)}{2}),$$

$$M_3(\xi) := M_{\ell,21/8}(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)}{2}),$$
(2.52)

and

$$\widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) := F(\xi)M_1(\xi_1)M_2(\xi)M_3(\xi).$$

Thus we can replace the $C_{j,k,\ell}$ on the right hand side of (2.51) with $\widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}$. It then remains to prove that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \left\| \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_{1}^{2} - \xi_{2})y_{2}) e(\xi \cdot x) d\xi \right\|_{L^{p}_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))}^{p} w_{B,F}(y) dy$$

$$\lesssim_{E} \exp(p(O(j) + O(k) + O(\ell))) \| f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{p}.$$
(2.53)

For each fixed j, k, ℓ, y , let

$$m(\xi) := e(\xi_1^2 y_2) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) = e(\xi_1^2 y_2) M_1(\xi_1) M_2(\xi) M_3(\xi) F(\xi).$$
(2.54)

Fix arbitrary $y \in \mathbb{R}^2$. Therefore

$$\int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2) y_2) e(\xi \cdot x) d\xi$$

= $\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}}(\xi) m(\xi) e(\xi_1 x_1 + \xi_2 (x_2 - y_2)) d\xi$
= $(f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} * \widecheck{m})(x_1, x_2 - y_2).$

This implies

$$\left\| \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2) y_2) e(\xi \cdot x) d\xi \right\|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))}^p = \delta^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} * \widecheck{m}|^p(x) \mathbb{1}_B(x_1 - y_1, x_2) dx.$$

Hölder's inequality implies that

$$|f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} * \breve{m}|^{p} \leq (|f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}}|^{p} * |\breve{m}|) \|\breve{m}\|_{L^{1}}^{p-1}.$$

Note that the L^1 norm on the right hand side depends on y since \check{m} depends on y. To show (2.53), it is enough to show that for all $z \in \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$\delta^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |\check{m}|(x-z) \mathbf{1}_{B}(x_{1}-y_{1},x_{2}) \|\check{m}\|_{L^{1}}^{p-1} w_{B,F}(y) \, dx \, dy$$

$$\lesssim_{E} \exp(p(O(j)+O(k)+O(\ell))) w_{B,E}(z).$$
(2.55)

We claim that for integers $a, b \ge 0$,

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b m\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C(a,b) (\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|)^a \delta^{-b}$$
(2.56)

where

$$C(a,b) = 12^{5}40^{a}3^{b}15^{j}3^{k}16^{\ell}a^{7a}b^{2b}(a+b)!^{4}(a+1)^{5}(b+1)^{3}$$

The proof of (2.56) is deferred to the end of this section. The calculation is straightforward but rather tedious. With (2.56), integration by parts gives the following lemma.

Lemma 2.3.14. For $a, b \ge 0$, we have

$$|\breve{m}(x)| \leq 2^{a} 2^{b} 216 C(a,b) \left(\delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_{1}|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_{2}|}\right)^{-a}\right) \left(\delta \left(1 + \frac{|x_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-b}\right).$$

Proof. Note that for $|x| \leq 1$, $1 \leq 2/(1+|x|)$ and for $|x| \geq 1$, $1/|x| \leq 2/(1+|x|)$. There are four regions to consider.

First consider the case when $|x_1| > \delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2}|y_2|$ and $|x_2| > \delta^{-1}$. Since *m* is supported in a $6\delta^{1/2} \times 36\delta$ rectangle centered at the origin, integration by parts gives that

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi) e^{2\pi i (x_1\xi_1 + x_2\xi_2)} \, d\xi \right| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi) \frac{1}{(2\pi i x_1)^a (2\pi i x_2)^b} \partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b e^{2\pi i (x_1\xi_1 + x_2\xi_2)} \, d\xi \right| \\ &\leqslant \frac{216}{(2\pi |x_1|)^a (2\pi |x_2|)^b} C(a,b) (\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|)^a \delta^{-b} \delta^{3/2} \\ &\leqslant \frac{216C(a,b)}{(2\pi)^a (2\pi)^b} (\delta^{1/2} (\frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|})^{-a}) (\delta(\frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-b}) \\ &\leqslant \frac{216C(a,b)}{\pi^a \pi^b} (\delta^{1/2} (1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|})^{-a}) (\delta(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-b}). \end{split}$$

Next consider the case when $|x_1| \leq \delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|$ and $|x_2| \leq \delta^{-1}$. Then we just use the trivial bound in this case. We have

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi) e^{2\pi i (x_1 \xi_1 + x_2 \xi_2)} \, d\xi \right| &\leq 216 C(0,0) \delta^{3/2} \\ &\leq 2^a 2^b 216 C(0,0) (\delta^{1/2} (1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|})^{-a}) (\delta(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-b}). \end{split}$$

For the case when $|x_1| \leq \delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|$ and $|x_2| > \delta^{-1}$ we integrate by parts in ξ_2 but use trivial bounds in ξ_1 . Thus

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi) e^{2\pi i (x_1\xi_1 + x_2\xi_2)} d\xi \right| &\leq \frac{216}{(2\pi |x_2|)^b} C(0,b) \delta^{-b} \delta^{3/2} \\ &\leq \frac{2^a 216 C(0,b)}{\pi^b} (\delta^{1/2} (1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|})^{-a}) (\delta(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-b}). \end{split}$$

Similarly, when $|x_1| > \delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|$ and $|x_2| \leq \delta^{-1}$ we obtain

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} m(\xi) e^{2\pi i (x_1\xi_1 + x_2\xi_2)} d\xi \right| \leq \frac{2^b 216C(a,0)}{\pi^a} \left(\delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|} \right)^{-a} \right) \left(\delta \left(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}} \right)^{-b} \right).$$

Combining the estimates in the above four cases completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.14. \Box

In particular, taking $a, b = E \ge 10$ in Lemma 2.3.14 gives the following corollary.

Corollary 2.3.15. For $E \ge 10$, let

$$\phi_1(x_1) := \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|}\right)^{-E}, \quad \phi_2(x_2) := \delta \left(1 + \frac{|x_2|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E}.$$

Then

$$|\check{m}(x)| \leq 15^j 3^k 16^\ell E^{30E} \phi_1(x_1) \phi_2(x_2).$$

We now prove (2.55). The following lemma is the only place where $p \leq 6$ is used.

Lemma 2.3.16. *For* $2 \le p \le 6$ *,*

$$\|\check{m}\|_{L^1}^{p-1} \leq 15^{j(p-1)} 3^{k(p-1)} 16^{\ell(p-1)} E^{30E(p-1)} (1+\delta|y_2|)^5$$

Proof. From Corollary 2.3.15,

$$\|\check{m}\|_{L^1} \leq 15^j 3^k 16^\ell E^{30E} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi_1(x_1) \, dx_1 \, \int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi_2(x_2) \, dx_2.$$

A change of variables gives that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi_1(x_1) \, dx_1 = \delta^{1/2} (\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|) \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1 + |x_1|)^{-E} \, dx_1 \le 1 + \delta |y_2|$$

and

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \phi_2(x_2) \, dx_2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1 + |x_2|)^{-E} \, dx_2 \le 1.$$

Therefore

$$\|\check{m}\|_{L^1} \leq 15^j 3^k 16^\ell E^{30E} (1+\delta|y_2|).$$

Raising both sides to the (p-1)-power and then using that $p \leq 6$ completes the proof of the lemma.

A change of variables gives

$$\delta^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\breve{m}| (x-z) \mathbf{1}_B(x_1 - y_1, x_2) \, dx = (|\breve{m}| * \delta^2 \mathbf{1}_B)(y_1 - z_1, -z_2)$$

and so combining this with Lemma 2.3.16 shows that the left hand side of (2.55) is bounded above by

$$15^{j(p-1)}3^{k(p-1)}16^{\ell(p-1)}E^{30E(p-1)}\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (|\breve{m}|*\delta^2 1_B)(y_1-z_1,-z_2)(1+\delta|y_2|)^5 w_{B,F}(y)\,dy.$$
 (2.57)

Corollary 2.3.15 gives that

$$(|\breve{m}| * \delta^2 1_B)(x) \leq 15^j 3^k 16^\ell E^{30E}(\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(x_1)(\phi_2 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(x_2).$$

Since $1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]} \leq 2^E w_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2],E}$, Remark 2.2.3 shows

$$(\phi_2 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(x_2) \le 8^E \delta (1 + |x_2|/\delta^{-1})^{-E}.$$

Therefore

$$(|\breve{m}| * \delta^2 1_B)(y_1 - z_1, -z_2) \leq 15^j 16^\ell E^{30E} 8^E \delta(1 + \frac{|z_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2, \delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1).$$

Thus (2.57) is bounded above by

$$15^{jp}3^{kp}16^{\ell p}E^{30Ep}8^{E} \times \\ \delta(1+\frac{|z_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} (\phi_{1} * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_{1}-z_{1})(1+\frac{|y_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{5} w_{B,F}(y) \, dy.$$

$$(2.58)$$

The following lemma will complete the proof of (2.55).

Lemma 2.3.17. Let $E \ge 10$ and F = 2E + 7, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]}) (y_1 - z_1) (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^5 w_{B,F}(y) \, dy \leq 9 \cdot 128^E \delta^{-1} (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E}.$$
(2.59)

Proof. We break the left hand side of (2.59) into the sum of integrals over the regions (recall that $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$)

$$I := \{y : |y_2| \le \delta^{-1}\}$$
$$II := \bigcup_{1 \le k < \delta^{-1/2}} \{y : k\delta^{-1} < |y_2| \le (k+1)\delta^{-1}\}$$
$$III := \bigcup_{k \ge 0} \{y : 2^k\delta^{-3/2} < |y_2| \le 2^{k+1}\delta^{-3/2}\}.$$

We also note that for $a \ge 1$,

$$(1 + \frac{|x|}{a})^{-E} \le a^{E}(1 + |x|)^{-E}.$$
(2.60)

We first consider the integral over region I. When $|y_2| \leq \delta^{-1}$,

$$\phi_1(x_1) = \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2}|y_2|}\right)^{-E} \leq \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{2\delta^{-1/2}}\right)^{-E} \leq 2^E \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2}}\right)^{-E}.$$

Therefore by Remark 2.2.3,

$$(\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1) \leq 16^E \delta (1 + \frac{|y_1 - z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E}$$

and so

$$\int_{I} (\phi_{1} * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]}) (y_{1} - z_{1}) (1 + \frac{|y_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{5} w_{B,F}(y) \, dy$$

$$\leq 16^{E} \delta \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} (1 + \frac{|y_{1} - z_{1}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|y_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{5} (1 + \frac{|y_{1}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|y_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E-7} \, dy.$$

Applying Remark 2.2.3 in the y_1 variable bounds this by

$$64^{E}\left(1+\frac{|z_{1}|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \left(1+\frac{|y_{2}|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E-2} dy_{2} \leqslant 64^{E} \delta^{-1} \left(1+\frac{|z_{1}|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E}.$$
(2.61)

We next consider the integral over region II. For each $1 \leq k < \delta^{-1/2}$ and y such that $k\delta^{-1} < |y_2| \leq (k+1)\delta^{-1}$, we have

$$\phi_1(x_1) = \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2}|y_2|}\right)^{-E} \leq \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{3k\delta^{-1/2}}\right)^{-E} \leq 3^E \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{k\delta^{-1/2}}\right)^{-E}.$$

Therefore by Remark 2.2.3,

$$(\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1) \leq 24^E k \delta (1 + \frac{|y_1 - z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E}$$

and so

$$\int_{II} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]}) (y_1 - z_1) (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^5 w_{B,F}(y) \, dy$$

$$= \sum_{1 \le k < \delta^{-1/2}} \int_{k\delta^{-1} < |y_2| \le (k+1)\delta^{-1}} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]}) (y_1 - z_1) (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^5 w_{B,F}(y) \, dy$$

$$\leq 96^E \sum_{1 \le k < \delta^{-1/2}} k (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} \int_{k\delta^{-1} < |y_2| \le (k+1)\delta^{-1}} (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E-2} \, dy_2$$

$$\leq 96^E \sum_{1 \le k < \delta^{-1/2}} k (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} 2\delta^{-1} k^{-E-2} \le 4 \cdot 96^E \delta^{-1} (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E}$$
(2.62)

where in the last inequality we have used that $E \ge 10$.

Finally we consider the integral over region III. For each $k \ge 0$ and y such that $2^k \delta^{-3/2} < |y_2| \le 2^{k+1} \delta^{-3/2}$, we have

$$\phi_1(x_1) = \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|}\right)^{-E} \leq \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{4 \cdot 2^k \delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E} \leq 4^E \delta^{1/2} \left(1 + \frac{|x_1|}{2^k \delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E}.$$

Therefore by Remark 2.2.3,

$$(\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1) \leq 32^E \delta^{1/2} (1 + \frac{|y_1 - z_1|}{2^k \delta^{-1}})^{-E}$$

and so

$$\begin{split} &\int_{III} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1)(1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^5 w_{B,F}(y) \, dy \\ &= \sum_{k \geqslant 0} \int_{2^k \delta^{-3/2} < |y_2| \leqslant 2^{k+1} \delta^{-3/2}} (\phi_1 * \delta 1_{[-\delta^{-1}/2,\delta^{-1}/2]})(y_1 - z_1)(1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^5 w_{B,F}(y) \, dy \\ &\leqslant 32^E \delta^{1/2} \times \\ &\sum_{k \geqslant 0} \int_{\mathbb{R}} (1 + \frac{|y_1 - z_1|}{2^k \delta^{-1}})^{-E} (1 + \frac{|y_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} \, dy_1 \int_{2^k \delta^{-3/2} < |y_2| \leqslant 2^{k+1} \delta^{-3/2}} (1 + \frac{|y_2|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E-2} \, dy_2 \\ &\leqslant 128^E \sum_{k \geqslant 0} \delta^{-1/2} (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{2^k \delta^{-1}})^{-E} 2^{k+1} \delta^{-3/2} (2^k \delta^{-1/2})^{-E-2} \\ &= 128^E \sum_{k \geqslant 0} \delta^{-2 + (E+2)/2} 2^{k+1 - k(E+2)} (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{2^k \delta^{-1}})^{-E} \leqslant 4 \cdot 128^E \delta (1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}})^{-E} \end{split}$$

where in the third inequality we have used (2.60). Summing this with (2.61) and (2.62) shows that the left hand side of (2.59) is bounded above by $9 \cdot 128^E \delta (1 + |z_1|/\delta^{-1})^{-E}$ which completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.17.

Thus Lemma 2.3.17 shows that (2.58) is bounded above by

$$9 \cdot 15^{jp} 3^{kp} 16^{\ell p} E^{30Ep} 2^{10E} \left(1 + \frac{|z_1|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E} \left(1 + \frac{|z_2|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-E} \le 15^{jp} 3^{kp} 16^{\ell p} E^{40Ep} w_{B,E}(z).$$
(2.63)

We now trace back all the implied constants to finish the proof of Lemma 2.3.10. From (2.63), the implied constants in (2.55) and (2.53) are both $15^{jp}3^{kp}16^{\ell p}E^{40Ep}$. By (2.51) and (2.53), the left hand side of (2.50) is

$$\begin{split} \left\| \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]} g_{j,k} \|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))} \right\|_{L^p_{y}(w_{B,F})}^p \\ &\leqslant \left\| \sum_{\ell \geqslant 0} \frac{(2\pi)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \| \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2) y_2) e(\xi \cdot x) \, d\xi \|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))} \right\|_{L^p_{y}(w_{B,F})}^p \\ &\leqslant \left(\sum_{\ell \geqslant 0} \frac{(2\pi)^{\ell}}{\ell!} \right\| \| \int_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \widehat{f}(\xi) \widetilde{C}_{j,k,\ell}(\xi) e((\xi_1^2 - \xi_2) y_2) e(\xi \cdot x) \, d\xi \|_{L^p_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-1}))} \right\|_{L^p_{y}(w_{B,F})} \right)^p \\ &\leqslant 15^{jp} 3^{kp} e^{32\pi p} E^{40Ep} \| f_{\theta_{[0,\delta^{1/2}]}} \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^p \end{split}$$

which gives the implied constant in (2.50). Using this, Lemma 2.3.12, and Lemma 2.2.4, we

have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g_{j,k}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,F})} &\leqslant \|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})} \times \begin{cases} 3^{E/p}15^{j}3^{k}E^{40E}e^{32\pi} & \text{if } J = [0, \delta^{1/2}] \\ 90^{(E+F)/p}3^{E/p}15^{j}3^{k}E^{40E}e^{32\pi} & \text{if } J \neq [0, \delta^{1/2}] \end{cases} \\ &\leqslant 15^{j}3^{k}E^{54E}\|f_{\theta_{J}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})} \end{aligned}$$

where in the last inequality we have used that $E \ge 10$, $2 \le p \le 6$, and F = 2E + 7. Inserting this estimate into (2.43) gives that

$$||f||_{L^{p}(B)} \leq \operatorname{Dec}'(\delta, p, F) E^{54E} e^{32\pi} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} ||f_{\theta_{J}}||_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

Since $E \ge 10$, $e^{36\pi} \le 10^{50} \le E^{5E}$ and this completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.10.

2.3.2 Proof of (2.56)

Let F, M_1, M_2, M_3 , and m be as in (2.52) and (2.54). We will prove (2.56).

Lemma 2.3.18. Let $\lambda > 0$ and let

$$M_{k,\lambda}(x) := x^k \Psi(x/\lambda)$$

where Ψ is as defined in Lemma 2.2.10. Then for integer $a \ge 0$,

$$\|\partial^a M_{k,\lambda}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12 \cdot 6^a 3^k (1+\lambda)^k (a!)^2.$$
(2.64)

If $\lambda \ge 1$, this bound can be replaced with $12(6^{a+k}\lambda^k)(a!)^2$.

Proof. This proof is essentially the same as that of the beginning of the proof of Lemma 2.2.10. From the proof of Lemma 2.2.10, we have that $|\Psi^{(j)}(x)| \leq 12(6^j)(j!)^2$ for all $j \geq 0$. Since Ψ is supported in [-3,3], $\Psi(x/\lambda)$ is supported in $[-3\lambda, 3\lambda]$.

If a = 0, then $||M_{k,\lambda}||_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(3\lambda)^k$ which proves (2.64) in this case. Now consider when

 $a \ge 1$. First suppose that $a \le k$, then

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial^{a}(M_{k,\lambda}(x))| &= |\sum_{j=0}^{a} {a \choose j} \partial^{j}(x^{k}) \Psi^{(a-j)}(x)| \\ &\leqslant \sum_{j=0}^{a} {a \choose j} \frac{k!}{(k-j)!} (3\lambda)^{k-j} 12(6^{a-j})(a-j)!^{2} \\ &\leqslant 12(6^{a}3^{k})(a!)^{2} \sum_{j=0}^{a} {k \choose j} \lambda^{k-j} \leqslant 12 \cdot 6^{a}3^{k}(1+\lambda)^{k}(a!)^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Next suppose that k < a, then

$$\left|\partial^{a}(M_{k,\lambda}(x))\right| \leq \sum_{j=0}^{k} {\binom{a}{j}} \frac{k!}{(k-j)!} (3\lambda)^{k-j} 12(6^{a-j})(a-j)!^{2} \leq 12 \cdot 6^{a} 3^{k} (1+\lambda)^{k} (a!)^{2}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.18.

Our goal is to obtain an estimate on $\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b m\|_{L^{\infty}}$ depending only on a, b, δ and y_2 and where m is as defined in (2.54) and (2.52). Since we want exact constants, we will need to differentiate exactly each of the five functions that make up $m(\xi)$. Note that since Ψ is supported in [-3,3], m is supported in a $6\delta^{1/2} \times 36\delta$ rectangle centered at the origin. In particular, for all $\xi \in \text{supp}(m)$,

$$-3\delta^{1/2} \le \xi_1 \le 3\delta^{1/2}.$$
 (2.65)

The bounds in Lemmas 2.3.20 and 2.3.21 are valid when we take no derivatives (either a = 0 or b = 0) provided we use the convention that $0^0 = 1$.

To compute $\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b m$, we will need to take arbitrarily many derivatives of a composition of functions. We will use the Faa di Bruno formula. We briefly recall all needed formulas (see [Joh02] for a reference, note that Johnson defined $B_{m,0} = 0$ for m > 0 since the sum conditions would be vacuous). For $m, k \ge 1$, define the Bell polynomials

$$B_{m,k}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_{m-k+1}) = \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\substack{j_1 + \dots + j_k = m \\ j_i \ge 1}} \binom{m}{j_1, \dots, j_k} x_{j_1} \cdots x_{j_k}.$$

Let

$$Y_m(x_1, \dots, x_m) := \sum_{k=1}^m B_{m,k}(x_1, \dots, x_{m-k+1}).$$
 (2.66)

The Faa di Bruno formula states that

$$\frac{d^m}{dt^m}g(f(t)) = \sum_{k=1}^m g^{(k)}(f(t))B_{m,k}(f'(t), f''(t), \dots, f^{(m-k+1)}(t)).$$

Finally we will abuse notation slightly by writing $Y_m(x, y, 0, ..., 0)$ as $Y_m(x, y)$.

Lemma 2.3.19. Let $m \ge 1$ and $x, y \ne 0$ such that $|x| \le C|y|^{1/2}$ with $C \ge 1$. Then

$$|Y_m(x,y)| \leqslant C^m m^m |y|^{m/2}.$$

Proof. From [Joh02, p. 220], $Y_m(x, y)$ is equal to the determinant of the $m \times m$ matrix

$\int x$	(m-1)y	0	•••	0	0
-1	x	(m-2)y		0	0
0	-1	x		0	0
÷	÷	÷		:	:
0	0	0		x	y
0	0	0		-1	x

Cofactor expansion gives that $Y_m(x, y)$ obeys the recurrence $Y_m = xY_{m-1} + (m-1)yY_{m-2}(1, 1)$ with $Y_1 = x$, $Y_2 = x^2 + y$. Therefore $Y_m(1, 1)$ obeys the recurrence $Y_m(1, 1) = Y_{m-1}(1, 1) + (m-1)Y_{m-2}$ and so $Y_m(1, 1) \leq m! \leq m^m$. Each

$$Y_m(x,y) = x^m + \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} c_j x^{m-2j} y^j = y^{m/2} \left(\frac{x^m}{y^{m/2}} + \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} c_j \frac{x^{m-2j}}{y^{m/2-j}} \right)$$
(2.67)

and $Y_m(1,1) = 1 + \sum_j c_j \leq m^m$. Thus $Y_m(x,0) = x^m$ and

$$|Y_m(x,y)| \le |y|^{m/2} (C^m + \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} c_j C^{m-2j}) \le C^m m^m |y|^{m/2}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.19.

Lemma 2.3.20. For $a \ge 0$ and $\xi \in \text{supp}(m)$,

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a e^{2\pi i y_2 \xi_1^2}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq (12\pi)^a a^a \times \begin{cases} \delta^{-a/2} & \text{if } |y_2| \leq \delta^{-1} \\ \delta^{a/2} |y_2|^a & \text{if } |y_2| > \delta^{-1}. \end{cases}$$

In particular,

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a e^{2\pi i y_2 \xi_1^2}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq (12\pi)^a a^a (\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|)^a.$$

Proof. If a = 0, then L^{∞} norm is equal to 1 and the above formula still holds true. Now suppose $a \ge 1$. From Faa di Bruno's formula,

$$\hat{c}_{\xi_1}^a e^{2\pi i y_2 \xi_1^2} = \sum_{k=1}^a (2\pi i)^k e^{2\pi i y_2 \xi_1^2} B_{a,k}(2\xi_1 y_2, 2y_2, 0, \dots, 0)$$

and so,

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a e^{2\pi i y_2 \xi_1^2}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq (2\pi)^a Y_a(2|\xi_1||y_2|, 2|y_2|).$$
(2.68)

Suppose $|y_2| \leq \delta^{-1}$, then $\delta^{1/2} |y_2| \leq |y_2|^{1/2}$ and so from (2.65),

$$2|\xi_1||y_2| \le 6|y_2|^{1/2}.$$

Therefore Lemma 2.3.19 gives that

$$Y_a(2|\xi_1||y_2|, 2|y_2|) \le 6^a a^a |y_2|^{a/2} \le 6^a a^a \delta^{-a/2}.$$

Inserting this into (2.68) then finishes this case.

If $|y_2| > \delta^{-1}$, then from (2.67),

$$Y_a(2|\xi_1||y_2|, 2|y_2|) \leq Y_a(6\delta^{1/2}|y_2|, 2|y_2|) = 6^a \delta^{a/2} |y_2|^a (1 + \sum_{j=1}^{\lfloor a/2 \rfloor} 18^{-j} c_j(\delta|y_2|)^{-j}).$$

Since $\delta |y_2| > 1$ and $1 + \sum_j c_j \leq a^a$, the above is bounded by $6^a a^a \delta^{a/2} |y_2|^a$ which completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.20.

Lemma 2.3.21. For integers $a, b \ge 0$ and $\xi \in \text{supp}(m)$,

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a M_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \leqslant 12(21^a a^{3a} 3^k) \delta^{-a/2}$$
(2.69)

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b M_2\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(6^a 3^b 15^j)(a+b)!^2 \delta^{-b-a/2}$$
(2.70)

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b M_3\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(18^a 3^b 16^\ell) a^a (a+b)!^2 \delta^{-b-a/2}$$
(2.71)

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b F\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12^2 6^a (a!)^2 (b!)^2 \delta^{-b-a/2}.$$
(2.72)

Proof. We first prove (2.69). If a = 0, then from Lemma 2.3.18,

$$\|M_1\|_{L^{\infty}} = \|M_{k,1/8}\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 12 \cdot 3^k$$

which proves (2.69) in this case. Next suppose $a \ge 1$. We compute that

$$\partial_{\xi_1}^a M_1 = \sum_{s=1}^a M_{k,1/8}^{(s)} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\delta^{1/2}\xi_1 - \xi_1^2)}{2}\right) B_{a,s} \left(\frac{1}{2}\delta^{-1/2} - \delta^{-1}\xi_1, -\delta^{-1}, 0, \dots, 0\right)$$

and so applying Lemma 2.3.18 and (2.66) gives that

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a M_1\|_{L^{\infty}} \le 12(3^k 6^a)(a!)^2 Y_a(\delta^{-1/2}|\frac{1}{2} - \delta^{-1/2}\xi_1|, \delta^{-1}).$$
(2.73)

Since

$$\delta^{-1/2} |\frac{1}{2} - \delta^{-1/2} \xi_1| \leq \frac{7}{2} (\delta^{-1})^{1/2},$$

Lemma 2.3.19 implies that

$$Y_a(\delta^{-1/2}|\frac{1}{2} - \delta^{-1/2}\xi_1|, \delta^{-1}) \leq (7/2)^a a^a \delta^{-a/2}.$$

Inserting this into (2.73) completes the proof of (2.69).

We now prove (2.70). We compute

$$\begin{aligned} \partial^a_{\xi_1} \partial^b_{\xi_2} M_2 &= \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}\right)^b \partial^a_{\xi_1} M^{(b)}_{j,5/2} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1)}{2}\right) \\ &= \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}\right)^b \left(-\frac{\delta^{-1/2}}{2}\right)^a M^{(a+b)}_{j,5/2} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_2 - \delta^{1/2}\xi_1)}{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Applying Lemma 2.3.18 gives

$$\|\partial^a_{\xi_1}\partial^b_{\xi_2}M_2\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(6^a 3^b 15^j)(a+b)!^2 \delta^{-b-a/2}$$

which proves (2.70).

Next we prove (2.71). If a = 0, then

$$\partial_{\xi_2}^b M_3 = \left(-\frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}\right)^b M_{\ell,21/8}^{(b)}\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_1^2 - \xi_2)}{2}\right)$$

and so

$$\|\partial_{\xi_2}^b M_3\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(3^b 16^\ell)(b!)^2 \delta^{-b}$$

which proves (2.71) in this case. Now suppose $a \ge 1$. Faa di Bruno's formula gives that

$$\hat{c}^{a}_{\xi_{1}}\hat{c}^{b}_{\xi_{2}}M_{3} = \left(-\frac{\delta^{-1}}{2}\right)^{b}\sum_{s=1}^{a}M^{(s+b)}_{\ell,21/8}\left(\frac{\delta^{-1}(\xi_{1}^{2}-\xi_{2})}{2}\right)B_{a,s}(\delta^{-1}\xi_{1},\delta^{-1},0,\ldots,0).$$

Applying Lemma 2.3.18 and (2.66) gives that

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b M_3\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12(6^a 3^b 16^\ell)(a+b)!^2 \delta^{-b} Y_a(\delta^{-1}|\xi_1|,\delta^{-1})$$
(2.74)

Since $\delta^{-1}|\xi_1| \leq 3(\delta^{-1})^{1/2}$, it follows that

$$Y_a(\delta^{-1}|\xi_1|, \delta^{-1}) \leq 3^a a^a \delta^{-a/2}.$$

Inserting this into (2.74) completes the proof of (2.71).

Finally we prove (2.72). We compute

$$\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b F = \delta^{-a/2} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{6}\right)^b \Psi^{(a)} \left(\delta^{-1/2} \xi_1\right) \Psi^{(b)} \left(\frac{\delta^{-1} \xi_2}{6}\right).$$

Lemma 2.2.10 then implies that

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b F\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12^2 6^a (a!)^2 (b!)^2 \delta^{-b-a/2}$$

which proves (2.72). This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.21.

We are now ready to prove (2.56).

Lemma 2.3.22. *For* $a, b \ge 0$ *,*

$$\|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b m\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq 12^5 40^a 3^b 15^j 3^k 16^\ell a^{7a} b^{2b} (a+b)!^4 (a+1)^5 (b+1)^3 (\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2} |y_2|)^a \delta^{-b}.$$

Proof. We compute

$$\begin{split} \partial^a_{\xi_1}\partial^b_{\xi_2}m &= \sum_{\substack{s_1+s_2+s_3=b\\t_1+t_2+t_3+t_4+t_5=a\\s_i,t_i \geqslant 0}} \left(\frac{b!}{s_1!s_2!s_3!}\right) \left(\frac{a!}{t_1!t_2!t_3!t_4!t_5!}\right) \times \\ &\quad (\partial^{t_1}_{\xi_1}e(\xi_1^2y_2))(\partial^{t_2}_{\xi_1}M_1)(\partial^{t_3}_{\xi_1}\partial^{s_1}_{\xi_2}M_2)(\partial^{t_4}_{\xi_1}\partial^{s_2}_{\xi_2}M_3)(\partial^{t_5}_{\xi_1}\partial^{s_3}_{\xi_2}F). \end{split}$$

Applying crude bounds and Lemmas 2.3.20 and 2.3.21 gives that

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_{\xi_1}^a \partial_{\xi_2}^b m\|_{L^{\infty}} &\leqslant 12^5 40^a 3^b 15^j 3^k 16^\ell a! b! \delta^{-b-a/2} (1+\delta|y_2|)^a \times \\ &\sum_{\substack{s_1+s_2+s_3=b\\t_1+t_2+t_3+t_4+t_5=a\\s_i,t_i \ge 0}} t_1^{t_1} t_2^{3t_2} t_4^{t_4} (t_3+s_1)!^2 (t_4+s_2)!^2 t_5! s_3! \\ &\leqslant 12^5 40^a 3^b 15^j 3^k 16^\ell a^{7a} b^{2b} (a+b)!^4 (a+1)^5 (b+1)^3 \delta^{-b-a/2} (1+\delta|y_2|)^a \end{split}$$

where in the first inequality we have used that

$$(\delta^{-1/2} + \delta^{1/2}|y_2|)^{t_1} = \delta^{-t_1/2}(1 + \delta|y_2|)^{t_1} \le \delta^{-t_1/2}(1 + \delta|y_2|)^a$$

and we have removed a t_5 ! and s_3 ! using the multinomial coefficient. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.3.22 and the proof of (2.56).

2.4 Parabolic rescaling: an application

As an application of Lemma 2.2.18 and Proposition 2.3.11, we will prove that the decoupling constant is essentially multiplicative. This will play an important role in Section 2.10 when we upgrade knowledge about decoupling at a lacunary sequence of scales to knowledge about decoupling on all possible scales in \mathbb{N}^{-2} . The restriction that $p \leq 6$ is once again an artifact that only arises from our application of Proposition 2.3.11.

Proposition 2.4.1. Let $E \ge 100$ and $2 \le p \le 6$. For $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ with $\delta, \sigma, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{100E} D_{p,E}(\sigma) D_{p,E}(\delta/\sigma).$$

Proof. Fix an arbitrary $E \ge 100$ and $2 \le p \le 6$. We need to show that for all $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length δ^{-1} , we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^p(B)} \leqslant E^{100E} D_{p,E}(\sigma) D_{p,E}(\delta/\sigma) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

It suffices to assume that B is centered at the origin.

Since $\delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, we can partition B into a collection of squares $\{\Sigma\}$ of side length σ^{-1} . Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^p(\Sigma)} \leqslant D_{p,E}(\sigma) (\sum_{J \in P_{\sigma^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(w_{\Sigma,E})}^2)^{1/2}.$$

Raising both sides to the *p*th power and summing over all Σ , then using Minkowski's inequality (since $p \ge 2$), and finally applying Proposition 2.2.14 gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq 48^{E/p} D_{p,E}(\sigma) \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\sigma^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2}\right)^{1/2}.$$
(2.75)

For each $J = [a, a + \sigma^{1/2}]$, we will first show that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq_{E} D_{p,E}(\delta/\sigma) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$
(2.76)

Afterwards we will apply Proposition 2.2.11 to (2.76) and then insert the result into (2.75) to finish.

Let T be as in Lemma 2.2.18, $L(\xi) = (\xi - a)/\sigma^{1/2}$, $g_L = g \circ L^{-1}$. Then a change of variables gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(B)} = \sigma^{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{2p}} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_L\|_{L^p(T(B))}.$$

Let \mathcal{B} be as in Lemma 2.2.18. Thus we cover T(B) by a collection of squares $\mathcal{B} = \{\Delta\}$ of side length σ/δ , use decoupling constant $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}$ at scale δ/σ and undo change of variables. This gives

$$\begin{split} \sigma^{\frac{p}{2}-\frac{3}{2}} \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_L \|_{L^p(T(B))}^p &\leqslant \sigma^{\frac{p}{2}-\frac{3}{2}} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_L \|_{L^p(\Delta)}^p \\ &\leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E} (\delta/\sigma)^p \sigma^{\frac{p}{2}-\frac{3}{2}} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} (\sum_{J'' \in P_{(\delta/\sigma)^{1/2}}([0,1])} \| \mathcal{E}_{J''} g_L \|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^2)^{p/2} \\ &\leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E} (\delta/\sigma)^p (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^p(\sum_{\Delta} \widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E} \circ T)}^2)^{p/2} \\ &\leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E} (\delta/\sigma)^p 720^E (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2} \end{split}$$

where the third inequality we have used Minkowski's inequality and $p \ge 2$ and the last inequality we have used Lemma 2.2.18. Combining this with Proposition 2.3.11 gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leqslant E^{70E}720^{E/p}D_{p,E}(\delta/\sigma)(\sum_{J'\in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)}\|\mathcal{E}_{J''}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

Applying Proposition 2.2.11 gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})} \leqslant E^{80E} D_{p,E}(\delta/\sigma) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J''}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

Inserting this into (2.75) then completes the proof of Proposition 2.4.1.

Remark 2.4.2. Combining Propositions 2.3.11 and 2.4.1, we see that all four decoupling constants $D_{p,E}$, $\tilde{D}_{p,E}$, \overline{D}_p , and $\hat{D}_{p,E}$ obey a similar multiplicative property.

2.5 Bilinear equivalence

We now define the bilinear decoupling constant and show that it is essentially the same size as the linear decoupling constant. In [BD17], Bourgain and Demeter use a Bourgain-Guth type argument to do this. However in two dimensions, there is a simpler proof using Hölder's inequality and parabolic rescaling by Tao in [Tao15]. It is this version we follow.

For each $m \in \mathbb{N}, E \ge 100$, let

$$\nu := 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m E^{10E}}.$$

For $\delta \in (0,1)$ such that $\nu \delta^{-1/2} \in \mathbb{N}$, let $D_{p,E}(\delta,m)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^p(B)} \leq D_{p,E}(\delta,m)\operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

for all pairs of intervals $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu}([0, 1])$ which are at least ν -separated, functions $g : [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbb{C}$, and squares B of side length δ^{-1} . Note that the right hand side uses the weight function $\widetilde{w}_{B,E}$ rather than $w_{B,E}$.

We first give the trivial bound for the bilinear decoupling constant which is a useful bound at large scales.

Lemma 2.5.1. Let m, E, ν be defined as above. If $\nu \delta^{-1/2} \in \mathbb{N}$, then $D_{p,E}(\delta, m) \leq 4^E \nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/4}$.

Proof. Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\|\operatorname{geom}|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^p(B)} \leq \operatorname{geom}\|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g\|_{L^p(B)}.$$

The triangle inequality, Cauchy-Schwarz, and that $1_B \leq 4^E \widetilde{w}_{B,E}$ gives

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g\|_{L^p(B)} = \|\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)} \mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(B)} \leq 4^E \nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/4} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 2.5.1.

Lemma 2.5.2. Let $E \ge 100$ and $2 \le p \le 6$. If $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ and $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-1} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{100E}(D_{p,E}(\frac{\delta}{\nu^2}) + \frac{1}{\nu}D_{p,E}(\delta,m)).$$

Proof. This proof is essentially an application of parabolic rescaling. The restriction $2 \leq p \leq 6$ comes only from the application of Proposition 2.3.11. Fix an arbitrary square B of side length δ^{-1} and function $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$. It suffices to assume B is centered at the origin. Partition [0,1] into $1/\nu$ many intervals $I_1, \ldots, I_{1/\nu}$ of length ν (here we have used that $\nu \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$). Then

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g||_{L^{p}(B)} &= \|\sum_{1\leqslant i\leqslant 1/\nu} \mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leqslant \|\sum_{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 1/\nu} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\|_{L^{p/2}(B)}^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant \left(\|\sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 1/\nu\\|i-j|\leqslant 1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\|_{L^{p/2}(B)} + \|\sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 1/\nu\\|i-j|>1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\|_{L^{p/2}(B)}^{1/2} \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leqslant \sqrt{2} \left(\|\sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 1/\nu\\|i-j|\leqslant 1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\|_{L^{p/2}(B)}^{1/2} + \|\sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant 1/\nu\\|i-j|>1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\|_{L^{p/2}(B)}^{1/2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

We first consider the off-diagonal terms. This will be controlled by the bilinear decoupling constant. Hölder's inequality gives that

$$(\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j|>1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|)^{p/2} \le \nu^{-(p-2)} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j|>1}} (|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|)^{p/2}$$

and hence

$$\int_{B} \left(\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| > 1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|\right)^{p/2} dx \le \nu^{-(p-2)} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| > 1}} \int_{B} (|\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|)^{p/2} dx.$$

By bilinear decoupling, the above is bounded above by

$$\nu^{-(p-2)} D_{p,E}(\delta,m)^p \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i,j \leq 1/\nu \\ |i-j|>1}} (\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i) \\ |i-j|>1}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/4} (\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_j) \\ |i-j|>1}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/4}.$$

Note that here we have used that $\nu/\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$. Since $\delta^{1/2}$ is dyadic and I_i and I_j are dyadic intervals, this is bounded above by

$$\nu^{-p} D_{p,E}(\delta,m)^p (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$

Now we consider the diagonal contribution. The triangle inequality followed by Cauchy-Schwarz gives that

$$\|\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| \le 1}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| \|_{L^{p/2}(B)} \le \sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| \le 1}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g\|_{L^p(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g\|_{L^p(B)}$$
(2.77)

Let $I = a + [0, \nu]$ be an interval of length ν . Let $L(\xi) = (\xi - a)/\nu$, $g_L := g \circ L^{-1}$, and $T = \begin{pmatrix} \nu & 2a\nu \\ 0 & \nu^2 \end{pmatrix}$. A change of variables then gives that $|(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x)| = \nu |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_L)(Tx)|$ and therefore

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} = \nu^{1-3/p} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_{L}\|_{L^{p}(T(B))}.$$
(2.78)

Note that T(B) is a parallelogram contained in a $3\nu\delta^{-1} \times \nu^2\delta^{-1}$ rectangle. Covering T(B) by squares $\mathcal{B} = \{\Delta\}$ of side length $\nu^2\delta^{-1}$ gives that

$$\nu^{1-3/p} \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_L \|_{L^p(T(B))} \leq \nu^{1-3/p} (\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \| \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]} g_L \|_{L^p(\Delta)}^p)^{1/p}.$$
(2.79)

Applying the definition of the decoupling constant (and using that $\nu \delta^{-1/2} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$), gives that for each square Δ ,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g_L\|_{L^p(\Delta)}^p \leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta/\nu^2)^p (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}/\nu}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg_L\|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$

Inserting this into (2.79) bounds the left hand side of (2.79) by

$$\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta/\nu^2) (\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}/\nu}([0,1])} (\nu^{1-3/p} \| \mathcal{E}_J g_L \|_{L^p(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})})^2)^{p/2})^{1/p}.$$

Applying the same change of variables as in (2.78) followed by Minkowski's inequality (using that $p \ge 2$) gives that the above is bounded by

$$\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta/\nu^{2}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(\sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E} \circ T)}^{2})^{1/2} \\ \leqslant 720^{E/p} \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta/\nu^{2}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

By Proposition 2.3.11, $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{70E} D_{p,E}(\delta)$ and so the above gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq E^{75E} D_{p,E}(\delta/\nu^{2}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for each interval I of length ν .

Using this for each interval that shows up on the right hand side of (2.77) gives an upper bound of

$$E^{150E} D_{p,E} (\delta/\nu^2)^2 \sum_{\substack{1 \le i,j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| \le 1}} (\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i) \\ J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2} (\sum_{\substack{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_j) \\ J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2)^{1/2}.$$
Using that $2ab \leq a^2 + b^2$, the above is bounded by

$$E^{150E} D_{p,E} (\delta/\nu^2)^2 \cdot \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\substack{1 \le i,j \le 1/\nu \\ |i-j| \le 1}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2 \right)$$
$$\leq 2 \cdot E^{150E} D_{p,E} (\delta/\nu^2)^2 \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(w_{B,E})}^2.$$

Therefore if $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ and $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-1} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$, we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq 2 \cdot E^{75E} D_{p,E}(\frac{\delta}{\nu^2}) + \frac{\sqrt{2}}{\nu} D_{p,E}(\delta,m)$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 2.5.2.

Proposition 2.5.3. Let $E \ge 100$ and $2 \le p \le 6$. Fix an arbitrary integer $m \ge 1$. Let $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ and K be the largest positive integer such that $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$. Then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq \delta^{100E \log_{\nu} E} \nu^{-1} \max(1, \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-1} D_{p,E}(\delta \nu^{-2i}, m)).$$

Proof. Note that $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ and $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ imply that for $i = 0, 1, \dots, K$, $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-i} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$. In particular for each $i = 1, 2, \dots, K$, both $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-i+1}$ and $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-i}$ are in $2^{-\mathbb{N}}$ and hence

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i+2}) \leqslant E^{100E}(D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i}) + \frac{1}{\nu}D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i+2},m)).$$

Combining these K inequalities then gives that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{100EK}(D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2K}) + 2\nu^{-1} \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-1} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i},m)).$$
(2.80)

To control $D_p(\delta\nu^{-2K})$, we use the definition of K. In particular, since $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$, $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-(K+1)}$ is dyadic but ≥ 1 . Therefore $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K-1} \geq 1$ and so $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K} \geq \nu$. The trivial bound then gives that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2K}) \leq 2^{E/p}(\delta\nu^{-2K})^{-1/4} \leq 2^{E}\nu^{-1/2}.$$

Since $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K} \leq 1, K \leq \log_{\nu^{-1}} \delta^{-1/2}$ and hence

$$E^{100EK} \leqslant \delta^{50E\log_{\nu} E}.$$

Inserting the above two centered equations into (2.80) then completes the proof of Proposition 2.5.3.

2.6 Ball inflation

We first discuss some basic geometry. Let $\mathbb{P} := \{(\xi, \xi^2) : \xi \in [0, 1]\}$ and $\pi : \mathbb{P} \to [0, 1]$ be the projection map which sends $(\xi, \xi^2) \mapsto \xi$. Since I_1, I_2 are *d*-separated, for any $P \in I_1, Q \in I_2$, we have $|P - Q| \ge d$. Observe that

$$n(\pi^{-1}(P)) = \frac{(-2P,1)}{\sqrt{1+4P^2}}$$

and similarly for Q (where here $n(\pi^{-1}(P))$ refers to the normal vector to the parabola at the point $\pi^{-1}(P)$). Let θ be the angle between $n(\pi^{-1}(P))$ and $n(\pi^{-1}(Q))$. Then since $|P-Q| \ge d$,

$$\sin \theta = \frac{2|P-Q|}{\sqrt{(1+4P^2)(1+4Q^2)}} \ge \frac{2}{5}d.$$

In the terminology of [BD17], I_1 and I_2 are 2d/5-transverse.

We will now prove the following effective ball inflation inequality.

Theorem 2.6.1. Let $p \ge 4$, $0 < \delta < 1/10$, $E \ge 100$, and 0 < d < 1/2. Let $I_1, I_2 \subset [0, 1]$ be two d-separated intervals of length $\ge \delta$ such that $|I_i|/\delta \in \mathbb{N}$. Let B be an arbitrary square in \mathbb{R}^2 with side length δ^{-2} and let \mathcal{B} be the unique partition of B into squares Δ of side length δ^{-1} . Then for all $g: [0, 1] \rightarrow \mathbb{C}$, we have

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_{i})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{2})^{p/2} \\
\leqslant E^{50Ep} d^{-1} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{p/2} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_{i})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2})^{p/2}.$$
(2.81)

Furthermore, for p = 4, the estimate is true without the logarithm.

This inequality allows us to keep the frequency scale the same while increasing (inflating) the spatial scale and is a key step in the iteration. We will first prove a version of Theorem 2.6.1 where we additionally assume that all the $\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|$ are of comparable size (for each I_i). Then we remove this assumption by dyadic pigeonholing to obtain (2.81).

Lemma 2.6.2. Let p > 4 and everything else be as defined in Theorem 2.6.1. Furthermore, let \mathcal{F}_1 be a collection of intervals in $P_{\delta}(I_1)$ such that for each pair of intervals $J, J' \in \mathcal{F}_1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{2} < \frac{\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}}{\|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}} \leqslant 2.$$
(2.82)

Similarly define \mathcal{F}_2 . Then for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ we have

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_i} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^2)^{p/2} \leqslant E^{30Ep} d^{-1} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_i} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$
(2.83)

Proof. For each $J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)$ centered at c_J , cover B by a set \mathcal{T}_J of mutually parallel nonoverlapping boxes P_J with dimension $\delta^{-1} \times \delta^{-2}$ with longer side pointing in the direction of the normal vector to \mathbb{P} at $\pi^{-1}(c_J)$. Note that any $\delta^{-1} \times \delta^{-2}$ box outside 4B cannot cover B itself. Thus we may assume that all the boxes in \mathcal{T}_J are contained in 4B. Finally, let $P_J(x)$ denote the box in \mathcal{T}_J containing x and let $2P_J$ be the $2\delta^{-1} \times 2\delta^{-2}$ box having the same center and orientation as P_J .

Since p > 4, Hölder's inequality yields that

$$\left(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{F}_{i}}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{2}\right)^{p/2} \leqslant \left(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{F}_{i}}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2}\right)^{2}|\mathcal{F}_{i}|^{p/2-2}$$

Thus the left hand side of (2.83) is bounded above by

$$(\prod_{i=1}^{2} |\mathcal{F}_{i}|^{p/4-1}) \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \prod_{i=1}^{2} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2}).$$
(2.84)

For $x \in 4B$, define

$$H_J(x) := \begin{cases} \sup_{y \in 2P_J(x)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B(y,\delta^{-1}),E})}^{p/2} & \text{if } x \in \bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in 4B \setminus \bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J. \end{cases}$$
(2.85)

For each $x \in \Delta$, observe that $\Delta \subset 2P_J(x)$. Therefore for each $x \in \Delta$, $c_\Delta \in 2P_J(x)$ and hence

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2} \leqslant H_J(x)$$

$$(2.86)$$

for all $x \in \Delta$. Thus

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \prod_{i=1}^{2} \left(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\tilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2} \right) \\
= \sum_{\substack{J_{1} \in \mathcal{F}_{1} \\ J_{2} \in \mathcal{F}_{2}}} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J_{1}}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\tilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2} \|\mathcal{E}_{J_{2}}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\tilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{p/2} \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} dx \\
\leqslant \sum_{\substack{J_{1} \in \mathcal{F}_{1} \\ J_{2} \in \mathcal{F}_{2}}} \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} H_{J_{1}}(x) H_{J_{2}}(x) dx \tag{2.87}$$

where the last inequality we have used (2.86). By how H_J is defined, H_J is constant on each $P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J$. That is, for each $x \in \bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J$,

$$H_J(x) = \sum_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} c_{P_J} \mathbf{1}_{P_J}(x)$$

for some constants $c_{P_J} \ge 0$. Then

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} H_{J_{1}}(x) H_{J_{2}}(x) dx = \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{\substack{P_{J_{1}} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_{1}} \\ P_{J_{2}} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_{2}}}} c_{P_{J_{1}}} c_{P_{J_{2}}} |(P_{J_{1}} \cap P_{J_{2}}) \cap B|$$
$$\leqslant \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{\substack{P_{J_{1}} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_{1}} \\ P_{J_{2}} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_{2}}}} c_{P_{J_{1}}} c_{P_{J_{2}}} |P_{J_{1}} \cap P_{J_{2}}|$$

where the last inequality is because $c_{P_J} \ge 0$ for all P_J . Since $|P_J| = \delta^{-3}$ we also have

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{4B} H_J(x) \, dx = \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{\bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J} \sum_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} c_{P_J} \mathbf{1}_{P_J}(x) \, dx = \delta \sum_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} c_{P_J}.$$

Recall that $J_1 \in \mathcal{F}_1 \subset P_{\delta}(I_1)$ and $J_2 \in \mathcal{F}_2 \subset P_{\delta}(I_2)$. Since I_1 and I_2 are *d*-separated, so are J_1 and J_2 . Let \angle_{J_1,J_2} be the angle between the directions of J_1 and J_2 . By geometry discussion at the beginning of this section, $\sin(\angle_{J_1,J_2}) \ge 2d/5$. Therefore

$$|P_{J_1} \cap P_{J_2}| \leq \frac{\delta^{-2}}{\sin(\angle_{J_1,J_2})} \leq \frac{\delta^{-2}}{2d/5}.$$

Applying this gives

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{\substack{P_{J_1} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_1} \\ P_{J_2} \in \mathcal{T}_{J_2}}} c_{P_{J_1}} c_{P_{J_2}} |P_{J_1} \cap P_{J_2}|$$

$$\leq \frac{3\delta^{-2}d^{-1}}{|B|} \prod_{i=1}^2 \left(\frac{\delta^{-1}}{|B|} \int_{4B} H_{J_i}(x) \, dx\right) = \frac{3d^{-1}}{|B|^2} \prod_{i=1}^2 \int_{4B} H_{J_i}(x) \, dx.$$

Therefore (2.87) is bounded above by

$$3d^{-1}\prod_{i=1}^{2} \left(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{F}_{i}}\frac{1}{|B|}\int_{4B}H_{J}(x)\,dx\right) = 768d^{-1}\prod_{i=1}^{2} \left(\sum_{J\in\mathcal{F}_{i}}\frac{1}{|4B|}\int_{4B}H_{J}(x)\,dx\right).$$
(2.88)

We now apply Lemma 2.6.3, proven later, to (2.88). This gives that an upper bound of

$$E^{20Ep}d^{-1}\prod_{i=1}^{2} (\sum_{J\in\mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2})$$

where here we have also used that $E \ge 100$ and $p \ge 2$. Thus (2.84) is bounded above by

$$E^{20Ep}d^{-1}(\prod_{i=1}^{2} |\mathcal{F}_{i}|^{p/4-1}) \prod_{i=1}^{2} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2}).$$
(2.89)

To obtain the right hand side of (2.83) we now use that intervals in \mathcal{F}_i satisfy (2.82). We have

$$\begin{split} (\prod_{i=1}^{2} |\mathcal{F}_{i}|^{p/4-1}) \prod_{i=1}^{2} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2}) &\leq \prod_{i=1}^{2} |\mathcal{F}_{i}|^{p/4-1} \prod_{i=1}^{2} (|\mathcal{F}_{i}| \max_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2}) \\ &= \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} (|\mathcal{F}_{i}| \max_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}\right)^{p/2} \\ &\leq \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} 4\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}\right)^{p/2} \\ &= 2^{p} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{i}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{2})^{p/2} \end{split}$$

where the second inequality is due to (2.82). Inserting this into (2.89) then completes the proof of Lemma 2.6.2.

Lemma 2.6.3. Let H_J be as defined in (2.85). Then

$$\frac{1}{|4B|} \int_{4B} H_J(x) \, dx \leqslant E^{8Ep} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2}.$$

Proof. This is the inequality proven in (29) of [BD17] without explicit constants. We follow their proof, this time paying attention to the implied constants.

Fix arbitrary $J \subset [0, 1]$ of length δ and center c_J . For $x \in \bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J = \operatorname{supp} H_J \subset 4B$, fix arbitrary $y \in 2P_J(x)$. Note that $2P_J(x)$ points is a rectangle of dimension $2\delta^{-1} \times 2\delta^{-2}$ with the longer side pointing in the direction of $(-2c_J, 1)$. Let R_J and θ_J be as in Lemma 2.2.5. Since $c_J \in [\delta/2, 1 - \delta/2]$, both $\cos \theta_J$ and $\sin \theta_J$ are nonzero. Note that R_J is the rotation matrix such that R_J^{-1} applied to $2P_J(x)$ gives an axis parallel rectangle of dimension $2\delta^{-1} \times 2\delta^{-2}$ with the longer side pointing in the vertical direction. Since $y \in 2P_J(x)$, we can write

$$R_J^{-1}y = R_J^{-1}x + \overline{y}$$

where $|\overline{y}_1| \leqslant 2\delta^{-1}$ and $|\overline{y}_2| \leqslant 2\delta^{-2}$. We then have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B(y,\delta^{-1}),E})}^{p/2} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(\mathcal{E}_J g)(s)|^{p/2} \widetilde{w}_{B(x+R_J\overline{y},\delta^{-1}),E}(s) \, ds$$

Writing $\overline{y} = (\overline{y}_1, 0)^T + (0, \overline{y}_2)^T$ and a change of variables gives that the above is equal to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(\mathcal{E}_J g)(s + x + R_J(0, \overline{y}_2)^T)|^{p/2} \widetilde{w}_{B(R_J(\overline{y}_1, 0)^T, \delta^{-1}), E}(s) \, ds.$$
(2.90)

Inserting Lemma 2.2.5 into (2.90) gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B(y,\delta^{-1}),E})}^{p/2} \leq 16^E \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(\mathcal{E}_J g)(s+x+R_J(0,\overline{y}_2)^T)|^{p/2} \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}(s) \, ds.$$
(2.91)

Observe that

$$|(\mathcal{E}_J g)(s+x+R_J(0,\overline{y}_2)^T)| = |\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g}(\lambda) e(\lambda \cdot (s+x)) e(\lambda \cdot R_J(0,\overline{y}_2)^T) d\lambda|.$$

Since R_J is a rotation matrix, a change of variables gives that the above is equal to

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g}(R_J \lambda) e(\lambda \cdot R_J^{-1}(s+x)) e(\lambda \cdot (0, \overline{y}_2)^T) \, d\lambda\right|$$
(2.92)

Writing

$$e(\lambda \cdot (0, \overline{y}_2)^T) = e((\lambda_2 - c_J^2)\overline{y}_2)e(c_J^2\overline{y}_2) = e(c_J^2\overline{y}_2)\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(2\pi i)^k \overline{y}_2^k}{k!} (\lambda_2 - c_J^2)^k$$

and using that $|\overline{y}_2|\leqslant 2\delta^{-2}$ shows that (2.92) is

$$\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(4\pi)^k}{k!} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g}(R_J \lambda) e(\lambda \cdot R_J^{-1}(s+x)) (\frac{\lambda_2 - c_J^2}{\delta^2})^k \, d\lambda \right|$$

Applying the change of variables $\eta = \lambda - \pi^{-1}(c_J)$ gives that the above is

$$\leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^{k}}{k!} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_{J}g} (R_{J}(\eta + \pi^{-1}(c_{J}))) e(\eta \cdot R_{J}^{-1}(s+x)) (\frac{\eta_{2}}{2\delta^{2}})^{k} d\eta \right|.$$
(2.93)

Note that $\widehat{\mathcal{E}_Jg}(R_J(\eta + \pi^{-1}(c_J)))$ is supported in a $4\delta \times 4\delta^2$ box centered at the origin pointing in the horizontal direction. Thus we may insert the cutoff Ψ from Lemma 2.2.10 in (2.93). Then (2.93) becomes

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^k}{k!} | \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g} (R_J(\eta + \pi^{-1}(c_J))) e(\eta \cdot R_J^{-1}(s+x)) (\frac{\eta_2}{2\delta})^k \Psi(\frac{\eta_1}{2\delta}) \Psi(\frac{\eta_2}{2\delta}) d\eta |.$$

Note that we are a bit wasteful since $\Psi(\eta_1/(2\delta))\Psi(\eta_2/(2\delta))$ is equal to 1 on $[-2\delta, 2\delta]^2$ rather than $[-2\delta, 2\delta] \times [-2\delta^2, 2\delta^2]$, but this will turn out to not matter.

Let $\Phi_k(t) := t^k \Psi(t)$ and let

$$(M_k f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{f}(R_J(\eta + \pi^{-1}(c_J))) e(\eta \cdot x) \Psi(\frac{\eta_1}{2\delta}) \Phi_k(\frac{\eta_2}{2\delta}) d\eta.$$

Thus we have shown that

$$|(\mathcal{E}_J g)(s + x + R_J(0, \overline{y}_2)^T)| \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^k}{k!} |(M_k \mathcal{E}_J g)(R_J^{-1}(s + x))|$$

and combining this with (2.91) gives that for $x \in \bigcup_{P_J \in \mathcal{T}_J} P_J$ and $y \in 2P_J(x)$,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B(y,\delta^{-1}),E})}^{p/2} \leqslant 16^{E}\delta^{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} (\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^{k}}{k!} |(M_{k}\mathcal{E}_{J}g)(R_{J}^{-1}(s+x))|)^{p/2} \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}(s) \, ds.$$

Thus

$$\frac{1}{|4B|} \int_{4B} H_J(x) dx
\leq 16^{E-1} \delta^6 \int_{4B} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^k}{k!} |(M_k \mathcal{E}_J g)(R_J^{-1}(s+x))|)^{p/2} \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}(s) ds dx
= 16^{E-1} \delta^6 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} (\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^k}{k!} |(M_k \mathcal{E}_J g)(u)|)^{p/2} (\int_{4B} \widetilde{w}_{B(x,\delta^{-1}),E}(R_J u) dx) du.$$
(2.94)

As $1_{4B} \leq 4^E \widetilde{w}_{4B,E} \leq 64^E \widetilde{w}_{B,E}$ and since B is centered at the origin,

$$\int_{4B} \widetilde{w}_{B(x,\delta^{-1}),E}(R_J u) \, dx = (1_{4B} * \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E})(R_J u)$$
$$\leqslant 64^E (\widetilde{w}_{B,E} * \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E})(R_J u) \leqslant 256^E \delta^{-2} \widetilde{w}_{B,E}(R_J u).$$

Thus it follows that (2.94) is bounded by

$$2^{12E} \delta^4 \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{30^k}{k!} \| M_k \mathcal{E}_J g \circ R_J^{-1} \|_{L^{p/2}(\tilde{w}_{B,E})} \right)^{p/2}.$$
 (2.95)

Inserting an extra $e(R_J \pi^{-1}(c_J) \cdot s)$ and applying a change of variables gives

$$\begin{split} |(M_k \mathcal{E}_J g)(R_J^{-1} s)| &= |\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g}(R_J(\eta + \pi^{-1}(c_J))) e(R_J \eta \cdot s) \Psi(\frac{\eta_1}{2\delta}) \Phi_k(\frac{\eta_2}{2\delta}) \, d\eta| \\ &= |\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{\mathcal{E}_J g}(\gamma) e(\gamma \cdot s) \widehat{m_k}(\gamma) \, d\gamma| \end{split}$$

where

$$\widehat{m_k}(\gamma) = \Psi(\frac{\gamma_1 \cos \theta_J + \gamma_2 \sin \theta_J - c_J}{2\delta}) \Phi_k(\frac{\gamma_2 \cos \theta_J - \gamma_1 \sin \theta_J - c_J^2}{2\delta}).$$

Then $|M_k \mathcal{E}_J g \circ R_J^{-1}| = |\mathcal{E}_J g * m_k| \leq |\mathcal{E}_J g| * |m_k|$ and Hölder's inequality implies

$$(|\mathcal{E}_J g| * |m_k|)^{p/2} \leq (|\mathcal{E}_J g|^{p/2} * |m_k|) ||m_k||_{L^1}^{p/2-1}.$$

Therefore

$$\|M_k \mathcal{E}_J g \circ R_J^{-1}\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})} \leq \|m_k\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)}^{1-2/p} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E}*|m_k|(-\cdot))}$$
(2.96)

where here $|m_k|(-\cdot)$ is the function $|m_k|(-x)$. Since Φ and Ψ are both Schwartz functions, our goal will be to use the rapid decay to show that $|m_k| \leq_E \widetilde{w}_{B,E}$. A change of variables gives

$$|m_k(x)| = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{m_k}(\gamma) e^{2\pi i x \cdot \gamma} \, d\gamma \right|$$

= $4\delta^2 \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Psi(w_1) e^{2\pi i (R_J^{-1}x)_1(2\delta w_1)} \, dw_1 \int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi_k(w_2) e^{2\pi i (R_J^{-1}x)_2(2\delta w_2)} \, dw_2 \right|.$

Since $\Psi = \Phi_0$, by Lemma 2.2.10,

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Psi(w_1) e^{2\pi i (R_J^{-1} x)_1 (2\delta w_1)} dw_1\right| \leq \frac{E^{5E}}{(1+2\delta |(R_J^{-1} x)_1|)^{2E}}$$

and

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}} \Phi_k(w_2) e^{2\pi i (R_J^{-1} x)_2 (2\delta w_2)} dw_2\right| \le \frac{6^k E^{5E}}{(1+2\delta |(R_J^{-1} x)_2|)^{2E}}.$$

Therefore

$$|m_k(x)| \le 4\delta^2 6^k E^{10E} \left(1 + \frac{|(R_J^{-1}x)_1|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-2E} \left(1 + \frac{|(R_J^{-1}x)_2|}{\delta^{-1}}\right)^{-2E}.$$
(2.97)

Thus we have

$$\|m_k\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)}^{1-2/p} \leqslant (6^k E^{11E})^{1-2/p}.$$
(2.98)

Applying Lemma 2.2.6 to (2.97) shows

$$|m_k(x)| \leq 4(6^k E^{10E}) \delta^2 \widetilde{w}_{B(0,\delta^{-1}),E}(x).$$

Note that this inequality does not change if we replace x with -x on the left hand side since the right hand side is radial. Lemma 2.2.1 then implies that

$$\widetilde{w}_{B,E} * |m_k|(-\cdot) \leqslant 6^k E^{11E} \widetilde{w}_{B,E}$$

and hence

$$\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E}*|m_k|(-\cdot))} \leq (6^k E^{11E})^{2/p} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}$$

Combining this with (2.95), (2.96), and (2.98) shows that

$$\frac{1}{|4B|} \int_{4B} H_J(x) \, dx \leqslant 2^{12E} E^{11Ep/2} \delta^4 (\sum_{k=0}^\infty \frac{180^k}{k!} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}(\tilde{w}_{B,E})})^{p/2} \leqslant E^{8Ep} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\tilde{w}_{B,E})}^{p/2}$$

where in the last inequality we have used that $E \ge 100$ and $p \ge 2$. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.6.3.

Proof of Theorem 2.6.1. If p = 4, the proof of Lemma 2.6.2 (in particular (2.89)) implies that we can just take $\mathcal{F}_i = P_{\delta}(I_i)$ and discard the requirement in (2.82) since the only reason we dyadically decomposed and restricted to p > 4 was to match the $L_{\#}^{p/2}$ with the ℓ^2 sum over $\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_i}$ in (2.83).

From now on we assume p > 4. For i = 1, 2, let

$$M_i := \max_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \left\| \mathcal{E}_J g \right\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}.$$

For each i = 1, 2, let $\mathcal{F}_{i,0}$ denote the set of intervals $J' \in P_{\delta}(I_i)$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})} \leqslant \delta^3 M_i$$

and partition the remaining intervals in $P_{\delta}(I_i)$ into $\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil$ many classes $\mathcal{F}_{i,k}$ (with $k = 1, 2, \ldots, \lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil$) such that

$$2^{k-1}\delta^3 M_i < \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\tilde{w}_{B,E})} \le 2^k \delta^3 M_i$$

for all $J' \in \mathcal{F}_{i,k}$. Note that $\mathcal{F}_{i,k}$ satisfies the hypothesis (2.82) given in Lemma 2.6.2. For $1 \leq k, l \leq \lfloor \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rfloor$, let

$$F_{\Delta}(k,l) := \left(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{1,k}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^2\right)^{p/4} \left(\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_{2,l}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^2\right)^{p/4}.$$

Note that $F_{\Delta}(a,b) = F_{\Delta}(b,a)$.

The left hand side of (2.81) is equal to

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} (\sum_{0 \leq k, l \leq \lceil \log_{2}(\delta^{-3}) \rceil} \sum_{\substack{J \in \mathcal{F}_{1,k} \\ J' \in \mathcal{F}_{2,l}}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{2} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})}^{2})^{p/4} \\
\leq (\lceil \log_{2}(\delta^{-3}) \rceil + 1)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \sum_{0 \leq k, l \leq \lceil \log_{2}(\delta^{-3}) \rceil} F_{\Delta}(k,l).$$
(2.99)

We then have

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \sum_{k,l=0}^{\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil} F_{\Delta}(k,l) = \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(0,0) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(0,k) + \sum_{k,l=1}^{\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(k,l).$$
(2.100)

We first consider the third sum on the right hand side of (2.100). In this case, both families of intervals satisfy (2.82) in Lemma 2.6.2. Thus applying Lemma 2.6.2 gives that

$$\sum_{k,l=1}^{\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3})\rceil} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(k,l) \leqslant \lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \rceil^2 E^{30Ep} d^{-1} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$
(2.101)

The first two sums on the right hand side of (2.100) are taken care of by trivial estimates. We consider the first sum. From Proposition 2.2.14, $\tilde{w}_{\Delta,E} \leq 48^E \tilde{w}_{B,E}$ (we can obtain a better constant using Lemma 2.2.1 and $1_{\Delta} \leq 1_B$ but this is not needed). Therefore for $J' \in \mathcal{F}_{i,0}$,

$$\max_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})} \leq \delta^{-4/p} 48^{2E/p} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})} \leq \delta^{3-4/p} 48^{2E/p} M_i.$$
(2.102)

Since $|\mathcal{F}_{i,0}| \leq |P_{\delta}(I_i)| \leq \delta^{-1}$,

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(0,0) \leq (|\mathcal{F}_{1,0}||\mathcal{F}_{2,0}|\delta^{12-16/p} 48^{8E/p} M_1^2 M_2^2)^{p/4} \\
\leq \delta^{5p/2-4} 48^{2E} \operatorname{geom}(M_i^2)^{p/2}.$$
(2.103)

Since p > 4, 5p/2 - 4 > 6 and so the union bound implies that (2.103) is bounded by

$$48^{2E} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$
(2.104)

Finally we consider the second sum on the right hand side of (2.100). From the same proof as (2.102), for $J' \in \mathcal{F}_{2,k}$ with $k \neq 0$ we have

$$\max_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} \left\| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \right\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{\Delta,E})} \leq \delta^{-4/p} 48^{2E/p} M_2.$$

Therefore by the same reasoning as in the previous paragraph we have

$$\frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(0,k) \leq (|\mathcal{F}_{1,0}||\mathcal{F}_{2,k}| (\delta^{3-4/p} 48^{2E/p} M_1)^2 (\delta^{-4/p} 48^{2E/p} M_2)^2)^{p/4} \\ \leq \delta^{p-4} 48^{2E} \operatorname{geom}(M_i^2)^{p/2}.$$

Since p > 4, we can discard the power of δ and hence

$$2\sum_{k=1}^{\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3})\rceil} \frac{1}{|\mathcal{B}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{B}} F_{\Delta}(0,k) \leq 2\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3})\rceil 48^{2E} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}^2)^{p/2}.$$

Combining this with (2.100), (2.101), and (2.104) shows that (2.99) (and hence the left hand side of (2.81)) is bounded above by

$$(\cdots)$$
 geom $\left(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|^2_{L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B,E})}\right)^{p/2}$

where (\cdots) is equal to

$$\left(\left\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \right\rceil + 1\right)^{\frac{p}{2}-2} \left(\left\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \right\rceil^2 E^{30Ep} d^{-1} + 2\left\lceil \log_2(\delta^{-3}) \right\rceil^2 48^{2E} + 48^{2E} \right).$$

Since $\delta < 1/10$ and $E \ge 100$, this is bounded above by $E^{50Ep}d^{-1}(\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{p/2}$ which completes the proof of Theorem 2.6.1.

2.7 The iteration: preliminaries

We now setup the iteration scheme as in [BD17] except this time we pay attention to various integrality constraints from previous sections. Let $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}, t \ge 1, q \le r$, and I_1, I_2 two intervals in [0,1]. Let B^r be a square in \mathbb{R}^2 with side length δ^{-r} . Define

$$G_t(q,r) := \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^q}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^t_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^r,E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

and

$$A_p(q,r) = \left(\underset{B^q \in P_{\delta^{-q}}(B^r)}{\operatorname{Avg}} G_2(q,q)^p \right)^{1/p} := \left(\frac{1}{|P_{\delta^{-q}}(B^r)|} \sum_{B^q \in P_{\delta^{-q}}(B^r)} G_2(q,q)^p \right)^{1/p}.$$

Strictly speaking we should be writing $G_t(q, B^r)$ instead of $G_t(q, r)$ since this expression is different for different B^r , however all that matters is keeping track of what our frequency and spatial scales are so for simplicity we will write r instead of B^r .

Remark 2.7.1. Note that for $G_t(q,r)$ and $A_p(q,r)$ to be defined, we need $|I_i|\delta^{-q} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta^{-r+q} \in \mathbb{N}$.

For a square B^q , note that $A_p(q,q) = G_2(q,q)$ for all p. In $A_p(q,r)$, increasing q represents smaller frequency scales and increasing r represents larger spatial scales.

We note that G_t and A_p here are essentially the same as D_p and A_p , respectively in [BD17]. The only difference is that here we use the weight \tilde{w}_B instead of w_B . This is because our bilinear decoupling constant is defined with weight \tilde{w}_B rather than w_B .

Observe that G_t and A_p obey the following two basic properties. First the t parameter in G_t obeys Hölder's inequality.

Lemma 2.7.2 (Hölder's inequality for G_t). For each square $B^r \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, if $(1-\alpha)/p_1 + \alpha/p_2 = 1/t$, then

$$G_t(q,r) \leq G_{p_1}(q,r)^{1-\alpha} G_{p_2}(q,r)^{\alpha}.$$

Proof. The factor $1/|B^r|$ in the definition of G_t balances out by how α is defined and hence we may replace $L^t_{\#}$, $L^{p_1}_{\#}$, and $L^{p_2}_{\#}$ with L^t , L^{p_1} , and L^{p_2} , respectively. Next, it suffices to prove that

$$\sum_{J\in P_{\delta^q}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^t(\widetilde{w}_{B^r})}^2 \leqslant \bigg(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta^q}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p_1}(\widetilde{w}_{B^r})}^2\bigg)^{1-\alpha} \bigg(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta^q}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^{p_2}(\widetilde{w}_{B^r})}^2\bigg)^{\alpha}.$$

Applying Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{l_{J}^{2}L^{t}}^{2} \leqslant \left\|\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p_{1}}}^{1-\alpha}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p_{2}}}^{\alpha}\right\|_{l_{J}^{2}}^{2} = \left\|\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p_{1}}}^{2(1-\alpha)}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p_{2}}}^{2\alpha}\right\|_{l_{J}^{1}} \leqslant \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{l_{J}^{2}L^{p_{1}}}^{2(1-\alpha)}\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{l_{J}^{2}L^{p_{2}}}^{2\alpha}$$

where here by L^p we mean $L^p(\widetilde{w}_{B^r})$. This completes the proof Lemma 2.7.2.

Second, the averaging in the r parameter in A_p allows us to increase it.

Lemma 2.7.3. Fix arbitrary positive integers $r \leq s \leq t$ and suppose δ is such that $|I_i|\delta^{-r} \in \mathbb{N}$, $\delta^{-s+r} \in \mathbb{N}$, and $\delta^{-t+s} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^t \subset \mathbb{R}^2$,

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{B^s \in P_{\delta^{-s}}(B^t)} A_p(r,s)^p = A_p(r,t)^p.$$

Proof. Fix arbitrary square $B^t \subset \mathbb{R}^2$. Expanding the left hand side, we have

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{B^s \in P_{\delta^{-s}}(B^t)} A_p(r,s)^p = \operatorname{Avg}_{B^s \in P_{\delta^{-s}}(B^t)B^r \in P_{\delta^{-r}}(B^s)} G_2(r,r)^p = \operatorname{Avg}_{B^r \in P_{\delta^{-r}}(B^t)} G_2(r,r)^p = A_p(r,t)^p.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.7.3.

Finally, we end this section with an outline of our strategy. As in Section 2.5, let $m \ge 1$, $E \ge 100, 2 \le p \le 6$, and $\nu := 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m E^{10E}}$. Let I_1, I_2 be two arbitrary intervals in $P_{\nu}([0, 1])$ which are at least ν -separated.

Lemma 2.7.4. Suppose δ was such that $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square B^1 of side length δ^{-1} , we have

$$\|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^p_{\#}(B^1)} \leq E^{100E} \nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/2^{m+1}} A_p(\frac{1}{2^m}, 1).$$

Proof. Note that since $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$, $\delta^{-1+1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$ since $m \ge 1$. This proof is just an application of Hölder, Minkowski, and Bernstein inequalities. We have

$$\begin{split} \|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^p_{\#}(B^1)}^p &= \frac{1}{|B^1|} \int_{B^1} \operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|^p = \frac{1}{|B^1|} \int_{B^1} \operatorname{geom} |\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} \mathcal{E}_J g|^p \\ &\leq (\nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/2^{m+1}})^p \frac{1}{|B^1|} \int_{B^1} \operatorname{geom} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2)^{p/2} \\ &= (\nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/2^{m+1}})^p \operatorname{Avg}_{B^{1/2^m} \in P_{\delta^{-1/2^m}}(B^1)} \|\operatorname{geom} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2)^{1/2} \|_{L^p_{\#}(B^{1/2^m})}^p. \end{split}$$

Note that

$$\|\operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)}|\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2)^{1/2}\|_{L^p(B^{1/2^m})}^p \leq \operatorname{geom}\|(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)}|\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2)^{1/2}\|_{L^p(B^{1/2^m})}^p.$$

Since $p \ge 2$,

$$\| (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2)^{1/2} \|_{L^p(B^{1/2^m})}^p \leq (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p(B^{1/2^m})}^2)^{p/2}.$$

Combining the above three centered equations gives that

$$\|\operatorname{geom}|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g\|\|_{L^p_{\#}(B^1)} \leq \nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/2^{m+1}} (\operatorname{Avg}_{B^{1/2^m} \in P_{\delta^{-1/2^m}}(B^1)} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^m}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|^2_{L^p_{\#}(B^{1/2^m})})^{p/2})^{1/p}.$$

Bernstein's inequality (Lemma 2.2.20) and that $p \leq 6, E \geq 100$ gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}_{\#}(B^{1/2^{m}})} \leqslant 4^{pE/2} (pE/2)^{23pE/2} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2^{m}},E})} \leqslant E^{100E} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2^{m}},E})}.$$

Inserting this above gives that

$$\|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^p_{\#}(B^1)} \leq E^{100E} \nu^{1/2} \delta^{-1/2^{m+1}} A_p(\frac{1}{2^m}, 1)$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 2.7.4.

Our target will be to prove an estimate of the form

$$A_p(2^{-m}, 1) \lesssim_{\delta,\nu,E,m} G_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$$
 (2.105)

because then combining this with Lemma 2.7.4 gives an upper bound on the bilinear decoupling constant. Proposition 2.5.3 then allows us to control the linear decoupling constant. To prove (2.105), we will use ball inflation, l^2L^2 decoupling to prove an estimate of the form $A_p(2^{-\ell}, 2^{-\ell+1}) \leq_{\nu,E} A_p(2^{-\ell+1}, 2^{-\ell+1})$ for each $\ell = 2, 3, \ldots, m$. Then Lemma 2.7.3 allows us to patch all the estimates together.

The iteration is easier in the $2 \le p \le 4$ regime and so we will first do that case, then we will move on to the case when 4 . Finally, to control the decoupling constant at<math>p = 6, we will apply Bernstein's inequality and use the decoupling constant at p' for some p'suitably close to 6.

2.8 Control of the bilinear decoupling constant

We now iterate to control the bilinear decoupling constant. We have two separate but similar cases. Our goal is to prove the following result.

Proposition 2.8.1. Fix integers $m \ge 3$ and $E \ge 100$. Let $\nu := 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m \cdot E^{10E}}$ and suppose δ is such that $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$.

(a) If $2 \leq p \leq 4$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta,m) \leq \nu^{1/2} (E^{300E} \nu^{-1/4})^m \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^{m+1}}}.$$

(b) If $4 , let <math>a = \frac{p-4}{p-2}$, then $D_{p,E}(\delta, m) \leq \nu^{1/2} (E^{300E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2})^m \delta^{-\frac{1}{2m+1}} D_{p,E}(\delta)^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}.$

2.8.1 Case $2 \le p \le 4$

Lemma 2.8.2. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^{2/2^{\ell}} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_4(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{100E} \nu^{-1/4} A_4(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}).$$

Proof. Fix an arbitrary square $B^{2/2^{\ell}}$ of side length $\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}$. Note that our restrictions on δ and ν also imply that $\nu \delta^{-2/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. We have

$$A_4(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^4 = \operatorname{Avg}_{B^{1/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}}}(B^{2/2^{\ell}})} G_2(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{1}{2^{\ell}})^4 \leqslant E^{200E} \nu^{-1} G_2(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^4$$
(2.106)

where the inequality is by an application of Theorem 2.6.1. By l^2L^2 decoupling (Lemma 2.2.21), for each interval $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}}(I_i)$, we have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}},E})}^{2} \leqslant E^{13E} \sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{2/2^{\ell}}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}},E})}^{2}.$$

Therefore

$$\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^2_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}}, E})}^2 \leqslant E^{13E} \sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}}(I_i)} \sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{2/2^{\ell}}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^2_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}}, E})}^2.$$

Since I_i , J and J' are all dyadic intervals, the above is equal to

$$E^{13E} \sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{2/2^{\ell}}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|^2_{L^2_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}},E})}.$$

Therefore

$$G_2(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{13E/2} G_2(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) = E^{13E/2} A_4(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}).$$

Combining this with (2.106) completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.2.

Hölder's inequality allows us to change from A_4 to A_p for $2 \le p \le 4$ at no cost.

Corollary 2.8.3. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^{2/2^{\ell}} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{100E} \nu^{-1/4} A_p(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}).$$

Proof. Applying Hölder's inequality to the definition of A_p shows that for $2 \leq p \leq 4$, $A_p(q,r) \leq A_4(q,r)$. Lemma 2.8.2 and that

$$A_4(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) = G_2(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) = A_p(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})$$

then completes the proof of Corollary 2.8.3.

Now for each square B^1 with side length δ^{-1} , we partition into squares of side length $\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}$ and sum the previous corollary over all such squares. This yields the following result.

Lemma 2.8.4. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1) \leqslant E^{100E} \nu^{-1/4} A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell-1}}, 1).$$

Proof. Fix an arbitrary square B^1 of side length δ^{-1} . Since $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$, we can dyadically partition B^1 into squares of side length $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}}$. Lemma 2.7.3 and Corollary 2.8.3 then give that

$$\begin{aligned} A_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}},1)^{p} &= \underset{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})}{\operatorname{Avg}} A_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}},\frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p} \\ &\leqslant E^{100Ep}\nu^{-p/4} \underset{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})}{\operatorname{Avg}} A_{p}(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}},\frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p} = E^{100Ep}\nu^{-p/4} A_{p}(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}},1)^{p}. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.4.

Now we combine the m-1 inequalities together to obtain the following result.

Lemma 2.8.5. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$, then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^m}, 1) \leqslant (E^{100E}\nu^{-1/4})^{m-1}A_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1).$$

Proof. Since $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$, $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ for $\ell = 1, 2, ..., m$. Since $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$, it follows that $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{m-1}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Since $\delta^{-1/2^{m-1}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$, we have that $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{m-2}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Continuing this shows that $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$ for $\ell = 1, 2, ..., m$. Iterating Lemma 2.8.4 a total of m - 1 times then completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.4.

We now finally relate $A_p(1/2, 1)$ to $G_p(1/2, 1)$ which will prove (2.105) in the case when $2 \le p \le 4$.

Lemma 2.8.6. If $\delta^{-1/2}$, $\nu \delta^{-1/2} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2},1) \leqslant 48^{E/p}G_p(\frac{1}{2},1).$$

Proof. Hölder's inequality (2.3) implies that

$$G_2(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) \leq \text{geom}(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2}, E})}^2)^{1/2}$$

Since $\|\operatorname{geom} f_i\|_p \leq \operatorname{geom} \|f_i\|_p$ and so

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2},1) \leqslant \frac{1}{|P_{\delta^{-1/2}}(B^1)|^{1/p}} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{B^{1/2} \in P_{\delta^{-1/2}}(B^1)} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2},E})}^2)^{p/2})^{1/p}.$$

Changing the $L^p_{\#}$ to L^p , interchanging the l^2 and l^p norms, and then applying Proposition 2.2.14 shows that this is $\leq 48^{E/p}G_p(1/2, 1)$ which completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.6.

Combining Lemmas 2.8.4 and 2.8.6 then proves (2.105) in the case when $2 \le p \le 4$.

Lemma 2.8.7. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$, then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^m}, 1) \leq (E^{200E}\nu^{-1/4})^{m-1}G_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1).$$

Combining Lemma 2.8.7 with Lemma 2.7.4 and applying the definition of the bilinear decoupling constant gives Proposition 2.8.1 in the case when $2 \le p \le 4$.

2.8.2 Case 4

We now implement the iteration in the case when $4 . This case is similar to the case when <math>2 \le p \le 4$. For $4 , <math>a = \frac{p-4}{p-2}$ satisfies

$$\frac{1}{p/2} = \frac{a}{p} + \frac{1-a}{2}.$$

Note that 2(1-a) decreases monotonically to 1 as p increase to 6. The analogue of Lemma 2.8.2 and Corollary 2.8.3 is as follows.

Lemma 2.8.8. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^{2/2^{\ell}} \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{60E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2} A_p(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{1-a} G_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^a$$

Proof. The proof is similar to that of Lemma 2.8.2. Since $p \ge 4$, in the definition of A_p , we can increase the $L^2_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2^{\ell}},E})$ to $L^{p/2}_{\#}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1/2^{\ell}},E})$ using Hölder's inequality. Combining this with Theorem 2.6.1 gives that

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{50E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2} G_{p/2}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}).$$

Hölder's inequality for G_t (Lemma 2.7.2) then shows that

$$G_{p/2}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant G_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^a G_2(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{1-a}.$$

Proceeding as at the end of the proof of Lemma 2.8.2 gives that

$$G_2(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}}) \leqslant E^{13E/2} A_p(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})$$

Putting the above three centered equations together then completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.8.

The analogue of Lemma 2.8.4 is as follows. The strategy of proof is essentially the same as that in Lemma 2.8.4 except this time we also need to deal with the $G_p(2^{-\ell}, 2^{-\ell+1})^a$ term from Lemma 2.8.8.

Lemma 2.8.9. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1) \leqslant E^{100E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2} A_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell-1}}, 1)^{1-a} G_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1)^a.$$

Proof. Fix an arbitrary square B^1 of side length δ^{-1} . Since $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$, we can dyadically partition B^1 into squares of side length $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}}$. Lemmas 2.7.3 and 2.8.8 and Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\begin{aligned} A_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}},1)^{p} &= \underset{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})}{\operatorname{Avg}} A_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}},\frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p} \\ &\leqslant E^{60Ep}\nu^{-\frac{p}{4}}(\log\frac{1}{\delta})^{p/2} \left(\underset{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})}{\operatorname{Avg}} A_{p}(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}},\frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p}\right)^{1-a} \left(\underset{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})}{\operatorname{Avg}} G_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}},\frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p}\right)^{a}. \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 2.7.3 gives that the first parenthetical term is equal to $A_p(\frac{2}{2^{\ell}}, 1)^{p(1-a)}$. Thus the lemma is complete if we can show that

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})} G_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p} \leqslant E^{40Ep} G_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1)^{p}.$$
(2.107)

Expanding definitions and interchanging geometric mean and the sum over $B^{2/2^{\ell}}$ gives that

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{Avg}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})} G_{p}(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, \frac{2}{2^{\ell}})^{p} \\ & \leq \frac{1}{|B^{1}|} \operatorname{geom}(\sum_{B^{2/2^{\ell}} \in P_{\delta^{-2/2^{\ell}}}(B^{1})} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}}(I_{i})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{2/2^{\ell}},E})}^{2})^{p/2}). \end{split}$$

Since $p \ge 2$, we can switch the l^2 and l^p norms inside the geometric mean. Finally, apply Proposition 2.2.14 then proves that the above is $\le 48^E G_p(\frac{1}{2^\ell}, 1)^p$ which proves (2.107). This completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.9.

Combining the above m-1 inequalities in Lemma 2.8.9 gives the following result.

Lemma 2.8.10. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$, then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^m},1) \leqslant (E^{100E}\nu^{-1/4}(\log\frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2})^{m-1}A_p(\frac{1}{2},1)^{(1-a)^{m-1}} \prod_{\ell=2}^m G_p(\frac{1}{2^\ell},1)^{a(1-a)^{m-\ell}}.$$

Proof. The proof is the same as that of Lemma 2.8.5.

To control $A_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$, we use Lemma 2.8.6. However, now we also need to control $G_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1)$ which we achieve by the following trivial bound.

Lemma 2.8.11. Fix an integer $2 \leq \ell \leq m$. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^{\ell}} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$G_p(\frac{1}{2^{\ell}}, 1) \leqslant E^{100E} D_{p,E}(\delta) G_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1).$$

Proof. For each $J \in P_{\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}}(I_i)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(B^{1})} &= \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}(g1_{J})\|_{L^{p}(B^{1})} \\ &\leqslant \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}(g1_{J})\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1},E})}^{2})^{1/2} \\ &= \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p}(\widetilde{w}_{B^{1},E})}^{2})^{1/2} \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality is because both $\delta^{1/2^{\ell}}$ and $\delta^{1/2}$ are dyadic. Applying Propositions 2.2.11 and 2.3.11 then shows that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p}(\tilde{w}_{B^{1},E})} \leq 12^{E/p} E^{70E} D_{p,E}(\delta) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}(J)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{p}(\tilde{w}_{B^{1},E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

Combining this with the definition of $G_p(1/2^{\ell}, 1)$ then completes the proof of Lemma 2.8.11.

Combining Lemmas 2.8.6, 2.8.10, and 2.8.11 gives the following result.

Lemma 2.8.12. Suppose $\delta^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ and $\nu \delta^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$, then for each square $B^1 \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, we have

$$A_p(\frac{1}{2^m}, 1) \leqslant (E^{100E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2})^m D_{p,E}(\delta)^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}} G_p(\frac{1}{2}, 1)$$

This with Lemma 2.7.4 then proves Proposition 2.8.1 when $4 . Note that in this case we obtain a small improvement over the trivial bound of <math>D_{p,E}(\delta,m) \leq_{p,E} D_{p,E}(\delta)$ which is the key to obtaining control of the linear decoupling constant when 4 .

2.9 Decoupling at lacunary scales

Using Propositions 2.5.3 and 2.8.1 we bound the linear decoupling constant at a sequence of lacunary scales. The lacunary scales are because of the integrality conditions in Proposition 2.8.1. Our goal will be to prove the following result.

Proposition 2.9.1. Let $E \ge 100$, $m \ge 3$, $\nu := 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m E^{10E}}$, and $\delta \in \{\nu^{2^m n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}$.

(a) If $2 \leq p \leq 4$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq 2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}}.$$

(b) If 4 , then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant (2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m})^{\frac{1}{[2/(p-2)]m-1}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2[4/(p-2)]m-1}}$$

(c) If p = 6, then for $p' \in (4, 6)$, we have

$$D_{6,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{50E} (2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m})^{\frac{1}{(2/(p'-2))^{m-1}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2[4/(p'-2)]^{m-1}} - 2(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6})}$$

The proof of Proposition 2.9.1 actually shows that $D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-1/2^m}$ for $2 \leq p \leq 4$, but the extra 2^{m^2} is harmless and will allow us to treat all three cases in essentially the same manner. Note that in Propositions 2.8.1 and 2.9.1, the bound when $2 \leq p \leq 4$ is same as the bound for 4 except with <math>p = 4 (and so a = 0) and no $(\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2}$. When we prove Proposition 2.9.1, we will only consider the more complicated case when 4 and <math>p = 6.

2.9.1 Case 4

We first prove the following lemma.

Lemma 2.9.2. Let $\nu = 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m \cdot E^{10E}}$, $\delta^{1/2} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$, and $a = \frac{p-4}{p-2}$. Let K be the largest integer such that $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$. Suppose $(\delta\nu^{-2i})^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ for all i = 0, 1, ..., K - 1. Then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq 2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}} \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}.$$

Proof. Observe that

$$\nu(\delta\nu^{-2i})^{-1/2^m} = (\delta\nu^{-2(i+2^{m-1})})^{-1/2^m}$$

and so for $i = 0, 1, \dots, K - 2^{m-1} - 1$, we have that $\nu(\delta \nu^{-2i})^{-1/2^m} \in \mathbb{N}$.

For $i = 0, 1, ..., K - 2^{m-1} - 1$, we may apply Proposition 2.8.1 which gives that for such i,

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i},m) \leqslant (E^{300E}\nu^{-1/4}(\log\frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2})^m \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^{m+1}}} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}$$

For $i = K - 2^{m-1}, \ldots, K - 1$, the trivial bound (Lemma 2.5.1) gives that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i},m) \leq 4^{E}\nu^{1/2}(\delta\nu^{-2i})^{-1/4} \leq 4^{E}(\delta^{-1/2}\nu^{K})^{1/2}\nu^{-\frac{1}{2}(2^{m-1}-1)}.$$
(2.108)

By how K is defined, $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K-1} \notin 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$. Since $\delta^{1/2}$ and ν are dyadic numbers, we must then have $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K-1} \in 2^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and hence $\delta^{1/2}\nu^{-K-1} \ge 1$ which implies that $\delta^{-1/2}\nu^{K} \le \nu^{-1}$. Inserting

this into (2.108) gives that for such i,

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i},m) \leqslant 4^E \nu^{-2^m/4}$$

Therefore Proposition 2.5.3 gives that

$$\begin{split} D_{p,E}(\delta) \\ &\leqslant \delta^{100E \log_{\nu} E} \nu^{-1} \max(1, 4^{E} \nu^{-2^{m}/4}, \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta \nu^{-2i}, m)) \\ &\leqslant \delta^{100E \log_{\nu} E} \nu^{-1} \max\left(4^{E} \nu^{-2^{m}/4}, (E^{300E} \nu^{-1/4} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{1/2})^{m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^{m+1}}} \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta \nu^{-2i})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}\right) \\ &\leqslant E^{300Em} \nu^{-2^{m}} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{m/2} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^{m+1}}+100E \log_{\nu} E} \max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta \nu^{-2i})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}} \end{split}$$

where in the last inequality we have used that $D_{p,E}(\delta) \ge 12^{-E/p}$ for all δ which follows from the same proof as Lemma 2.3.5. Observe that $\log \frac{1}{\delta} \le \frac{1}{ae} \delta^{-a}$ for a > 0, and hence

$$(\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{m/2} \leqslant 2^{m^2} E^{4Em} \delta^{-\frac{5}{2^m \cdot E^{8E}}}.$$

Furthermore, from our definition of ν , $\delta^{100E \log_{\nu} E} \leq \delta^{-\frac{10}{2^m E^{8E}}}$. Inserting this into the above completes the proof of Lemma 2.9.2.

Because of the generality of the statement of the previous lemma, we can upgrade the above result so that the same maximum appears on both left and right hand sides.

Lemma 2.9.3. Suppose ν, δ , K, and a are as in Lemma 2.9.2. The left hand side of the inequality in Lemma 2.9.2 can be replaced with $\max_{i=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2i})$.

Proof. Fix a $j = 0, 1, ..., K - 2^{m-1} - 1$. Let K(j) := K - j. Since K is the largest integer such that $\delta^{1/2} \nu^{-K} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}$, it follows that K(j) is the largest integer such that

$$(\delta\nu^{-2j})^{1/2}\nu^{-K(j)} = \delta^{1/2}\nu^{-(K(j)+j)} \in 2^{-\mathbb{N}}.$$

We similarly also have $(\delta \nu^{-2(i+j)})^{-1/2^m} \in 2^{\mathbb{N}}$ for $i = 0, 1, \dots, K(j) - 1$. Therefore Lemma 2.9.2 gives that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2j}) \leq 2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}} \max_{\ell=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1-j} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2(j+\ell)})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}$$
$$\leq 2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}} \max_{\ell=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2\ell})^{1-(1-a)^{m-1}}.$$

Since j on the left hand side of the above inequality is arbitrary and the right hand side is independent of j, the above inequality is still true if we take the maximum over all j on the left hand side. This completes the proof of Lemma 2.9.3.

This gives the following corollary.

Corollary 2.9.4. Suppose ν, δ, K , and a are as in Lemma 2.9.2. Then

$$\max_{\ell=0,1,\dots,K-2^{m-1}-1} D_{p,E}(\delta\nu^{-2\ell}) \le (2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}})^{\frac{1}{(1-a)^{m-1}}}$$

Taking $\ell = 0$ in Corollary 2.9.4 and observing that the choice of $\delta \in {\{\nu^{2^m n}\}_{n=1}^{\infty}}$ satisfies the hypothesis of Lemma 2.9.2 completes the proof of Proposition 2.9.1 when 4 . $Indeed, with this choice of <math>\delta$, $K = 2^{m-1}n - 1$ and so observe that

$$(\delta \nu^{-2i})^{-1/2^m} = (\nu^{-1})^{n-2i/2^m}$$

and for i = 0, 1, ..., K - 1, we have $n - 2i/2^m \ge 0$.

2.9.2 Case p = 6

At p = 6 the argument no longer gives a better than trivial estimate since here 2(1 - a) = 1. The advantage we have however is that we know a good bound on $D_{p',E}(\delta)$ for all p' arbitrary close to 6. This combined with reverse Hölder and Hölder is enough to give a better than trivial bound at p = 6.

Let 4 < p' < 6 to be chosen later. The proof of Lemma 2.2.20 along with Corollary 2.2.9 and Proposition 2.2.11 imply that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{6}(B)} &\leq 25^{(1/p'-1/6)}E^{22E} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{p'}(w_{B,E})} \\ &\leq E^{23E}D_{p',E}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta^{1/2}}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{p'}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

Hölder's inequality to increase $L^{p'}$ to L^6 then implies that

$$D_{6,E}(\delta) \leq E^{50E}(\delta^{-2})^{1/p'-1/6} D_{p',E}(\delta).$$

Combining this with Proposition 2.9.1 for 4 < p' < 6 shows that under the hypothesis of Proposition 2.9.1 and arbitrary 4 < p' < 6, we have

$$D_{6,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{50E} (2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m})^{\frac{1}{(2/(p'-2))^{m-1}}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2[4/(p'-2)]^{m-1}} - 2(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6})}.$$

Thus if we choose p' so that 1/p' - 1/6 is sufficiently small and then choose m sufficiently large, we once again can do better than the trivial bound of $O_{E,p}(\delta^{-1/4})$. This completes the proof of Proposition 2.9.1 when p = 6.

2.10 Decoupling at all scales

While Proposition 2.9.1 is for a lacunary sequence of scales, recall that the decoupling constant defined in (2.1) is for $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$. To upgrade Proposition 2.9.1 to all scales $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ we use lacunarity and Proposition 2.4.1.

Lemma 2.10.1. Suppose $\delta \in [\delta_1, \delta_2] \cap \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ and $\delta_2/\delta_1 = c$. Then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{100E} 2^{E/p} c^{1/4} D_{p,E}(\delta_2).$$

Proof. Using Proposition 2.4.1 and the trivial bound on decoupling we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq E^{100E} D_{p,E}(\delta_2) D_{p,E}(\frac{\delta}{\delta_2})$$

$$\leq E^{100E} 2^{E/p} (\frac{\delta_2}{\delta})^{1/4} D_{p,E}(\delta_2) \leq E^{100E} 2^{E/p} c^{1/4} D_{p,E}(\delta_2)$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 2.10.1.

Combining this lemma with Proposition 2.9.1 gives the following result.

Proposition 2.10.2. Let $E \ge 100$, $m \ge 3$, and suppose $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$.

(a) If $2 \leq p \leq 4$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant 2^{4^m E^{15E}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}}.$$

(b) If 4 , then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \le \left(2^{4^m E^{15E}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}}\right)^{\frac{1}{[2/(p-2)]^{m-1}}}.$$

(c) If p = 6, then for $p' \in (4, 6)$ we have

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant (2^{4^m E^{15E}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}})^{\frac{1}{[2/(p'-2)]^{m-1}}} \delta^{-2(\frac{1}{p'}-\frac{1}{6})}.$$

Proof. Recall that $\nu = 2^{-16 \cdot 2^m E^{10E}}$. The proof of all three parts is essentially the same, so we only concentrate on the $2 \le p \le 4$ case. If $\delta \in [\nu^{2^m}, 1] \cap \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, the trivial bound gives that

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leq 2^{E/p} \nu^{-2^m/4} = 2^{E/p + 4 \cdot 4^m E^{10E}}.$$
(2.109)

From Lemma 2.10.1, if $\delta \in [\nu^{2^m(n+1)}, \nu^{2^m n}] \cap \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ for some $n \ge 1$, then

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant E^{100E} 2^{E/p} \nu^{-2^m/4} D_{p,E}(\nu^{2^m n}).$$

Inserting the bound from Proposition 2.9.1 gives that the above is bounded by

$$E^{100E} 2^{E/p} \nu^{-2^m/4} 2^{m^2} E^{400Em} \nu^{-2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}} \leqslant 2^{m^2} E^{500Em} \nu^{-\frac{5}{4}2^m} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}}.$$

Using that $E \ge 100$ and the definition of ν , we have

$$2^{m^2} E^{500Em} \nu^{-\frac{5}{4}2^m} \leqslant 2^{100 \cdot 4^m \cdot E^{10E}} \leqslant 2^{4^m E^{15E}}.$$

This then shows

$$D_{p,E}(\delta) \leqslant 2^{4^m E^{15E}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}}$$

for all $\delta \in [\nu^{2^m(n+1)}, \nu^{2^m n}]$, $n \ge 1$. Combining with (2.109) completes the proof of Proposition 2.10.2 when $2 \le p \le 4$. When $4 , <math>\frac{1}{2/(p-2)} > 1$ and so we can repeat the same proof as above in the remaining two cases of the proposition. This completes the proof of Proposition 2.10.2.

2.11 Proof of Theorem 2.1.1

Since Proposition 2.10.2 is true for all $m \ge 3$ and $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$, we now optimize the bound on $D_{p,E}(\delta)$ in m. This will give the proof of Theorem 2.1.1.

Proof of Theorem 2.1.1. We combine the cases of $2 \le p \le 4$ and $4 . Fix arbitrary <math>\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-2}$ and $E \ge 100$. Let m be the largest integer such that

$$2^{-m} \leqslant E^{5E} (\log_2 \delta^{-1})^{-1/3} < 2^{-m+1}.$$
(2.110)

Since $\delta < 2^{-64E^{15E}}$, $m \ge 3$. Then

$$2^{4^m E^{15E}} \delta^{-\frac{1}{2^m}} \leq \exp(5(\log 2)^{1/3} E^{5E} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{2/3}) \leq \exp(5 \cdot E^{5E} (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{2/3})$$
(2.111)

which finishes the case of Theorem 2.1.1 when $2 \le p \le 4$. For 4 , observe that

$$\left(\frac{2}{p-2}\right)^{-(m-1)} = \exp\left(-(m-1)\log\frac{2}{p-2}\right) \le 2\left(\log\frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{-\frac{1}{3}\log_2\left(\frac{2}{p-2}\right)}.$$
 (2.112)

Combining (2.111) and (2.112) then proves Theorem 2.1.1 in the case when 4 .

For the case when p = 6, choose m as in (2.110). Then for 4 < p' < 6,

$$D_{6,E}(\delta) \leq \exp(10 \cdot E^{5E}(\log\frac{1}{\delta})^{\frac{2}{3} - \frac{1}{3}\log_2(\frac{2}{p'-2})})\delta^{-2(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6})}$$
$$\leq \exp(E^{6E}(\log\frac{1}{\delta})[(\log\frac{1}{\delta})^{-\frac{1}{3}\log_2(\frac{4}{p'-2})} + (\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6})]).$$
(2.113)

It thus remains to optimize

$$\left(\log\frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{-\frac{1}{3}\log_2(\frac{4}{p'-2})} + \left(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6}\right)$$

for 4 < p' < 6.

Let $\lambda := \frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6}$ and suppose we choose p' sufficiently close to 6 such that $\lambda < 1/4$. Then $\frac{4}{p'-2} = \frac{1+6\lambda}{1-3\lambda}$ and

$$\log \frac{4}{p'-2} \ge 8\lambda$$

Thus

$$\left(\log\frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{-\frac{1}{3}\log_2\frac{4}{p'-2}} + \left(\frac{1}{p'} - \frac{1}{6}\right) \le \left(\log\frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{-3\lambda} + \lambda$$

Setting

$$\lambda = \frac{\log(3\log\log\frac{1}{\delta})}{3\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}}$$

gives that

$$\left(\log\frac{1}{\delta}\right)^{-3\lambda} + \lambda = \frac{1 + \log 3 + \log\log\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}}{3\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}} \leqslant \frac{\log\log\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}}{\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}}$$
(2.114)

where we have used that $1 + \log 3 \leq \log \log \log \frac{1}{\delta}$ for our range of δ . Note that for our range of δ , $\lambda < 1/4$ since this is equivalent to $3 \log \log \frac{1}{\delta} < (\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{3/4}$ which is certainly satisfied if $\delta^{-1} > 10^8$. Inserting (2.114) into (2.113) then completes the proof of Theorem 2.1.1.

CHAPTER 3

An l^2 decoupling interpretation of efficient congruencing in 2D

3.1 Introduction

Since we will once again be studying l^2 decoupling for the parabola, we adopt essentially the same notation as in Chapter 2 with a few small differences (namely δ in Chapter 2 is δ^2 in this chapter and we just set E = 100). For an interval $J \subset [0, 1]$ and $g : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{C}$, we define

$$(\mathcal{E}_J g)(x) := \int_J g(\xi) e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2) \, d\xi$$

where $e(a) := e^{2\pi i a}$. For an interval I, let $P_{\ell}(I)$ be the partition of I into intervals of length ℓ . By writing $P_{\ell}(I)$, we are assuming that $|I|/\ell \in \mathbb{N}$. We will also similarly define $P_{\ell}(B)$ for squares B in \mathbb{R}^2 . Next if B = B(c, R) is a square in \mathbb{R}^2 centered at c of side length R, let

$$w_B(x) := (1 + \frac{|x - c|}{R})^{-100}$$

We will always assume that our squares have sides parallel to the x and y-axis. We observe that $1_B \leq 2^{100} w_B$. For a function w, we define

$$||f||_{L^p(w)} := (\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |f(x)|^p w(x) \, dx)^{1/p}.$$

For $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, let $D(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{6}(B)} \leq D(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(3.1)

for all $g:[0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B in \mathbb{R}^2 of side length δ^{-2} . Let $D_p(\delta)$ be the decoupling constant where the L^6 in (3.1) is replaced with L^p . Since $1_B \leq w_B$, the triangle inequality combined with Cauchy-Schwarz shows that $D_p(\delta) \leq_p \delta^{-1/2}$. The l^2 decoupling theorem for the paraboloid proven by Bourgain and Demeter in [BD15] implies that for the parabola we have $D_p(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and this range of p is sharp.

This chapter attempts to probe the connections between efficient congruencing and l^2 decoupling in the simplest case of the parabola. Our proof of l^2 decoupling for the parabola is inspired by the exposition of efficient congruencing in Pierce's Bourbaki seminar exposition [Pie19]. This proof will give the following result.

Theorem 3.1.1. For $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$ such that $0 < \delta < e^{-200^{200}}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \leq \exp(30 \frac{\log \frac{1}{\delta}}{\log \log \frac{1}{\delta}}).$$

This improves upon a previous result of Theorem 2.1.1 in Chapter 2. In the context of discrete Fourier restriction, Theorem 3.1.1 implies that for all N sufficiently large and arbitrary sequence $\{a_n\} \subset l^2$, we have

$$\|\sum_{|n|\leqslant N} a_n e^{2\pi i (nx+n^2t)} \|_{L^6(\mathbb{T}^2)} \lesssim \exp(O(\frac{\log N}{\log \log N})) (\sum_{|n|\leqslant N} |a_n|^2)^{1/2}$$

which rederives (up to constants) the upper bound obtained by Bourgain in [Bou93, Proposition 2.36] but without resorting to using a divisor bound. It is an open problem whether the $\exp(O(\frac{\log N}{\log \log N}))$ can be improved.

3.1.1 More notation

Once again we will let η be a Schwartz function such that $\eta \ge 1_{B(0,1)}$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\eta}) \subset B(0,1)$. For B = B(c, R) we also define $\eta_B(x) := \eta(\frac{x-c}{R})$. Since we care about explicit constants in Section 3.2, we will use the explicit η constructed in Corollary 2.2.9. In particular, for this η , $\eta_B \le 10^{2400} w_B$. For the remaining sections in this chapter, we will ignore this constant. We refer the reader to [BD17, Section 4] and Chapter 2, Section 2.2 for some useful properties of the weight w_B and η_B . Finally we define

$$||f||_{L^p_{\#}(B)} := \left(\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |f(x)|^p \, dx\right)^{1/p}$$

and given a collection \mathcal{C} of squares, we let

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in \mathcal{C}} f(\Delta) := \frac{1}{|\mathcal{C}|} \sum_{\Delta \in \mathcal{C}} f(\Delta).$$

3.1.2 Outline of proof of Theorem 3.1.1

Our argument is inspired by the discussion of efficient congruencing in [Pie19, Section 4] which in turn is based off Heath-Brown's simplification [Hea15] of Wooley's proof of the cubic case of Vinogradov's mean value theorem [Woo16].

Our first step, much like the first step in both 2D efficient congruencing and decoupling, is to bilinearize the problem. Throughout we will assume $\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/100)$.

Fix arbitrary integers $a, b \ge 1$. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. This implies that $\delta \le \min(\nu^a, \nu^b)$ and the requirement that $\nu^{\max(a,b)}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ is equivalent to having $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. For this δ and ν , let $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{4} \leqslant M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{6} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2}) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2})^{2}$$
(3.2)

for all squares B of side length δ^{-2} , $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, and all intervals $I \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$, $I' \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ with $d(I,I') \ge 3\nu$. We will say that such I and I' are 3ν -separated. Applying Hölder followed by the triangle inequality and Cauchy-Schwarz shows that $M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)$ is finite. This is not the only bilinear decoupling constant we can use (see (3.27) and (3.31) in Sections 3.4 and 3.5, respectively), but in this outline we will use (3.2) because it is closest to the one used in [Pie19] and the one we will use in Section 3.2.

Our proof of Theorem 3.1.1 is broken into the following four lemmas. We state them below ignoring explicit constants for now.

Lemma 3.1.2 (Parabolic rescaling). Let $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ be such that $\sigma, \delta, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let I be an arbitrary interval in [0, 1] of length σ . Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^6(B)} \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\sigma}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}$$

for every $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and every square B of side length δ^{-2} .

Lemma 3.1.3 (Bilinear reduction). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \leq D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} M_{1,1}(\delta, \nu)$$

Lemma 3.1.4. Let a and b be integers such that $1 \leq a \leq 2b$. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu).$$

Lemma 3.1.5. Suppose b is an integer and δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim M_{b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$

Applying Lemma 3.1.4, we can move from $M_{1,1}$ to $M_{2,1}$ and then Lemma 3.1.5 allows us to move from $M_{2,1}$ to $M_{1,2}$ at the cost of a square root of $D(\delta/\nu)$. Applying Lemma 3.1.4 again moves us to $M_{2,4}$. Repeating this we can eventually reach $M_{2^{N-1},2^N}$ paying some O(1) power of ν^{-1} and the value of the linear decoupling constants at various scales. This combined with Lemma 3.1.3 and the choice of $\nu = \delta^{1/2^N}$ leads to the following result.

Lemma 3.1.6. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose δ was such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N}}}) + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^{N}}} D(\delta^{1/2})^{\frac{1}{3\cdot 2^{N}}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}$$

This then gives a recursion which shows that $D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ (see Section 3.2.3 for more details).

The proof of Lemma 3.1.2 is essentially a change of variables and applying the definition of the linear decoupling constant (some technical issues arise because of the weight w_B , see Chapter 2, Section 2.4). The idea is that a cap on the paraboloid can be stretched to the whole paraboloid without changing any geometric properties. The bilinear reduction Lemma 3.1.3 follows from Hölder's inequality. The argument we use is from Tao's exposition on the Bourgain-Demeter-Guth proof of Vinogradov's mean value theorem [Tao15]. In general dimension, the multilinear reduction follows from a Bourgain-Guth argument (see [BG11]) and [BD17, Section 8]). We note that if a and b are so large that $\nu^a, \nu^b \approx \delta$ then $M_{a,b} \approx O(1)$ and so the goal of the iteration is to efficiently move from small a and b to very large a and b.

Lemma 3.1.4 is the most technical of the four lemmas and is where we use a Fefferman-Cordoba argument in Section 3.2. It turns out we can still close the iteration with Lemma 3.1.4 replaced by $M_{a,b} \leq M_{b,b}$ for $1 \leq a < b$ and $M_{b,b} \leq \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}$. Both these estimates come from the same proof of Lemma 3.1.4 and is how we approach the iteration in Sections 3 and 4 (see Lemmas 3.3.3 and 3.3.5 and their rigorous counterparts Lemmas 3.4.7 and 3.4.8). The proof of these lemmas is a consequence of l^2L^2 decoupling and bilinear Kakeya.

As a and b get larger and larger the estimate in Lemma 3.1.4 generally gets better and better than the trivial bound of $M_{a,b} \leq \nu^{-(2b-a)/6} M_{2b,b}$. The $\nu^{-1/6}$ comes from the ν -transversality of I_1 and I_2 in the definition of $M_{a,b}$. In particular, should be viewed as $(\nu^{-(2-1)})^{1/6}$ where the 1/6 comes from that we are working in L^6 and the $\nu^{-(2-1)}$ comes from $\nu^{-(d-1)}$ with d = 2 which is the power of ν arising from multilinear Kakeya. Finally, Lemma 3.1.5 is an application of Hölder and parabolic rescaling.

3.1.3 Comparison with 2D efficient congruencing as in [Pie19, Section 4]

The main object of iteration in [Pie19, Section 4] is the following bilinear object

$$I_{1}(X; a, b) = \max_{\xi \neq \eta \pmod{p}} \int_{(0,1]^{k}} |\sum_{\substack{1 \leq x \leq X \\ x \equiv \xi \pmod{p^{a}}}} e(\alpha_{1}x + \alpha_{2}x^{2})|^{2} |\sum_{\substack{1 \leq y \leq X \\ y \equiv \eta \pmod{p^{a}}}} e(\alpha_{1}y + \alpha_{2}y^{2})|^{4} d\alpha.$$

Lemma 3.1.2-3.1.5 correspond directly to Lemmas 4.2-4.5 of [Pie19, Section 4]. The observation that Lemmas 4.2 and 4.3 of [Pie19] correspond to parabolic rescaling and bilinear reduction, respectively was already observed by Pierce in [Pie19, Section 8].

We can think of p as ν^{-1} , $J(X)/X^3$ as $D(\delta)$, and $p^{a+2b}I_1(X;a,b)/X^3$ as $M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^6$. In the definition of I_1 , the $\max_{\xi \neq \eta \pmod{p}}$ condition can be thought of as corresponding to the transversality condition that I_1 and I_2 are ν -transverse (or since we are in 2D, ν -separated) intervals of length ν . The integral over $(0, 1]^2$ corresponds to an integral over B. Finally the expression

$$\sum_{\substack{1 \le x \le X\\x \equiv \xi \pmod{p^a}}} e(\alpha_1 x + \alpha_2 x^2)|,$$

can be thought of as corresponding to $|\mathcal{E}_I g|$ for I an interval of length ν^a and so the whole of $I_1(X; a, b)$ can be thought of as $\int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_1} g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4$ where $\ell(I_1) = \nu^a$ and $\ell(I_2) = \nu^b$ with I_1 and I_2 are $O(\nu)$ -separated. This will be our interpretation in Section 3.2.

Interpreting the proof of Lemma 3.1.4 using the uncertainty principle, we reinterpret $I_1(X; a, b)$ as (ignoring weight functions)

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I'}g \|_{L^{4}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{4}$$
(3.3)

where I and I' are length ν^a and ν^b , respectively and are ν -separated. The uncertainty principle says that (3.3) is essentially equal to $\frac{1}{|B|} \int_B |\mathcal{E}_I g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I'} g|^4$.

Finally in Section 3.5 we replace (3.3) with

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} (\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{2}) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I')} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{2})^{2}$$

where I and I' are length ν and ν -separated. Note that when b = 1 this then is exactly equal to $\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{4}$. The interpretation given above is now similar to the A_{p} object studied by Bourgain-Demeter in [BD17].

3.1.4 Comparison with 2D l^2 decoupling as in [BD17]

Let $M_{a,b}^{(2,4)}(\delta,\nu)$ be the bilinear constant defined in (3.2). Let $M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\delta,\nu)$ be the bilinear constant defined as in (3.2) with a = b = 1 except instead we use the true geometric mean. This latter bilinear decoupling constant is the one used by Bourgain and Demeter in [BD17].

The largest difference between our proof and the Bourgain-Demeter proof is how we iterate. Both proofs obtain that

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} M_{1,1}^{(s,6-s)}(\delta,\nu)$$
 (3.4)

where s = 3 corresponds to the Bourgain-Demeter proof while s = 2 corresponds to our proof. However we proceed to analyze the iteration slightly differently. Bourgain-Demeter applies (3.4) to $D(\delta/\nu)$ and $D(\delta/\nu^2)$ to obtain

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^2}) + \nu^{-1} (M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\frac{\delta}{\nu},\nu) + M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\delta,\nu))$$

$$\lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^3}) + \nu^{-1} (M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\frac{\delta}{\nu^2},\nu) + M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\frac{\delta}{\nu},\nu) + M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\delta,\nu))$$

and we continue to iterate until δ/ν^{2^n} is of size 1. It now remains to analyze $M_{1,1}^{(3,3)}(\delta,\nu)$ for various scales δ which is done by the A_p expressions that are used in [BD17]. For our proof, in two steps (of applying Lemmas 3.1.4 and 3.1.5) we obtain

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-7/6} M_{1,2}^{(2,4)}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu})^{1/2} \\ \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-5/4} M_{2,4}^{(2,4)}(\delta,\nu)^{1/4} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^2})^{1/4} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu})^{1/2}$$

and we continue to iterate δ/ν^{2^n} is of size 1. Note that while the iteration here is able to tackle the endpoint L^6 estimate directly and as written [BD17] could not do so, the iteration in [BD17] can be slightly modified so it can handle the endpoint estimate directly (thanks to Pavel Zorin-Kranich for pointing this out).

3.1.5 Comparison of the iteration in Section 3.2 and 3.4

The way we iterate in Section 3.2 will be slightly different than how we iterate in Section 3.4. In Section 3.2, we first apply the trivial bound $M_{1,1} \leq \nu^{-1/6} M_{1,2}$. Then Lemmas 3.1.4 and 3.1.5 imply that for integer $b \geq 2$,

$$M_{b/2,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} M_{b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$

Thus from this we can access $M_{2^{N-1},2^N}$ for arbitrary large N but lose only $\nu^{-O(1)}$. In contrast, for Section 3.4, we use that $M_{a,b} \leq M_{b,b}$ for $1 \leq a < b$ (from l^2L^2 decoupling) and $M_{b,b} \leq \nu^{-1/6}M_{2b,b}$ (from bilinear Kakeya). Combining these two inequalities with Lemma 3.1.5 gives that for integer $b \geq 1$,

$$M_{b,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$

Now we can access the constant $M_{2^N,2^N}$ for arbitrary large N but lose only $\nu^{-O(1)}$. Both iterations give similar quantitative estimates.

3.1.6 Overview of chapter

Theorem 3.1.1 will be proved in Section 3.2 via a Fefferman-Cordoba argument. This argument does not generalize to proving that $D_p(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ except for p = 4, 6. However in Section 3.3, by the uncertainty principle we reinterpret a key lemma from Section 2 (Lemma 3.2.8) which allows us to generalize the argument in Section 3.2 so that it can work for all $2 \leq p \leq 6$. We make this completely rigorous in Section 3.4 by defining a slightly different (but morally equivalent) bilinear decoupling constant. This will make use of l^2L^2 decoupling, Bernstein's inequality, and bilinear Kakeya. A basic version of the ball inflation inequality similar to that used in [BD17, Theorem 9.2] and [BDG16, Theorem 6.6] makes an appearance. Finally in Section 3.5, we reinterpret the argument made in Section 3.4 and write an argument that is more like that given in [BD17]. We create a 1-parameter family of bilinear constants which in some sense "interpolate" between the Bourgain-Demeter argument and our argument here.

The three arguments in Sections 3.2-3.5 are similar but will use slightly different bilinear decoupling constants. We will only mention explicit constants in Section 3.2. In Sections 3.4 and 3.5, for simplicity, we will only prove that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$. The estimates in those sections can be made explicit by using explicit constants obtained from Chapter 2. Because the structure of the iteration in Sections 3.4 and 3.5 is the same as that in Section 3.2, we obtain essentially the same quantitative bounds as in Theorem 3.1.1 when making explicit the bounds in Sections 3.4 and 3.5.

In Section 3.6 we modify the argument in the previous sections to illustrate how to tackle l^2L^p decoupling for the parabola for 2 , taking <math>p = 4 as an example. Finally in Section 3.7, we address ongoing work with Shaoming Guo and Po-Lam Yung about efficient congruencing in [Hea15] and sketch how we give a new (bilinear) proof of sharp l^4L^{12} decoupling for the moment curve $t \mapsto (t, t^2, t^3)$.

3.2 Proof of Theorem 3.1.1

We recall the definition of the bilinear decoupling constant $M_{a,b}$ as in (3.2). The arguments in this section will rely strongly on that the exponents in the definition of $M_{a,b}$ are 2 and 4, though we will only essentially use this in Lemma 3.2.8.

Given two expressions x_1 and x_2 , let

$$\operatorname{geom}_{2,4} x_i := x_1^{2/6} x_2^{4/6}.$$

Hölder gives $\|\operatorname{geom}_{2,4} x_i\|_p \leq \operatorname{geom}_{2,4} \|x_i\|_p$.

3.2.1 Parabolic rescaling and consequences

The linear decoupling constant $D(\delta)$ obeys the following important property.

Lemma 3.2.1 (Parabolic rescaling). Let $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ be such that $\sigma, \delta, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let I be an arbitrary interval in [0, 1] of length σ . Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I}g\|_{L^{6}(B)} \leq 10^{20000} D(\frac{\delta}{\sigma}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for every $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and every square B of side length δ^{-2} .

Proof. See [BD17, Proposition 7.1] for the proof without explicit constants and Section 2.4 with E = 100 for a proof with explicit constants (and a clarification of parabolic rescaling with weight w_B).

As an immediate application of parabolic rescaling we have almost multiplicativity of the decoupling constant.

Lemma 3.2.2 (Almost multiplicativity). Let $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ be such that $\sigma, \delta, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, then

$$D(\delta) \leq 10^{20000} D(\sigma) D(\delta/\sigma).$$

Proof. See Proposition 2.4.1 with E = 100.
The trivial bound of $O(\nu^{(a+2b)/6}\delta^{-1/2})$ for $M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)$ is too weak for applications. We instead give another trivial bound that follows from parabolic rescaling.

Lemma 3.2.3. If δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \leq 10^{20000} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^a})^{1/3} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{2/3}.$$

Proof. Fix arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ which are 3ν -separated. Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\|\operatorname{geom}_{2,4} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^6(B)}^6 \leq \|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g\|_{L^6(B)}^2 \|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^6(B)}^4.$$

Parabolic rescaling bounds this by

$$10^{120000} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^a})^2 D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^4 (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_1)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I_2)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^2.$$

Taking sixth roots then completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.3.

Hölder and parabolic rescaling allows us to interchange the a and b in $M_{a,b}$.

Lemma 3.2.4. Suppose $b \ge 1$ and δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu) \leq 10^{10000} M_{b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\delta/\nu^b)^{1/2}.$$

Proof. Fix arbitrary I_1 and I_2 intervals of length ν^{2b} and ν^b , respectively which are ν -separated. Hölder's inequality then gives

$$\||\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^{1/3}|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^{2/3}\|_{L^6(B)}^6 \leq (\int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^4|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^2)^{1/2} (\int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^6)^{1/2}.$$

Applying the definition of $M_{b,2b}$ and parabolic rescaling bounds the above by

$$(10^{20000})^3 M_{b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^3 D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^3 (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_1)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I_2)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^2$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.4.

Lemma 3.2.5 (Bilinear reduction). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \le 10^{30000} (D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} M_{1,1}(\delta, \nu)).$$

Proof. Let $\{I_i\}_{i=1}^{\nu^{-1}} = P_{\nu}([0,1])$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{6}(B)} &= \|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i \leq \nu^{-1} \\ 1 \leq i,j \leq \nu^{-1} \\ |i-j| \leq 3}} \mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{6}(B)} \leq \|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i,j \leq \nu^{-1} \\ L^{3}(B)}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|\|_{L^{3}(B)}^{1/2} + \|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i,j \leq \nu^{-1} \\ |i-j| > 3}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|\|_{L^{3}(B)}^{1/2} \right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.5)

We first consider the diagonal terms. The triangle inequality followed by Cauchy-Schwarz gives that

$$\|\sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant \nu^{-1}\\|i-j|\leqslant 3}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g| \|_{L^3(B)} \leqslant \sum_{\substack{1\leqslant i,j\leqslant \nu^{-1}\\|i-j|\leqslant 3}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g\|_{L^6(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g\|_{L^6(B)}.$$

Parabolic rescaling bounds this by

$$10^{40000} D\left(\frac{\delta}{\nu}\right)^2 \sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le \nu^{-1} \\ |i-j| \le 3}} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i) \\ j \in P_{\delta}(I_i)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 \right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i) \\ |i-j| \le 3}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ |i-j| \le 3}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta}(I_j)}} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2 + \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_j) \\ J \in P_{\delta$$

Therefore the first term in (3.5) is bounded above by

$$10^{30000} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}.$$
(3.6)

Next we consider the off-diagonal terms. We have

$$\|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i, j \leq \nu^{-1} \\ |i-j| > 3}} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g| \|_{L^3(B)}^{1/2} \leq \nu^{-1} \max_{\substack{1 \leq i, j \leq \nu^{-1} \\ |i-j| > 3}} \||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g| |\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g| \|_{L^3(B)}^{1/2}$$

Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|\|_{L^3(B)}^{1/2} \leq \||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|^{1/3}|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|^{2/3}\|_{L^6(B)}^{1/2}\||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|^{2/3}|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|^{1/3}\|_{L^6(B)}^{1/2}$$
(3.7)

and therefore from (3.2) (and using that $\nu \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$), the second term in (3.5) is bounded by

$$\sqrt{2}\nu^{-1}M_{1,1}(\delta,\nu)(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}.$$

Combining this with (3.6) and applying the definition of $D(\delta)$ then completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.5.

3.2.2 A Fefferman-Cordoba argument

In the proof of Lemma 3.2.8 we need a version of $M_{a,b}$ with both sides being $L^6(w_B)$. The following lemma shows that these two constants are equivalent.

Lemma 3.2.6. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}$, $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $M'_{a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\int |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{4} w_{B} \leq M'_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{6} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2}) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{6}(w_{B})}^{2})^{2}$$

for all squares B of side length δ^{-2} , $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, and all 3ν -separated intervals $I \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I' \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$. Then

$$M'_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \le 12^{100/6} M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu).$$

Remark 3.2.7. Since $1_B \leq w_B$, $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu) \leq M'_{a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ and hence Lemma 3.2.6 implies $M_{a,b} \sim M'_{a,b}$.

Proof. Fix arbitrary 3ν -separated intervals $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$. It suffices to assume that B is centered at the origin.

Corollary 2.2.4 gives

$$\|\operatorname{geom}_{2,4} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^6(w_B)}^6 \leqslant 3^{100} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|\operatorname{geom}_{2,4} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^6_{\#}(B(y,\delta^{-2}))}^6 w_B(y) \, dy.$$

Applying the definition of $M_{a,b}$ gives that the above is

$$\leq 3^{100} \delta^4 M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^6 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \operatorname{geom}_{2,4} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_{B(y,\delta^{-2})})}^2 w_B(y) \, dy \right)$$

$$\leq 3^{100} \delta^4 M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^6 \operatorname{geom}_{2,4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_{B(y,\delta^{-2})})}^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot 6} w_B(y) \, dy$$

$$\leq 3^{100} \delta^4 M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^6 \operatorname{geom}_{2,4} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_{B(y,\delta^{-2})})}^6 w_B(y) \, dy \right)^{1/3} \right)^3$$

where the second inequality is by Hölder and the third inequality is by Minkowski. Since B is centered at the origin, $w_B * w_B \leq 4^{100} \delta^{-4} w_B$ (Lemma 2.2.1) and hence

$$\delta^4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_{B(y,\delta^{-2})})}^6 w_B(y) \, dy \leqslant 4^{100} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^6.$$

This then immediately implies that $M'_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \leq 12^{100/6} M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)$ which completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.6.

We have the following key technical lemma of this paper. We encourage the reader to compare the argument with that of [Pie19, Lemma 4.4]. This lemma is a large improvement over the trivial bound of $M_{a,b} \leq \nu^{-(2b-a)/6} M_{2b,b}$ especially at very small scales (large a, b).

Lemma 3.2.8. Let a and b be integers such that $1 \leq a \leq 2b$. Suppose δ and ν was such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \leqslant 10^{1000} \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu)$$

Proof. It suffices to assume that B is centered at the origin with side length δ^{-2} . The integrality conditions on δ and ν imply that $\delta \leq \nu^{2b}$ and $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Fix arbitrary intervals $I_1 = [\alpha, \alpha + \nu^a] \in P_{\nu^a}([0, 1])$ and $I_2 = [\beta, \beta + \nu^b] \in P_{\nu^b}([0, 1])$ which are 3ν -separated.

Let $g_{\beta}(x) := g(x + \beta), T_{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2\beta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, and $d := \alpha - \beta$. Shifting I_2 to $[0, \nu^b]$ gives that

$$\int_{B} |(\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g)(x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g)(x)|^{4} dx = \int_{B} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(T_{\beta}x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{b}]}g_{\beta})(T_{\beta}x)|^{4} dx$$
$$= \int_{T_{\beta}(B)} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{b}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{4} dx.$$
(3.8)

Note that d can be negative, however since $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and $d = \alpha - \beta$, $\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^a]}g_\beta$ is defined. Since $|\beta| \leq 1$, $T_\beta(B) \subset 100B$. Combining this with $1_{100B} \leq \eta_{100B}$ gives that (3.8) is

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{b}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{4} \eta_{100B}(x) dx$$

$$= \sum_{J_{1},J_{2}\in P_{\nu^{2b}}([d,d+\nu^{a}])} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} (\mathcal{E}_{J_{1}}g_{\beta})(x) \overline{(\mathcal{E}_{J_{2}}g_{\beta})(x)} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{b}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{4} \eta_{100B}(x) dx.$$
(3.9)

We claim that if $d(J_1, J_2) > 10\nu^{2b-1}$, the integral in (3.9) is equal to 0.

Suppose $J_1, J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}([d, d + \nu^a])$ such that $d(J_1, J_2) > 10\nu^{2b-1}$. Expanding the integral in (3.9) for this pair of J_1, J_2 gives that it is equal to

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \left(\int_{J_1 \times [0,\nu^b]^2 \times J_2 \times [0,\nu^b]^2} \prod_{i=1}^3 g_\beta(\xi_i) \overline{g_\beta(\xi_{i+3})} e(\cdots) \prod_{i=1}^6 d\xi_i \right) \eta_{100B}(x) \, dx \tag{3.10}$$

where the expression inside the $e(\cdots)$ is

$$((\xi_1 - \xi_4)x_1 + (\xi_1^2 - \xi_4^2)x_2) + ((\xi_2 + \xi_3 - \xi_5 - \xi_6)x_1 + (\xi_2^2 + \xi_3^2 - \xi_5^2 - \xi_6^2)x_2) + 101$$

Interchanging the integrals in ξ and x shows that the integral in x is equal to the Fourier inverse of η_{100B} evaluated at

$$(\sum_{i=1}^{3} (\xi_i - \xi_{i+3}), \sum_{i=1}^{3} (\xi_i^2 - \xi_{i+3}^2))$$

Since the Fourier inverse of η_{100B} is supported in $B(0, \delta^2/100)$, (3.10) is equal to 0 unless

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{3} (\xi_{i} - \xi_{i+3})\right| \leq \delta^{2}/200$$

$$\left|\sum_{i=1}^{3} (\xi_{i}^{2} - \xi_{i+3}^{2})\right| \leq \delta^{2}/200.$$
(3.11)

Since $\delta \leq \nu^{2b}$ and $\xi_i \in [0, \nu^b]$ for i = 2, 3, 5, 6, (3.11) implies

$$|\xi_1 - \xi_4| |\xi_1 + \xi_4| = |\xi_1^2 - \xi_4^2| \le 5\nu^{2b}.$$
(3.12)

Since I_1, I_2 are 3ν -separated, $|d| \ge 3\nu$. Recall that $\xi_1 \in J_1, \xi_4 \in J_2$ and J_1, J_2 are subsets of $[d, d + \nu^a]$. Write $\xi_1 = d + r$ and $\xi_4 = d + s$ with $r, s \in [0, \nu^a]$. Then

$$|\xi_1 + \xi_4| = |2d + (r+s)| \ge 6\nu - |r+s| \ge 6\nu - 2\nu^a \ge 4\nu.$$
(3.13)

Since $d(J_1, J_2) > 10\nu^{2b-1}$, $|\xi_1 - \xi_4| > 10\nu^{2b-1}$. Therefore the left hand side of (3.12) is $> 40\nu^{2b}$, a contradiction. Thus the integral in (3.9) is equal to 0 when $d(J_1, J_2) > 10\nu^{2b-1}$.

The above analysis implies that (3.9) is

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{J_1, J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}([d, d+\nu^a])\\ d(J_1, J_2) \leq 10\nu^{2b-1}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(\mathcal{E}_{J_1}g_\beta)(x)|| (\mathcal{E}_{J_2}g_\beta)(x)|| (\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^b]}g_\beta)(x)|^4 \eta_{100B}(x) \, dx$$

Undoing the change of variables as in (3.8) gives that the above is equal to

$$\sum_{\substack{J_1, J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1) \\ d(J_1, J_2) \leq 10\nu^{2b-1}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |(\mathcal{E}_{J_1}g)(x)|| (\mathcal{E}_{J_2}g)(x)|| (\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g)(x)|^4 \eta_{100B}(T_\beta x) \, dx.$$
(3.14)

Observe that

$$\eta_{100B}(T_{\beta}x) \le 10^{2400} w_{100B}(T_{\beta}x) \le 10^{2600} w_{100B}(x) \le 10^{2800} w_B(x)$$

where the second inequality is an application of Lemma 2.2.16 and the last inequality is because $w_B(x)^{-1}w_{100B}(x) \leq 10^{200}$. An application of Cauchy-Schwarz shows that (3.14) is

$$\leq 10^{2800} \sum_{\substack{J_1, J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1) \\ d(J_1, J_2) \leq 10\nu^{2b-1}}} (\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{J_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 w_B)^{1/2} (\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{J_2}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 w_B)^{1/2} dg_{I_2}g_{I_$$

Note that for each $J_1 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)$, there are $\leq 10000\nu^{-1}$ intervals $J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)$ such that $d(J_1, J_2) \leq 10\nu^{2b-1}$. Thus two applications of Cauchy-Schwarz bounds the above by

$$10^{2802} \nu^{-1/2} \left(\sum_{J_1 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{J_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 w_B\right)^{1/2} \times \left(\sum_{J_1 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)} \sum_{\substack{J_2 \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_2) \\ d(J_1,J_2) \leqslant 10\nu^{2b-1}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{J_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 w_B\right)^{1/2}.$$

Since there are $\leq 10000\nu^{-1}$ relevant J_2 for each J_1 , the above is

$$\leq 10^{3000} \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4 w_B$$

$$\leq 10^{3000} 12^{100} M_{2b,b}(\delta, \nu)^6 (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_1)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I_2)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^2$$

where the last inequality is an application of Lemma 3.2.6. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.8. $\hfill \Box$

Iterating Lemmas 3.2.4 and 3.2.8 repeatedly gives the following estimate.

Lemma 3.2.9. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2^N} \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_{1,1}(\delta,\nu) \leq 10^{60000} \nu^{-1/3} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^{N-1}}})^{\frac{1}{3\cdot 2^N}} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^N}})^{\frac{2}{3\cdot 2^N}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^j}})^{1/2^{j+1}}$$

Proof. Lemmas 3.2.4 and 3.2.8 imply that if $1 \leq a \leq 2b$ and δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \leqslant 10^{20000} \nu^{-1/6} M_{b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$
(3.15)

Since $\nu^{2^N} \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, $\nu^i \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ for $i = 0, 1, 2, \dots, 2^N$. Applying (3.15) repeatedly gives

$$M_{1,1}(\delta,\nu) \leqslant 10^{40000} \nu^{-1/3} M_{2^{N-1},2^N}(\delta,\nu)^{\frac{1}{2^N}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^j}})^{1/2^{j+1}}.$$

Bounding $M_{2^{N-1},2^N}$ using Lemma 3.2.3 then completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.9.

Remark 3.2.10. A similar analysis as in (3.11)-(3.13) shows that if $1 \leq a < b$ and δ and ν were such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then $M_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \leq M_{b,b}(\delta,\nu)$. Though we do not iterate this way in this section, it is enough to close the iteration with $M_{a,b} \leq M_{b,b}$ for $1 \leq a < b$, and $M_{b,b} \leq \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}$, and Lemma 3.2.4. This gives $M_{b,b} \leq \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,2b}^{1/2} D(\delta/\nu^b)^{1/2}$ which is much better than the trivial bound. We interpret the iteration and in particular Lemma 3.2.8 this way in Sections 3.3-3.5.

3.2.3 The $O_{\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ bound

Combining Lemma 3.2.9 with Lemma 3.2.5 gives the following.

Corollary 3.2.11. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2^N} \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \leq 10^{10^5} \left(D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-4/3} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^{N-1}}})^{\frac{1}{3\cdot 2^N}} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^N}})^{\frac{2}{3\cdot 2^N}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^j}})^{1/2^{j+1}} \right)$$

Choosing $\nu = \delta^{1/2^N}$ in Corollary 3.2.11 and requiring that $\nu = \delta^{1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/100)$ gives the following result.

Corollary 3.2.12. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and suppose δ was such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-2^N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \leq 10^{10^5} \left(D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^N}}) + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^N}} D(\delta^{1/2})^{\frac{1}{3\cdot 2^N}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}} \right).$$

Corollary 3.2.12 allows us to conclude that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$. To see this, the trivial bounds for $D(\delta)$ are $1 \leq D(\delta) \leq \delta^{-1/2}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let λ be the smallest real number such that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. From the trivial bounds, $\lambda \in [0, 1/2]$. We claim that $\lambda = 0$. Suppose $\lambda > 0$.

Choose N to be an integer such that

$$\frac{5}{6} + \frac{N}{2} - \frac{4}{3\lambda} \ge 1.$$
 (3.16)

Then by Corollary 3.2.12, for $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\delta < 100^{-2^N}$,

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon} + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^N}-\frac{\lambda}{6\cdot 2^N}-\sum_{j=0}^{N-1}(1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}})\frac{\lambda}{2^{j+1}}-\varepsilon}$$
$$\lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon} + \delta^{-\lambda(1-(\frac{5}{6}+\frac{N}{2}-\frac{4}{3\lambda})\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon}$$

where in the last inequality we have used (3.16). Applying almost multiplicativity of the linear decoupling constant (similar to Section 2.10 or the proof of Lemma 3.2.14 later) then shows that for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$,

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{N,\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon}.$$

This then contradicts minimality of λ . Therefore $\lambda = 0$ and thus we have shown that $D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$.

3.2.4 An explicit bound

Having shown that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$, we now make this dependence on ε explicit. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. Then $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$.

Lemma 3.2.13. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$ and suppose $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let integer $N \geq 1$ be such that

$$\frac{5}{6} + \frac{N}{2} - \frac{4}{3\varepsilon} > 0.$$

Then for δ such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-2^N}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \leq 2 \cdot 10^{10^5} C_{\varepsilon}^{1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Proof. Inserting $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ into Corollary 3.2.12 gives that for all integers $N \geq 1$ and δ such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}, \, \delta < 100^{-2^N}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 10^{10^5} (C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} + C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{2}{3\cdot 2^N}} \delta^{\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}(\frac{5}{6}+\frac{N}{2}-\frac{4}{3\varepsilon})}) \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

Thus by our choice of N,

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 10^{10^5} (C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} + C_{\varepsilon}^{1 - \frac{2}{3 \cdot 2^N}}) \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$
 (3.17)

There are two possibilities. If $\delta < C_{\varepsilon}^{-1}$, then since $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$, (3.17) becomes

$$D(\delta) \leq 10^{10^5} (C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} + C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{2}{3\cdot 2^N}}) \delta^{-\varepsilon} \leq 2 \cdot 10^{10^5} C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$
(3.18)

On the other hand if $\delta \ge C_{\varepsilon}^{-1}$, the trivial bound gives

$$D(\delta) \leq 2^{100/6} \delta^{-1/2} \leq 2^{100/6} C_{\varepsilon}^{1/2}$$

which is bounded above by the right hand side of (3.18). This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.13.

Note that Lemma 3.2.13 is only true for δ satisfying $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-2^N}$. We now use almost multiplicativity to upgrade the result of Lemma 3.2.13 to all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$.

Lemma 3.2.14. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$ and suppose $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 10^{10^6} 2^{4 \cdot 8^{1/\varepsilon}} C_{\varepsilon}^{1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{8^{1/\varepsilon}}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$.

Proof. Choose

$$N := \left\lceil \frac{8}{3\varepsilon} - \frac{5}{3} \right\rceil \tag{3.19}$$

and $\delta \in \{2^{-2^N n}\}_{n=7}^{\infty} = \{\delta_n\}_{n=7}^{\infty}$. Then for these δ , $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-2^N}$. If $\delta \in (\delta_7, 1] \cap \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, then

$$D(\delta) \leq 2^{100/6} \delta^{-1/2} \leq 2^{100/6} 2^{2^{N-1.7}}.$$

If $\delta \in (\delta_{n+1}, \delta_n]$ for some $n \ge 7$, then almost multiplicativity and Lemma 3.2.13 gives that

$$D(\delta) \leq 10^{20000} D(\delta_n) D(\frac{\delta}{\delta_n})$$

$$\leq 10^{20000} (2 \cdot 10^{10^5} C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} \delta_n^{-\varepsilon}) (2^{100/6} (\frac{\delta_n}{\delta})^{1/2})$$

$$\leq 10^{10^6} 2^{2^{N-1}} C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

where N is as in (3.19) and the second inequality we have used the trivial bound for $D(\delta/\delta_n)$.

Combining both cases above then shows that if N is chosen as in (3.19), then

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 10^{10^6} 2^{7 \cdot 2^{N-1}} C_{\varepsilon}^{1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2^N}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Since we are no longer constrained by having $N \in \mathbb{N}$, we can increase N to be $3/\varepsilon$ and so we have that

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 10^{10^6} 2^{4 \cdot 8^{1/\varepsilon}} C_{\varepsilon}^{1 - \frac{\varepsilon}{8^{1/\varepsilon}}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.14.

Lemma 3.2.15. For all $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$ and all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \leqslant 2^{200^{1/\varepsilon}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Proof. Let $P(C, \lambda)$ be the statement that $D(\delta) \leq C\delta^{-\lambda}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Lemma 3.2.14 implies that for $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/100)$,

$$P(C_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon) \implies P(10^{10^6}2^{4\cdot 8^{1/\varepsilon}}C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{8^{1/\varepsilon}}},\varepsilon).$$

Iterating this M times gives that

$$P(C_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon) \implies P([10^{10^{6}}2^{4\cdot8^{1/\varepsilon}}]^{\sum_{j=0}^{M-1}(1-\frac{\varepsilon}{8^{1/\varepsilon}})^{j}}C_{\varepsilon}^{(1-\frac{\varepsilon}{8^{1/\varepsilon}})^{M}},\varepsilon).$$

Letting $M \to \infty$ thus gives that for all $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$,

$$D(\delta) \leqslant (10^{10^6} 2^{4 \cdot 8^{1/\varepsilon}})^{8^{1/\varepsilon}/\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon} \leqslant 2^{100^{1/\varepsilon}/\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon} \leqslant 2^{200^{1/\varepsilon}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.2.15.

Optimizing in ε then gives the proof of our main result.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1. Note that if $\eta = \log A - \log \log A$, then $\eta \exp(\eta) = A(1 - \frac{\log \log A}{\log A}) \leq A$. Choose ε such that $A = (\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta}), \ \eta = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \log 200$, and $\eta = \log A - \log \log A$. Then

$$200^{1/\varepsilon}\log 2 \leqslant \varepsilon \log \frac{1}{\delta}$$

and hence

$$2^{200^{1/\varepsilon}}\delta^{-\varepsilon} \leq \exp(2\varepsilon\log\frac{1}{\delta}). \tag{3.20}$$

Since $\eta = \log A - \log \log A$, we need to ensure that our choice of ε is such that $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. Thus we need

$$\varepsilon = \frac{\log 200}{\log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta})) - \log \log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta}))} < \frac{1}{100}$$

Note that for all x > 0, $\log \log x < (\log x)^{1/2}$ and hence for all $0 < \delta < e^{-\frac{4}{\log_2 200}}$,

$$\log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta})) - \log \log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta})) \\ \ge \log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta})) - [\log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta}))]^{1/2} \\ \ge \frac{1}{2} \log((\log_2 200)(\log \frac{1}{\delta})) \ge \frac{1}{2} \log \log \frac{1}{\delta}.$$
(3.21)

Thus we need $0 < \delta < e^{-\frac{4}{\log_2 200}}$ to also be such that

$$\frac{2\log 200}{\log\log\frac{1}{\delta}} < \frac{1}{100}$$

and hence $\delta < e^{-200^{200}}$. Therefore using (3.20) and (3.21), we have that for $\delta \in (0, e^{-200^{200}}) \cap \mathbb{N}^{-1}$,

$$D(\delta) \leqslant \exp(30 \frac{\log \frac{1}{\delta}}{\log \log \frac{1}{\delta}}).$$

This completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.1.

3.3 An uncertainty principle interpretation of Lemma 3.2.8

The main point was of Lemma 3.2.8 was to show that if $1 \leq a \leq 2b$, δ and ν such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4} \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_{1})} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{J}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4}$$
(3.22)

for arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ such that $d(I_1, I_2) \gtrsim \nu$. From Lemma 3.2.9, we only need (3.22) to be true for $1 \leq a \leq b$. Our goal of this section is to prove (heuristically under the uncertainty principle) the following two statements:

(I) For $1 \leq a < b$, $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu) \leq M_{b,b}(\delta, \nu)$; in other words

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 \lesssim \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4$$
(3.23)

for arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ such that $d(I_1, I_2) \gtrsim \nu$.

108

(II) $M_{b,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu)$; in other words

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4} \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_{1})} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{J}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4}$$
(3.24)

for arbitrary $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ such that $d(I_1, I_2) \gtrsim \nu$.

Replacing 4 with p-2 then allows us to generalize to $2 \le p < 6$ (in Section 3.6 we illustrate this in the case of p = 4). Note that all results in this section are only heuristically true. In this section we will pretend all weight functions are just indicator functions and will make these heuristics rigorous in the next section.

The particular instance of the uncertainty principle we will use is the following. Let I be an interval of length 1/R with center c. Fix an arbitrary $R \times R^2$ rectangle T oriented in the direction (-2c, 1). Heuristically for $x \in T$, $(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x)$ behaves like $a_{T,I}e^{2\pi i\omega_{T,I}\cdot x}\mathbf{1}_T(x)$. Here the amplitude a_T depends on g, T, and I and the phase ω_T depends on T and I. In particular, $|(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x)|$ is essentially constant on every $R \times R^2$ rectangle oriented in the direction (-2c, 1). This also implies that if Δ is a square of side length R, then $|(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x)|$ is essentially constant on Δ (with constant depending on Δ) and $||\mathcal{E}_I g||_{L^p_{\#}(\Delta)}$ is essentially constant with the same constant independent of p.

We introduce two standard tools from [BD17, BDG16].

Lemma 3.3.1 (Bernstein's inequality). Let I be an interval of length 1/R and Δ a square of side length R. If $1 \le p \le q < \infty$, then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^q_{\#}(\Delta)} \lesssim \|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\Delta)}.$$

We also have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)} \lesssim \|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^p_{\#}(\Delta)}$$

Proof. See [BD17, Corollary 4.3] or Lemma 2.2.20 for a rigorous proof.

The reverse inequality in the above lemma is just an application of Hölder.

Lemma 3.3.2 (l^2L^2 decoupling). Let I be an interval of length $\ge 1/R$ such that $R|I| \in \mathbb{N}$ and Δ a square of side length R. Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^2(\Delta)} \lesssim (\sum_{J \in P_{1/R}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^2(\Delta)}^2)^{1/2}.$$

Proof. See [BD17, Proposition 6.1] or Lemma 2.2.21 for a rigorous proof.

The first inequality (3.23) is an immediate application of the uncertainty principle and l^2L^2 decoupling.

Lemma 3.3.3. Suppose $1 \leq a < b$ and δ and ν were such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 \lesssim \sum_{J \in P_{
u^b}(I_1)} \int_B |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4$$

for arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ such that $d(I_1, I_2) \gtrsim \nu$. In other words, $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu) \leq M_{b,b}(\delta, \nu).$

Proof. It suffices to show that for each $\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)$, we have

$$\int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 \lesssim \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)} \int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4.$$

Since I_2 is an interval of length ν^b , $|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|$ is essentially constant on Δ' . Therefore the above reduces to showing

$$\int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 \lesssim \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)} \int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2$$

which since a < b and I_1 is of length ν^a is just an application of $l^2 L^2$ decoupling. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.3.

Inequality (3.24) is a consequence of the following ball inflation lemma which is reminiscent of the ball inflation in the Bourgain-Demeter-Guth proof of Vinogradov's mean value theorem. The main point of this lemma is to increase the spatial scale so we can apply l^2L^2 decoupling while keep the frequency scales constant. **Lemma 3.3.4** (Ball inflation). Let $b \ge 1$ be a positive integer. Suppose I_1 and I_2 are ν -separated intervals of length ν^b . Then for any square Δ' of side length ν^{-2b} , we have

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta)}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta)}^4 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta')}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta')}^4$$

Proof. The uncertainty principle implies that $|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|$ and $|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|$ are essentially constant on Δ . Therefore we essentially have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta)}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta)}^4 \sim \frac{1}{|P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')|} \sum_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1} g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4 \\ &= \frac{1}{|\Delta'|} \int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1} g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4. \end{aligned}$$

On Δ' , note that $|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g| \sim \sum_{T_1} |c_{T_1}| \mathbf{1}_{T_1}$ and similarly for I_2 where $\{T_i\}$ are the $\nu^{-b} \times \nu^{-2b}$ rectangles covering Δ' and pointing in the normal direction of the cap on the parabola living above I_i . Since I_1 and I_2 are ν -separated, for any two tubes T_1, T_2 corresponding to I_1, I_2 , we have $|T_1 \cap T_2| \leq \nu^{-1-2b}$. Therefore

$$\frac{1}{|\Delta'|} \int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 \sim \nu^{-1} \frac{\nu^{-2b}}{|\Delta'|} \sum_{T_1,T_2} |c_{T_1}|^2 |c_{T_2}|^4.$$

Since

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g\|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta')}^2 \|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta')}^4 \sim \frac{\nu^{-6b}}{|\Delta'|^2} \sum_{T_1,T_2} |c_{T_1}|^2 |c_{T_2}|^4$$

and $|\Delta'| = \nu^{-4b}$, this completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.4.

We now prove inequality (3.24).

Lemma 3.3.5. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)} \int_B |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4$$

for arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ such that $d(I_1, I_2) \gtrsim \nu$. In other words, $M_{b,b}(\delta, \nu) \leq \nu^{-1/6} M_{2b,b}(\delta, \nu).$ *Proof.* This is an application of ball inflation, l^2L^2 decoupling, Bernstein, and the uncertainty principle. Since $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, $\nu^b\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta \leq \nu^{2b}$. Fix arbitrary $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$. We have

$$\frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4} = \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{\Delta \in P_{\nu-b}(B)} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4}
\leq \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{\Delta \in P_{\nu-b}(B)} (\int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2}) ||\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g||_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)}^{4}
\leq \frac{1}{|P_{\nu-b}(B)|} \sum_{\Delta \in P_{\nu-b}(B)} (\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2}) ||\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g||_{L^{4}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{4}
= \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu-b}(B)} ||\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g||_{L^{2}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{2} ||\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g||_{L^{4}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{4}$$
(3.25)

where the second inequality is because of Bernstein. From ball inflation we know that for each $\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)$,

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(\Delta')} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta)}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta)}^4 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta')}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta')}^4.$$

Averaging the above over all $\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)$ shows that (3.25) is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta')}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta')}^4.$$

Since I_1 is of length ν^b , $l^2 L^2$ decoupling gives that the above is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_{1})} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(\Delta')}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(\Delta')}^{4} \\ = \nu^{-1} \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_{1})} \sum_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L^{4}(\Delta')}^{4} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(\Delta')}^{2} \\ = \nu^{-1} \frac{1}{|B|} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_{1})} \sum_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} (\int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{4}) \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(\Delta')}^{2}.$$

Since $|\mathcal{E}_J g|$ is essentially constant on Δ' , the uncertainty principle gives that essentially we have

$$\left(\int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4\right) \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta')}^2 \sim \int_{\Delta'} |\mathcal{E}_Jg|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^4.$$

Combining the above two centered equations then completes the proof of Lemma 3.3.5. \Box

Remark 3.3.6. The proof of Lemma 3.3.5 is reminiscent of our proof of Lemma 3.2.8. The $\|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)}$ can be thought as using the trivial bound for ξ_i , i = 2, 3, 5, 6 to obtain (3.12). Then we apply some data about separation, much like in ball inflation here to get large amounts of cancellation.

3.4 An alternate proof of $D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$

The ball inflation lemma and our proof of Lemma 3.3.5 inspire us to define a new bilinear decoupling constant that can make our uncertainty principle heuristics from the previous section rigorous.

The left hand side of the definition of $D(\delta)$ is unweighted, however recall that Proposition 2.2.11 implies that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^6(w_B)} \lesssim D(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^6(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}.$$
(3.26)

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and squares B of side length δ^{-2} .

We will assume that $\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/100)$. Let $\mathcal{M}_{a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\begin{array}{l} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I'}g \|_{L^{4}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \\ \leq \mathcal{M}_{a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{6} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I')} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{2} \end{array} \tag{3.27}$$

for all squares B of side length δ^{-2} , $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all intervals $I \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1]), I' \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ with $d(I,I') \ge \nu$.

Suppose a > b (the proof when $a \leq b$ is similar). The uncertainty principle implies that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-a}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta)}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(\Delta)}^4 &\sim \frac{1}{|P_{\nu^{-a}}(B)|} \sum_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-a}}(B)} (\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4) \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(\Delta)}^2 \\ &\sim \frac{1}{|B|} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_1} g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2} g|^4 \end{aligned}$$

where the last ~ is because $|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|$ is essentially constant on Δ . Therefore our bilinear constant $\mathcal{M}_{a,b}$ is essentially the same as the bilinear constant $M_{a,b}$ we defined in (3.2).

3.4.1 Some basic properties

Lemma 3.4.1 (Bernstein). Let I be an interval of length 1/R and Δ a square of side length R. Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)} \lesssim \|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^p_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}$$

Proof. See [BD17, Corollary 4.3] for a proof without explicit constants or Lemma 2.2.20 for a version with explicit constants. \Box

Lemma 3.4.2 (l^2L^2 decoupling). Let I be an interval of length $\ge 1/R$ such that $R|I| \in \mathbb{N}$ and Δ a square of side length R. Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^2(w_{\Delta})} \lesssim (\sum_{J \in P_{1/R}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^2(w_{\Delta})}^2)^{1/2}.$$

Proof. See [BD17, Proposition 6.1] for a proof without explicit constants or Lemma 2.2.21 for a version with explicit constants. \Box

We now run through the substitutes of Lemmas 3.2.3-3.2.5.

Lemma 3.4.3. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}$, $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^a})^{1/3} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{2/3}.$$

Proof. Let $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$. Hölder's inequality gives that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-\max(a,b)}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L^{4}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \\ & \leq \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-\max(a,b)}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \\ & \leq (\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-\max(a,b)}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{6})^{1/3} (\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-\max(a,b)}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{6})^{2/3} \\ & \leq \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{4} \end{aligned}$$

where the last inequality we have used that $\sum_{\Delta} w_{\Delta} \leq_n w_B$ (see Proposition 2.2.14). Finally applying (3.26) with parabolic rescaling then completes the proof of Lemma 3.4.3.

Lemma 3.4.4. Suppose $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \mathcal{M}_{b,a}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$

Proof. Let $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \\ & \leq \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{\Delta})}^{3} \\ & \leq (\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{1/2} (\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{1/2} \\ & \leq (\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-}\max(a,b)}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{1/2} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g \|_{L_{\#}^{6}(w_{B})}^{3} \end{aligned}$$

where the first and second inequalities are because of Hölder and the third inequality is an application of Hölder and the estimate $\sum_{\Delta} w_{\Delta} \leq w_{B}$. Applying parabolic rescaling and the definition of $\mathcal{M}_{b,a}$ then completes the proof of Lemma 3.4.4.

Lemma 3.4.5 (Bilinear reduction). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_n D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} \mathcal{M}_{1,1}(\delta, \nu).$$

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as that of Lemma 3.2.5 except when analyzing (3.7) in the off-diagonal terms we use

$$\begin{aligned} \||\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|^{1/3}|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|^{2/3}\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(B)}^{6} &= \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|^{4} \\ &\leq \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{2} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)}^{4} \\ &\lesssim \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g\|_{L^{4}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{4} \end{aligned}$$

where the second inequality we have used Bernstein.

3.4.2 Ball inflation

We now prove rigorously the ball inflation lemma we mentioned in the previous section.

Lemma 3.4.6 (Ball inflation). Let $b \ge 1$ be a positive integer. Suppose I_1 and I_2 are ν -separated intervals of length ν^b . Then for any square Δ' of side length ν^{-2b} , we have

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^4 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^4.$$
(3.28)

Proof. Without loss of generality we may assume that Δ' is centered at the origin. Fix intervals I_1 and I_2 intervals of length ν^b which are ν -separated with centers c_1 and c_2 , respectively.

Cover Δ' by a set \mathcal{T}_1 of mutually parallel nonoverlapping rectangles T_1 of dimensions $\nu^{-b} \times \nu^{-2b}$ with longer side pointing in the direction of $(-2c_1, 1)$ (the normal direction of the piece of parabola above I_1). Note that any $\nu^{-b} \times \nu^{-2b}$ rectangle outside $4\Delta'$ cannot cover Δ' itself. Thus we may assume that all rectangles in \mathcal{T}_1 are contained in $4\Delta'$. Finally let $T_1(x)$ be the rectangle in \mathcal{T}_1 containing x. Similarly define \mathcal{T}_2 except this time we use I_2 .

For $x \in 4\Delta'$, define

$$F_{1}(x) := \begin{cases} \sup_{y \in 2T_{1}(x)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{B(y,\nu^{-b})})} & \text{if } x \in \bigcup_{T_{1} \in \mathcal{T}_{1}} T_{1} \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in 4\Delta' \setminus \bigcup_{T_{1} \in \mathcal{T}_{1}} T_{1} \end{cases}$$

and

$$F_{2}(x) := \begin{cases} \sup_{y \in 2T_{2}(x)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g\|_{L_{\#}^{4}(w_{B(y,\nu^{-b})})} & \text{if } x \in \bigcup_{T_{2} \in \mathcal{T}_{2}} T_{2} \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in 4\Delta' \setminus \bigcup_{T_{2} \in \mathcal{T}_{2}} T_{2}. \end{cases}$$

Given a $\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')$, if $x \in \Delta$, then $\Delta \subset 2T_i(x)$. This implies that the center of Δ , $c_{\Delta} \in 2T_i(x)$ for $x \in \Delta$ and hence for all $x \in \Delta$,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g\|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})} \leqslant F_1(x)$$

and

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})} \leqslant F_2(x).$$

Therefore

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g\|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2 \|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^4 \leqslant \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} F_1(x)^2 F_2(x)^4 \, dx.$$
(3.29)

By how F_i is defined, F_i is constant on each $T_i \in \mathcal{T}_i$. That is, for each $x \in \bigcup_{T_i \in \mathcal{T}_i} T_i$,

$$F_i(x) = \sum_{T_i \in \mathcal{T}_i} c_{T_i} \mathbf{1}_{T_i}(x)$$

for some constants $c_{T_i} \ge 0$.

Thus using (3.29) and that the T_i are disjoint, the left hand side of (3.28) is bounded above by

$$\frac{1}{|\Delta'|} \int_{\Delta'} F_1(x)^2 F_2(x)^4 dx = \frac{1}{|\Delta'|} \sum_{T_1, T_2} c_{T_1}^2 c_{T_2}^4 |T_1 \cap T_2| \lesssim \nu^{-1} \frac{\nu^{-2b}}{|\Delta'|} \sum_{T_1, T_2} c_{T_1}^2 c_{T_2}^4$$
(3.30)

where the last inequality we have used that since I_1 and I_2 are ν -separated, sine of the angle between T_1 and T_2 is $\geq \nu$ and hence $|T_1 \cap T_2| \leq \nu^{-1-2b}$. Note that

$$||F_1||^2_{L^2_{\#}(4\Delta')} = \frac{\nu^{-3b}}{|4\Delta'|} \sum_{T_1} c^2_{T_1}$$

and

$$\|F_2\|_{L^4_{\#}(4\Delta')}^4 = \frac{\nu^{-3b}}{|4\Delta'|} \sum_{T_2} c_{T_2}^4.$$

Therefore (3.30) is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1} \|F_1\|_{L^2_{\#}(4\Delta')}^2 \|F_2\|_{L^4_{\#}(4\Delta')}^4.$$

Thus we are done if we can prove that

$$\|F_1\|_{L^2_{\#}(4\Delta')}^2 \lesssim \|\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g\|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^2$$

and

$$\|F_2\|_{L^4_{\#}(4\Delta')}^4 \lesssim \|\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g\|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^4$$

but this was exactly what was shown in [BD17, Eq. (29)] (and Lemma 2.6.3 for the same inequality but with explicit constants). \Box

Our choice of bilinear constant (3.27) makes the rigorous proofs of Lemmas 3.3.3 and 3.3.5 immediate consequences of ball inflation and l^2L^2 decoupling.

Lemma 3.4.7. Suppose $1 \leq a < b$ and δ and ν were such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \mathcal{M}_{b,b}(\delta,\nu).$$

Proof. For arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ which are ν -separated, it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^4 \lesssim \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(I_1)} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^4$$

But this is immediate from l^2L^2 decoupling which completes the proof of Lemma 3.4.7. \Box

Lemma 3.4.8. Let $b \ge 1$ and suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{b,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} \mathcal{M}_{2b,b}(\delta,\nu).$$

Proof. For arbitrary $I_1 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ and $I_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ which are ν -separated, it suffices to prove that

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^4 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{2b}}(I_1)} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^2 \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^4_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^4.$$

But this is immediate from ball inflation followed by l^2L^2 decoupling which completes the proof of Lemma 3.4.8.

Combining Lemmas 3.4.4, 3.4.7, and 3.4.8 gives the following corollary.

Corollary 3.4.9. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{b,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/6} \mathcal{M}_{2b,2b}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{1/2}.$$

This corollary should be compared to the trivial estimate obtained from Lemma 3.4.3 which implies $\mathcal{M}_{b,b}(\delta,\nu) \leq D(\delta/\nu^b)$.

3.4.3 The $O_{\varepsilon}(\delta^{-\varepsilon})$ bound

We now prove that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$. The structure of the argument is essentially the same as that in Section 3.2.3. Repeatedly iterating Corollary 3.4.9 gives the following result.

Lemma 3.4.10. Let N be an integer chosen sufficiently large later and let δ be such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N}}}) + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^{N}}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}$$

Proof. Iterating Corollary 3.4.9 N times gives that if δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2^N} \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,1}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/3} \mathcal{M}_{2^N,2^N}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2^N} \cdot \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^j}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}$$

Applying the trivial bound for the bilinear constant bounds gives that the above is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1/3} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^N}})^{1/2^N} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^j}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}$$

Choosing $\nu = \delta^{1/2^N}$ shows that if $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,1}(\delta, \delta^{1/2^N}) \lesssim \delta^{-\frac{1}{3 \cdot 2^N}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}.$$

By the bilinear reduction, if δ was such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$, then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N}}}) + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^{N}}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.4.10.

Trivial bounds for $D(\delta)$ show that $1 \leq D(\delta) \leq \delta^{-1/2}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let λ be the smallest real number such that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. From the trivial bounds $\lambda \in [0, 1/2]$. We claim $\lambda = 0$. Suppose $\lambda > 0$.

Let N be a sufficiently large integer $\geq \frac{8}{3\lambda}$. This implies

$$1 + \frac{N}{2} - \frac{4}{3\lambda} \ge 1.$$

Lemma 3.4.10 then implies that for δ such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon} + \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N}(1+\frac{N}{2}-\frac{4}{3\lambda}))-\varepsilon} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon}$$

where the last inequality we have applied our choice of N. By almost multiplicity we then have the same estimate for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$ (with a potentially larger constant depending on N). But this then contradicts minimality of λ . Therefore $\lambda = 0$.

	_		
	Г		
	L		

3.5 Unifying the two styles of proof

We now attempt to unify the Bourgain-Demeter style of decoupling and the style of decoupling mentioned in the previous section. In view of Corollary 3.4.9, instead of having two integer parameters a and b we just have one integer parameter.

Let b be an integer ≥ 1 and choose $s \in [2,3]$ any real number. Suppose $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/100)$ were such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\mathbf{M}_b^{(s)}(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} &(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \\ &\leqslant \mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu)^{6} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \end{aligned} \tag{3.31}$$

for all squares B of side length δ^{-2} , $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, and all intervals $I, I' \in P_{\nu}([0,1])$ which are ν -separated. Note that left hand side of the definition of $\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(3)}(\delta,\nu)$ is the same as $A_{6}(q, B^{r}, q)^{6}$ defined in [BD17] and from the uncertainty principle, $\mathbf{M}_{1}^{(2)}(\delta,\nu)$ is morally the same as $M_{1,1}(\delta,\nu)$ defined in (3.2) and $\mathcal{M}_{1,1}(\delta,\nu)$ defined in (3.27). The l^{2} piece in the definition of $\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu)$ is so that we can make the most out of applying $l^{2}L^{2}$ decoupling.

We will use $\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}$ as our bilinear constant in this section to show that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$. The bilinear constant $\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}$ obeys much the same lemmas as in the previous sections.

Lemma 3.5.1 (cf. Lemmas 3.2.3 and 3.4.3). If δ and ν were such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{b}}).$$

Proof. Fix arbitrary $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu}([0, 1])$ which are ν -separated. Moving up from $L^2_{\#}$ to $L^6_{\#}$ followed by Hölder in the average over Δ bounds the left hand side of (3.31)

$$(\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)}(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6}{2}})^{s}(\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)}(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6}{2}})^{6-s}.$$

Using Minkowski to switch the l^2 and l^6 sum followed by $\sum_{\Delta} w_{\Delta} \leq w_B$ shows that this is

$$\lesssim \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6_{\#}(w_B)}^2\right)^{\frac{s}{2}} \left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^b}(I_2)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^6_{\#}(w_B)}^2\right)^{\frac{6-s}{2}}.$$

Parabolic rescaling then completes the proof of Lemma 3.5.1.

Lemma 3.5.2 (Bilinear reduction, cf. Lemmas 3.2.5 and 3.4.5). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} \mathbf{M}_1^{(s)}(\delta, \nu)$$

Proof. Note that the left hand side of the definition of $\mathbf{M}_{1}^{(s)}(\delta, \nu)$ is

$$\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \| \mathcal{E}_{I_1} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^s \| \mathcal{E}_{I_2} g \|_{L^2_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{6-s}$$

Proceeding as in the proof of Lemmas 3.2.5 and 3.4.5, for $I_i, I_j \in P_{\nu}([0,1])$ which are ν separated, we have

$$\||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g||\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|\|_{L^3_{\#}(B)}^{1/2} \leq \||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|^{\frac{s}{6}}|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|^{1-\frac{s}{6}}\|_{L^6_{\#}(B)}^{1/2}\||\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|^{1-\frac{s}{6}}|\mathcal{E}_{I_j}g|^{\frac{s}{6}}\|_{L^6_{\#}(B)}^{1/2}.$$
(3.32)

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \||\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|^{\frac{s}{6}}|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|^{1-\frac{s}{6}}\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(B)}^{6} &= \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g|^{s}|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g|^{6-s} \\ &\leq \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{s}_{\#}(\Delta)}^{s} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g\|_{L^{\infty}(\Delta)}^{6-s} \\ &\lesssim \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-1}}(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{s} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{6-s} \end{aligned}$$

where the last inequality we have used Bernstein. Inserting this into (3.32) and applying the definition of $\mathbf{M}_{1}^{(s)}(\delta, \nu)$ then completes the proof of Lemma 3.5.2.

Lemma 3.5.3 (Ball inflation, cf. Lemma 3.4.6). Let $b \ge 1$ be a positive integer. Suppose I_1 and I_2 are ν -separated intervals of length ν . Then for any square Δ' of side length ν^{-2b} and any $\varepsilon > 0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} &(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{s}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L_{\#}^{6-s}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \\ &\lesssim_{\varepsilon} \nu^{-1-b\varepsilon} (\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{s}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L_{\#}^{6-s}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

Proof. The s = 2 case be proven directly using Lemma 3.4.6 without any loss in $\nu^{-b\varepsilon}$. The proof for $s \in (2,3]$ proceeds as in the proof of ball inflation in [BD17, Section 9.2] (see also Section 2.6 for more details and explicit constants).

From dyadic pigeonholing, since we can lose a $\nu^{-b\varepsilon}$, it suffices to restrict the sum over Jand J' to families \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_2 such that for all $J \in \mathcal{F}_1$, $\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}$ are comparable up to a factor of 2 and similarly for all $J' \in \mathcal{F}_2$. Hölder gives

$$\begin{split} & \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_1} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_2} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^2)^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \\ & \leq (\# \mathcal{F}_1)^{\frac{s}{2}-1} (\# \mathcal{F}_2)^{\frac{6-s}{2}-1} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_1} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^s) (\sum_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_2} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{6-s}). \end{split}$$

The proof of Lemma 3.4.6 shows that this is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1} (\#\mathcal{F}_1)^{\frac{s}{2}-1} (\#\mathcal{F}_2)^{\frac{6-s}{2}-1} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_1} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^s) (\sum_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_2} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{6-s}).$$

Since for $J \in \mathcal{F}_1$ the values of $\|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}$ are comparable and similarly for $J' \in \mathcal{F}_2$, the above is

$$\lesssim \nu^{-1} (\sum_{J \in \mathcal{F}_1} \| \mathcal{E}_J g \|_{L^s_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^2)^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in \mathcal{F}_2} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'} g \|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^2)^{\frac{6-s}{2}}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 3.5.3.

Lemma 3.5.4 (cf. Corollary 3.4.9). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\mathbf{M}_{b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \nu^{-\frac{1}{6}(1+b\varepsilon)} \mathbf{M}_{2b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu)^{1/2} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{b}})^{1/2}$$

Proof. Let θ and φ be such that $\frac{\theta}{2} + \frac{1-\theta}{6} = \frac{1}{s}$ and $\frac{\varphi}{2} + \frac{1-\varphi}{6} = \frac{1}{6-s}$. Then Hölder gives $\|f\|_{L^s} \leq \|f\|_{L^6}^{\theta} \|f\|_{L^6}^{1-\theta}$ and $\|f\|_{L^{6-s}} \leq \|f\|_{L^2}^{\varphi} \|f\|_{L^6}^{1-\varphi}$.

Fix arbitrary $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu}([0, 1])$ which are ν -separated. We have

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(B)} (\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \\ &\leqslant \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-b}}(\Delta')} (\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \\ &\lesssim_{\varepsilon} \nu^{-1-b\varepsilon} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} (\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{6-s}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

where the first inequality is from Hölder and the second inequality is from ball inflation. We now use how θ and φ are defined to return to a piece which we control by l^2L^2 decoupling and a piece which we can control by parabolic rescaling. Hölder (as in the definition of θ and φ) gives that the average above is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} &(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2\theta} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2(1-\theta)})^{\frac{s}{2}} \times \\ &(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2\varphi} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2(1-\varphi)})^{\frac{6-s}{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Hölder in the sum over J and J' shows that this is

$$\leq \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} \left(\left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\theta} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L_{\#}^{6}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{1-\theta} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ \left(\left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L_{\#}^{2}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\varphi} \left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L_{\#}^{6}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{1-\varphi} \right)^{\frac{6-s}{2}}.$$

Since $\theta s = 3 - \frac{s}{2}$ and $\varphi(6 - s) = \frac{s}{2}$, rearranging the above gives

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)} & \left((\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}(3-\frac{s}{2})} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}\cdot\frac{s}{2}} \right) \times \\ & \left((\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}\cdot3(\frac{s}{2}-1)} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}\cdot3(2-\frac{s}{2})} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Cauchy-Schwarz in the average over Δ' then bounds the above by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu-2b}(B)} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu b}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\frac{6-s}{2}} \left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu b}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ \left(\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu-2b}(B)} \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu b}(I_{1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\frac{3(s-2)}{2}} \left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu b}(I_{2})} \| \mathcal{E}_{J'}g \|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2} \right)^{\frac{3(4-s)}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(3.33)

After $l^2 L^2$ decoupling, the first term in (3.33) is

$$\lesssim \mathbf{M}_{2b}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu)^{3} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{\delta-s}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I_{2})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{2}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{s}{2}}.$$
(3.34)

Hölder in the average over Δ' bounds the second term in (3.33) by

$$(\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)}(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{6}{2}})^{\frac{s-2}{4}}(\operatorname{Avg}_{\Delta' \in P_{\nu^{-2b}}(B)}(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{\Delta'})}^{2})^{\frac{6}{2}})^{\frac{4-s}{4}}.$$

Applying Minkowski to interchange the l^2 and l^6 norms shows that this is

$$\lesssim \left(\sum_{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^6_{\#}(w_B)}^2\right)^{\frac{3(s-2)}{4}} \left(\sum_{J' \in P_{\nu^b}(I_2)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g\|_{L^6_{\#}(w_B)}^2\right)^{\frac{3(4-s)}{4}}.$$

Parabolic rescaling bounds this by

$$D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{b}})^{3} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I_{1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{3(s-2)}{2}} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I_{2})} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{6}_{\#}(w_{B})}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{3(4-s)}{2}}.$$
(3.35)

Combining (3.34) and (3.35) then completes the proof of Lemma 3.5.4.

With Lemma 3.5.4, the same proof as Lemma 3.4.10 gives the following.

Lemma 3.5.5 (cf. Corollary 3.2.12 and Lemma 3.4.10). Let N be an integer chosen sufficient large later and let δ be such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N}}}) + \delta^{-\frac{4}{3\cdot 2^{N}} - \frac{N\varepsilon}{6\cdot 2^{N}}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\delta^{1-\frac{1}{2^{N-j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}.$$

Proof. This follows from the proof of Lemma 3.4.10 and the observation that

$$\mathbf{M}_{1}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \nu^{-\frac{1}{3}-\frac{1}{6}N\varepsilon} \mathbf{M}_{2^{N}}^{(s)}(\delta,\nu)^{\frac{1}{2^{N}}} \prod_{j=0}^{N-1} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^{2^{j}}})^{\frac{1}{2^{j+1}}}.$$

along with Lemmas 3.5.1 and 3.5.2.

To finish, we proceed as at the end of the previous section. Let $\lambda \in [0, 1/2]$ be the smallest real such that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda-\varepsilon}$. Suppose $\lambda > 0$. Choose N such that

$$1 + \frac{N}{2} - \frac{4}{3\lambda} \ge 1.$$

Then for δ such that $\delta^{-1/2^N} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < \delta < 100^{-2^N}$, Lemma 3.5.5 gives

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon} + \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N}(1+\frac{N}{2}-\frac{4}{3\lambda}))-\varepsilon(1-\frac{1}{2^N})+\frac{N\varepsilon}{2\cdot 2^N}-\frac{N\varepsilon}{6\cdot 2^N}} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon}$$

Almost multiplicativity gives that $D(\delta) \leq_{N,\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{2^N})-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, contradicting the minimality of λ .

3.6 An efficient congruencing style proof of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola

3.6.1 Setup and some standard lemmas

Having compared the iteration from Bourgain-Demeter with an efficient congruencing style decoupling proof at L^6 , we compare the two arguments for some 2 . We using

techniques from the previous sections to prove an explicit upper bound for the l^2L^4 decoupling constant for the parabola. We will make use of the uncertainty principle at times, however the rigorous argument can easily be made in a similar manner as how we transitioned from Section 3.3 to Section 3.4.

Aside from the notation for the linear and bilinear decoupling constants, we adopt all notation from the previous sections. For simplicity, in this section we write $D(\delta)$ to be the l^2L^4 decoupling constant for the parabola. That is, for $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, let $D(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^4(B)} \leq D(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}$$

for all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length δ^{-2} .

Let geom be the standard geometric mean. We will assume that $\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/10000)$. Fix arbitrary integer $a \ge 1$, Suppose δ and ν was such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. For this δ and ν , let $M_a(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^4(B)} \leq M_a(\delta,\nu)\operatorname{geom}(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta}(I_i)} \|\mathcal{E}_Jg\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}$$

for all squares B of side length δ^{-2} , $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, and all intervals $I_1, I_2 \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ with $d(I_1, I_2) \ge 3\nu$.

In Chapter 2 we showed that $D(\delta) \leq \exp(O((\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{2/3}))$. In this section we will show that the methods from the previous section give

$$D(\delta) \lesssim \exp(O((\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{3/4}))$$
(3.36)

which is qualitatively the same as the bound we obtained in Chapter 2.

Remark 3.6.1. Since 4 = 2 + 2, it turns out that we only need to have one frequency scale in $M_a(\delta, \nu)$. One could also define an alternative bilinear decoupling constant with two frequency scales $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ analogously as in (3.2). In this case, the key properties are $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu) = M_{b,a}(\delta, \nu)$ and $M_{a,b}(\delta, \nu) \leq \nu^{-1/4} M_{b,2b}(\delta, \nu)$. In both definitions we obtain essentially the same iteration and that $D(\delta) \leq \exp(O((\log \frac{1}{\delta})^{3/4}))$. We have the following standard lemmas which we will state without proof.

Lemma 3.6.2 (Parabolic rescaling). Let $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ be such that $\sigma, \delta, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let I be an arbitrary interval in [0, 1] of length σ . Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^4(B)} \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\sigma}) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_J g\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}$$

for every $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and every square B of side length δ^{-2} .

Lemma 3.6.3 (Almost multiplicativity). Let $0 < \delta < \sigma < 1$ be such that $\sigma, \delta, \delta/\sigma \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, then

$$D(\delta) \leq D(\sigma)D(\delta/\sigma).$$

Lemma 3.6.4 (Bilinear reduction). Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1}M_1(\delta, \nu).$$

Lemma 3.6.5. If δ and ν are such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$M_a(\delta,\nu) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^a}).$$

3.6.2 The key technical lemma

Much like how Lemma 3.2.8 was the key step in the previous section, the following key technical lemma drives our iteration.

Lemma 3.6.6. Let a and b be integers such that $1 \leq a < b$. Suppose δ and ν are such that $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_a(\delta,\nu) \lesssim M_b(\delta,\nu).$$

Proof. It suffices to assume that B is centered at the origin with side length δ^{-2} . Note that the integrality conditions imply that $\delta \leq \nu^b$ and since $\nu^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, $\nu^a \delta^{-1}$, $\nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$.

Fix arbitrary intervals $I_1 = [\alpha, \alpha + \nu^a]$ and $I_2 = [\beta, \beta + \nu^a]$ both in $P_{\nu^a}([0, 1])$ and are 3ν -separated. Observe that

$$\|\operatorname{geom} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i}g|\|_{L^4(B)}^4 = \int_B |\mathcal{E}_{I_1}g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_2}g|^2.$$

Let $g_{\beta}(x) := g(x+\beta), T_{\beta} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 2\beta \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$, and $d := \alpha - \beta$. Then shifting I_2 to $[0, \nu^a]$ gives that

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{1}}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_{2}}g|^{2} = \int_{B} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(T_{\beta}x)|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(T_{\beta}x)|^{2} dx$$
$$= \int_{T_{\beta}(B)} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} dx.$$
(3.37)

Note that d can be negative, however since $g : [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and $d = \alpha - \beta$, $\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^a]}g_\beta$ is defined. Since $|\beta| \leq 1/2$, $T_\beta(B) \subset 10B$. Combining this with $1_{10B} \leq \eta_{10B}$ gives that the above is

$$\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} |(\mathcal{E}_{[d,d+\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} |(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\nu^{a}]}g_{\beta})(x)|^{2} \eta_{10B}(x) dx$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{J_{1},J_{2} \in P_{\nu^{b}}([d,d+\nu^{a}])\\K_{1},K_{2} \in P_{\nu^{b}}([0,\nu^{a}])}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2}} \mathcal{E}_{J_{1}}g_{\beta}\overline{\mathcal{E}_{J_{2}}g_{\beta}\mathcal{E}_{K_{1}}g_{\beta}}\mathcal{E}_{K_{2}}g_{\beta}\eta_{10B} dx.$$
(3.38)

We will show that the integral above is zero unless $d(J_1, J_2) \leq \nu^b$ and $d(K_1, K_2) \leq \nu^b$. If we can show this, then we can add these two conditions into the sum in (3.38) and hence Cauchy-Schwarz bounds (3.38) by

$$\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\nu^b}([d,d+\nu^a])\\K \in P_{\nu^b}([0,\nu^a])}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_J g_\beta|^2 |\mathcal{E}_K g_\beta|^2 \eta_{10B} \, dx.$$

Undoing the change of variables as in (3.37) gives that the above is equal to

$$\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\nu^b}(I_1)\\K \in P_{\nu^b}(I_2)}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_K g|^2 \eta_{10B}(T_\beta x) \, dx.$$

The definition of M_b and the observation that $\eta_{10B}(T_\beta x) \leq w_B(x)$ gives that the above is bounded above by (here we will need a version of M_b with the left hand side with weight w_B , but such a constant is equivalent to M_b)

$$M_{b}(\delta,\nu)^{4} \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{1})\\K \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})}} (\sum_{\substack{J' \in P_{\delta}(J)\\K \in P_{\nu^{b}}(I_{2})}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{4}(w_{B})}^{2}) (\sum_{K' \in P_{\delta}(K)} \|\mathcal{E}_{K'}g\|_{L^{4}(w_{B})}^{2})$$
$$\leq M_{b}(\delta,\nu)^{4} (\sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\delta}(I_{1})\\K \in P_{\delta}(I_{1})}} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{4}(w_{B})}^{2}) (\sum_{K \in P_{\delta}(I_{2})} \|\mathcal{E}_{K}g\|_{L^{4}(w_{B})}^{2}).$$

This then proves Lemma 3.6.6 provided we can add in the conditions $d(J_1, J_2) \leq \nu^b$ and $d(K_1, K_2) \leq \nu^b$ into (3.38).

Fix $J_1, J_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([d, d + \nu^a])$ and $K_1, K_2 \in P_{\nu^b}([0, \nu^a])$. Suppose $d(J_1, J_2) > \nu^b$. We claim that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \mathcal{E}_{J_1} g_\beta \overline{\mathcal{E}}_{J_2} g_\beta \mathcal{E}_{K_1} g_\beta \mathcal{E}_{K_2} g_\beta \eta_{10B} \, dx = 0 \tag{3.39}$$

in this case. The case when $d(K_1, K_2) > \nu^b$ is similar. The left hand side is equal to

$$\int_{J_1 \times J_2 \times K_1 \times K_2} g_\beta(\xi_1) \overline{g_\beta(\xi_2)g_\beta(\xi_3)} g_\beta(\xi_4) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e(\cdots) \eta_{10B}(x) \, dx \, d\xi$$

where the expression in the $e(\cdots)$ is

$$((\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4)x_1 + (\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2)x_2).$$

Therefore by the Fourier support of η_{10B} , (3.39) is equal to 0 unless

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4| &\leq \frac{\delta^2}{10} \\ |\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2| &\leq \frac{\delta^2}{10}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $d(J_1, J_2) > \nu^b$, $|\xi_1 - \xi_2| > \nu^b$ and since I_1 and I_2 are 3ν -separated, $|\xi_2 - \xi_4| > 3\nu$. Note that $|\xi_i| \leq 1$ and

$$\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2 = (\xi_1 - \xi_2 + \xi_3 - \xi_4)(\xi_2 - \xi_4) + (\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4)(\xi_1 + \xi_3).$$

Therefore

$$|\xi_1 - \xi_2 + \xi_3 - \xi_4| \leq \frac{1}{10} \delta^2 \nu^{-1} \leq \frac{1}{10} \nu^{2b-1}.$$

We claim that the above inequalities are inconsistent. Since we are not given the relative positions of the ξ_i , we have the following two cases.

(i) $\xi_1 > \xi_2$ and $\xi_4 > \xi_3$ OR $\xi_2 > \xi_1$ and $\xi_3 > \xi_4$: We have $\frac{\delta^2}{10} \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4| = |\xi_1 - \xi_2| + |\xi_4 - \xi_3| \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_2| > \nu^b.$

Since $\delta \leqslant \nu^b$, we then have $\nu^b \leqslant \nu^{2b}/10$, a contradiction.

(ii) $\xi_1 > \xi_2$ and $\xi_3 > \xi_4$ OR $\xi_2 > \xi_1$ and $\xi_4 > \xi_3$: We have

$$\frac{1}{10}\nu^{2b-1} \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_2 + \xi_3 - \xi_4| = |\xi_1 - \xi_2| + |\xi_3 - \xi_4| \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_2| > \nu^b$$

a contradiction since b > 1 and ν is sufficiently small.

Therefore in all cases (3.39) is equal to 0 when $d(J_1, J_2) > \nu^b$. This completes the proof of Lemma 3.6.6.

The following alternate to Lemma 3.6.6 can also be used and is reminiscent of the proofs of Lemmas 3.3.4 and 3.3.5.

Lemma 3.6.7. Let a be a positive integer. Suppose δ and ν are such that $\nu^{2a}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$M_a(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \nu^{-1/4} M_{2a}(\delta,\nu).$$

Proof. We will make use of the uncertainty principle in this proof, but this can be made rigorous through the same methods we used to make Section 3.3 rigorous.

It suffices to prove that

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{2} \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\nu^{2a}}(I) \\ J' \in P_{\nu^{2a}}(I')}} \int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{J}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{J'}g|^{2}$$
(3.40)

for $I, I' \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ with $d(I,I') \gtrsim \nu$.

Fix $I, I' \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1])$ with $d(I, I') \geq \nu$. To show (3.40), it suffices to show that

$$\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_I g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I'} g|^2 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \sum_{\substack{J \in P_{\nu^{2a}}(I) \\ J' \in P_{\nu^{2a}}(I')}} \frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_J g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{J'} g|^2$$
(3.41)

for each $\Delta \in P_{\nu^{-2a}}(B)$.

Since the uncertainty principle implies that $|\mathcal{E}_J g|$ and $|\mathcal{E}_{J'} g|$ are essentially constant on Δ , combining this with $l^2 L^2$ decoupling shows (3.41) reduces to showing that

$$\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_I g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I'} g|^2 \lesssim \nu^{-1} \left(\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_I g|^2\right) \left(\frac{1}{|\Delta|} \int_{\Delta} |\mathcal{E}_{I'} g|^2\right).$$
(3.42)

Now as in the proof of Lemma 3.3.4, the uncertainty principle says that on Δ , $|\mathcal{E}_{I}g| \sim \sum_{T} |c_{T}| 1_{T}$ and $|\mathcal{E}_{I'}g| \sim \sum_{T'} |c_{T'}| 1_{T'}$ where $\{T\}$ and $\{T'\}$ are $\nu^{-a} \times \nu^{-2a}$ rectangles covering Δ' and pointing in the normal direction of the cap on the parabola living above I and I', respectively.

Thus we would have (3.42) if we could show that for each pair of tubes T, T' associated to I, I', we have

$$\left(\frac{1}{|\Delta|}\int_{\Delta} \mathbf{1}_{T}\mathbf{1}_{T'}\right) \lesssim \nu^{-1}\left(\frac{1}{|\Delta|}\int_{\Delta} \mathbf{1}_{T}\right)\left(\frac{1}{|\Delta|}\int_{\Delta} \mathbf{1}_{T'}\right)$$
(3.43)

for some absolute constant C. But since $d(I, I') \gtrsim \nu$, the left hand side is equal to $\nu^{-1}(\nu^{2a})$ while the right hand side is $\nu^{-1}(\nu^{a})^{2}$ which proves (3.43) and hence proves (3.40) which completes the proof of Lemma 3.6.7.

3.6.3 The iteration and endgame

First applying Lemma 3.6.4 followed by Lemma 3.6.6 and then Lemma 3.6.5 then gives the following lemma.

Lemma 3.6.8. Let m > 10. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^m \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1}D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^m}).$$

Choosing $\nu = \delta^{1/m}$ (and recalling that we also require $\nu \in \mathbb{N}^{-1} \cap (0, 1/100)$) gives the following result.

Lemma 3.6.9. Let m > 10. Suppose δ was such that $\delta^{-1/m} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-m}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \leq D(\delta^{1-1/m}) + \delta^{-1/m}$$

where the implied constant is independent of m.

We now give a proof that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$.

Proposition 3.6.10. For all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, $D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$.

Proof. The trivial bounds for $D(\delta)$ are $1 \leq D(\delta) \leq \delta^{-1/2}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. Let λ be the smallest real number such that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$. From the trivial bounds, $\lambda \in [0, 1/2]$. We claim that $\lambda = 0$. Suppose $\lambda > 0$.

Since $\lambda \leq 1/2$, choose m to be an integer such that

$$\frac{1}{m\lambda} < 1 - \frac{1}{m}$$

Then by Lemma 3.6.9, for $\delta^{-1/m} \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\delta < 100^{-m}$,

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{m})-\varepsilon} + \delta^{-\lambda(\frac{1}{m\lambda})} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{m})-\varepsilon}.$$

Applying almost multiplicativity then shows that for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$,

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{m,\varepsilon} \delta^{-\lambda(1-\frac{1}{m})-\varepsilon},$$

contradicting minimality of λ . Therefore $\lambda = 0$. This completes the proof of Proposition 3.6.10.

Having shown that $D(\delta) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$, we now make this bound explicit. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. Then $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$.

Lemma 3.6.11. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. Let m > 10 be such that

$$\frac{1}{m\varepsilon} < 1 - \frac{1}{m}$$

and δ such that $\delta^{-1/m} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-m}$. Then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\varepsilon/m} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$$

where the implied is absolute.

Proof. Increasing C_{ε} , we may assume that $C_{\varepsilon} > 1$. Inserting $D(\delta) \leq C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$ into Lemma 3.6.9 gives that for all integers m > 1 and δ such that $\delta^{-1/m} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta < 100^{-m}$, we have

$$D(\delta) \lesssim (C_{\varepsilon} \delta^{\frac{\varepsilon}{m}} + \delta^{-\frac{1}{m} + \varepsilon}) \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$
(3.44)

If additionally $\delta < C_{\varepsilon}^{-1}$, then (3.44) becomes

$$D(\delta) \lesssim C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\frac{\varepsilon}{m}} \delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$
(3.45)

On the other hand if $\delta > C_{\varepsilon}^{-1}$, we can just apply the trivial bound $D(\delta) \leq \delta^{-1/2} \leq C_{\varepsilon}^{1/2}$ which is bounded above by the right hand side of (3.45). This completes the proof of Lemma 3.6.11.

Using almost multiplicativity to get rid of the integrality conditions, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.6.12. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. For all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$,

$$D(\delta) \lesssim \exp(O(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}))C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\varepsilon^2/2}\delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Thus if $P(C, \lambda)$ is the statement that $D(\delta) \leq C\delta^{-\lambda}$ for all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, Lemma 3.6.12 implies that

$$P(C_{\varepsilon},\varepsilon) \implies P(C\exp(O(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}))C_{\varepsilon}^{1-\varepsilon^{2}/2},\varepsilon)$$

for an absolute constant C. Iterating this repeatedly then gives the following result.

Lemma 3.6.13. Fix arbitrary $0 < \varepsilon < 1/100$. For all $\delta \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$,

$$D(\delta) \leq \exp(O(\frac{1}{\varepsilon^3}))\delta^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Optimizing in ε then proves (3.36).

3.7 A decoupling interpretation of efficient congruencing for the cubic moment curve

Having interpreted efficient congruencing for the quadratic Vinogradov conjecture in terms of l^2 decoupling, one immediate question is whether other works of efficient congruencing such as [Hea15] or [Woo19] can give a new and different proof of decoupling for the moment curve. We sketch an argument that is ongoing work with Shaoming Guo and Po-Lam Yung in this direction. We reinterpret the iteration given in [Hea15] into decoupling language. To rigorously use the uncertainty principle, we use a slightly different formulation than what is below, however, the formulation below makes the connection to [Hea15] clearer. We are able to give a new proof of l^4L^{12} decoupling for the moment curve $t \mapsto (t, t^2, t^3)$ that is different from that given by Bourgain-Demeter-Guth in [BDG16] (who actually prove an l^2L^{12} decoupling theorem). In particular, we use a bilinear argument while [BDG16] uses a trilinear argument.

For the purposes of number theory, any $l^p L^{12}$ decoupling theorem is sufficient. However our argument is only able to prove an $l^p L^{12}$ decoupling theorem for the cubic moment curve for $p \ge 4$.

Let

$$(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x) := \int_I g(\xi) e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2 + \xi^3 x_3) \, d\xi.$$

We let $D(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{12}(B)} \leq D(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{12}(B)}^{4})^{1/4}$$

for all functions $g:[0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length δ^{-3} . We prove that

$$D(\delta) \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-1/4-\varepsilon}$$

which is the sharp l^4L^{12} decoupling theorem for the moment curve $t \mapsto (t, t^2, t^3)$.

Suppose $\nu \in 2^{-2^{\mathbb{N}}} \cap (0, 1/1000)$. We define two bilinear decoupling constants $\mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ and $\mathcal{M}_{2,a,b}(\delta, \nu)$. Suppose a and b are integers and δ and ν are such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta, \nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{2} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{10} \leq \mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{12} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{12}(B)}^{4})^{1/2} (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{12}(B)}^{4})^{5/2}$$

for all functions $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, cubes $B \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ of side length δ^{-3} and all pairs of intervals $I \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1]), I' \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ with $d(I,I') \gtrsim \nu$. Similarly, let $\mathcal{M}_{2,a,b}(\delta,\nu)$ be the best constant such that

$$\int_{B} |\mathcal{E}_{I}g|^{4} |\mathcal{E}_{I'}g|^{8} \leq \mathcal{M}_{2,a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{12} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}(I)} \|\mathcal{E}_{J}g\|_{L^{12}(B)}^{4}) (\sum_{J' \in P_{\delta}(I')} \|\mathcal{E}_{J'}g\|_{L^{12}(B)}^{4})^{2}$$
for all functions $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$, cubes $B \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ of side length δ^{-3} and all pairs of intervals $I \in P_{\nu^a}([0,1]), I' \in P_{\nu^b}([0,1])$ with $d(I,I') \gtrsim \nu$. In addition to parabolic rescaling, our $l^4 L^{12}$ decoupling theorem is a consequence of the following five additional lemmas.

Lemma 3.7.1 (Bilinearization). If δ and ν were such that $\nu\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$D(\delta) \lesssim \nu^{-1/4} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu}) + \nu^{-1} \mathcal{M}_{2,1,1}(\delta, \nu)$$

Lemma 3.7.2. If a and b are positive integers and δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{2,a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \mathcal{M}_{2,b,a}(\delta,\nu)^{1/3} \mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta,\nu)^{2/3}.$$

Lemma 3.7.3. If a and b are positive integers and δ and ν were such that $\nu^a \delta^{-1}, \nu^b \delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$, then

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim \mathcal{M}_{2,b,a}(\delta,\nu)^{1/4} D(\frac{\delta}{\nu^b})^{3/4}.$$

Lemma 3.7.4. Let a and b be integers such that $1 \leq a \leq 3b$. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{3b}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then

$$\mathcal{M}_{1,a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim_{a,b} \nu^{-\frac{1}{24}(3b-a)-C_0} \mathcal{M}_{1,3b,b}(\delta,\nu)$$

for some large absolute constant C_0 .

Lemma 3.7.5. Let a and b be integers such that $1 \leq a \leq b$. Suppose δ and ν were such that $\nu^{2b-a}\delta^{-1} \in \mathbb{N}$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\mathcal{M}_{2,a,b}(\delta,\nu) \lesssim_{a,b,\varepsilon} \nu^{-\frac{1}{6}(1+\varepsilon)(b-a)} \mathcal{M}_{2,2b-a,b}(\delta,\nu)$$

for some large absolute constant C_0 .

The proof of Lemma 3.7.1 is similar to that of Lemma 3.2.5. The proof of Lemmas 3.7.2 and 3.7.3 essentially follow from the observations that

$$\int f^4 g^8 \leqslant (\int f^8 g^4)^{1/3} (\int f^2 g^{10})^{2/3}$$

and

$$\int f^2 g^{10} \leqslant (\int f^8 g^4)^{1/4} (\int g^{12})^{3/4}.$$

The proof of Lemma 3.7.4 relies on l^2L^2 decoupling and two ball inflation lemmas similar to that in Lemma 3.3.4. Bourgain-Demeter-Guth's proof of l^2L^{12} decoupling for the cubic moment curve will make use of l^2L^6 decoupling of the parabola as a lower dimensional input. It turns out that Lemma 3.7.5 will make use of the following lower dimensional decoupling theorem.

Lemma 3.7.6. Let $(E_I^{2D}g)(x) := \int_I g(\xi)e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2) d\xi$. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$, $\|E_{[0,1]}^{2D}g\|_{L^4(B)} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-1/4-\varepsilon} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|E_J^{2D}g\|_{L^4(w_B)}^4)^{1/4}$

for all functions $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and squares $B \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ of side length δ^{-1} .

The loss of $\delta^{-1/4}$ in Lemma 3.7.6 is sharp (up to $\delta^{-\varepsilon}$ losses) which can be seen by taking $g = 1_{[0,1]}$. Furthermore, the use of Lemma 3.7.6 is precisely why we were only able to prove an l^4L^{12} decoupling theorem rather than an l^2L^{12} decoupling theorem.

CHAPTER 4

More properties of the parabola decoupling constant

In this chapter, we collection some short stories about the parabola decoupling constant. First we prove some more equivalences of the parabola decoupling constant and show that these parabola decoupling constants are all monotonic. Among these parabola decoupling constants is the global decoupling constant that is used in [BD15]. Next, after having given iterative proofs of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola in Chapter 2 and Section 3.6, we give an elementary proof which shows that in the case of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola, the associated decoupling constant is O(1). Finally in Section 4.4, we address a "small ball" l^2 decoupling theorem for the paraboloid that the author first learned from Hong Wang in January 2018.

4.1 Equivalence of some more parabola decoupling constants

In Section 2.3 (in particular (2.38)), we showed many spatially localized decoupling constants were all equivalent. Now we define a few more decoupling constants and show that they are equivalent. The decoupling constants we introduce are all of the type that involve an fwith Fourier support in a δ^2 neighborhood of the parabola above [0, 1]. We then relate this to $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ from Definition 2.3.3 thus proving that a slew of local and global decoupling constants are equivalent. Here by local we mean spatially localized while by global we mean nonspatially localized. This section and Section 2.3 combined provide similar results that were stated (though not explicitly proven) in Remark 5.2 of [BD15].

As we stated in Remark 2.3.6, equivalence of various parabola decoupling constants is an extremely useful result. Because of the shear matrix, parabolic rescaling is easier using the global formulation rather than the local formulation. Thus by also showing that certain global decoupling constants are equivalent to some local decoupling constants we can apply parabolic rescaling using the global decoupling formulation and then pass this result to the local decoupling formulation. Also the result of this section shows that various local decoupling constants involving a function Fourier supported in some $O(\delta^2)$ neighborhood of the parabola are equivalent to each other regardless of decay E in the weight $w_{B,E}$ or thickness C of the $C\delta^2$ neighborhood of the parabola. The results in this section can be generalized to an arbitrary $h \in C^2$ satisfying: $h(0) = h'(0) = 0, 0 < h'(t) \leq 1$ for $t \in (0, 1]$, and $1/2 \leq h''(t) \leq 2$ for $t \in [0, 1]$ but we do not pursue that here.

4.1.1 Basic tools and definitions

We first define two local and global decoupling constants. We show that these decoupling constants are equivalent by linearly approximating the regions where f has Fourier support and using that Fourier restriction to polygons are bounded in L^p .

For a square *B* centered at *c* with side length *R*, let $w_{B,E}(x) := (1 + \frac{|x-c|}{R})^{-E}$. Let η be a Schwartz function such that $\eta \ge 1_{B(0,1)}$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\eta}) \subset B(0,1)$. For a square *B* centered at *c* of side length *R*, we let $\eta_B(x) := \eta(\frac{x-c}{R})$.

If $J \in P_{\delta}([0, 1])$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let

$$\theta_{J,n} := \{ (s, s^2 + t) : s \in J, |t| \le \frac{n}{2} \delta^2 \}$$
(4.1)

and $\Theta_n := \bigcup_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1/2])} \theta_{J,n}$. We now define the following two decoupling constants. **Definition 4.1.1.** Let $D_{p,n,E}^L(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq D_{p,n,E}^{L}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_{J,n}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all f with Fourier support in Θ_n and squares B of side length δ^{-2} .

Let $D_{p,n}^G(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$||f||_p \leq D_{p,n}^G(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} ||f_{\theta_{J,n}}||_p^2)^{1/2}$$

for all f with Fourier support in Θ_n .

We reintroduce the parallelograms from the discussion above Lemma 2.3.1 though this time instead of a 10 δ neighborhood we use an $n\delta^2$ neighborhood (we also have switched notation slightly so that $\delta^{1/2}$ and δ in Chapter 2 have become δ and δ^2 , but this does not change any of our results). If $J = [n_J\delta, (n_J + 1)\delta] \in P_{\delta}([0, 1])$, let L_J be the line connecting the point $(n_J\delta, n_J^2\delta^2)$ and $((n_J + 1)\delta, (n_J + 1)^2\delta^2)$. Explicitly we have

$$L_J(x) := \delta(2n_J + 1)(x - n_J\delta) + n_J^2\delta^2.$$

For $J \in P_{\delta}([0, 1])$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, let

$$\theta'_{J,n} := \{(s, L_J(s) + t) : s \in J, |t| \leq \frac{n}{2}\delta^2\}.$$

Pictorially, $\theta'_{J,n}$ is a parallelogram with sides parallel to L_J of height $n\delta^2$. Finally, we let $\Theta'_n := \bigcup_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \theta'_{J,n}$.

We now define two more decoupling constants we will consider which are the parallelogram versions of Definition 4.1.1.

Definition 4.1.2. Let $D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)} \leq D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta'_{J,n}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all f with Fourier support in Θ'_n and squares B of side length δ^{-2} .

Let $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|f\|_p \leq D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta'_{J,n}}\|_p^2)^{1/2}$$

for all f with Fourier support in Θ'_n .

In Lemmas 4.1.5-4.1.6 we show that no matter how we modify the *n* and *E* parameter, the local and global decoupling constants defined in Definition 4.1.2 are equivalent. The proof will make use that $\theta'_{J,n}$ is a parallelogram, in particular, we will often make use that Fourier restriction to a parallelogram is bounded as an operator on L^p . We also have the following reverse triangle inequality which will prove to be useful. **Lemma 4.1.3** (Reverse triangle inequality). Let θ and θ' be two parallelograms with disjoint interior. Then for 1 ,

$$\|f_{\theta}\|_p + \|f_{\theta'}\|_p \sim_p \|f_{\theta \cup \theta'}\|_p$$

Proof. Since θ and θ' are disjoint, $f_{\theta \cup \theta'} = f_{\theta} + f_{\theta'}$ and hence $||f_{\theta \cup \theta'}||_p \leq ||f_{\theta}||_p + ||f_{\theta'}||_p$ from the triangle inequality. We observe that $f_{\theta} = (f_{\theta \cup \theta'})_{\theta}$ and $f_{\theta'} = (f_{\theta \cup \theta'})_{\theta'}$ and so since Fourier restriction to a parallelogram is bounded in L^p for 1 ,

$$\|f_{\theta}\|_{p} + \|f_{\theta'}\|_{p} = \|(f_{\theta\cup\theta'})_{\theta}\|_{p} + \|(f_{\theta\cup\theta'})_{\theta'}\|_{p} \lesssim \|f_{\theta\cup\theta'}\|_{p}.$$

This completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.3.

4.1.2 Equivalence of parallelogram decoupling constants

We first show that we have many equivalences for the parallelogram decoupling constants. The restriction to $2 \le p \le 6$ is not important and is just there to get rid of the dependence on p.

Lemma 4.1.4 (Global equivalence for $n \neq m$). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and $n \neq m$,

$$D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) \sim_{n,m} D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta).$$

Proof. It suffices to show the case when n = 1. Since m > 1, $\Theta'_1 \subset \Theta'_m$ and hence if f is Fourier supported in $\Theta'_1(h)$, we then have

$$||f||_p \leq D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta) (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} ||f_{\theta'_{J,m}}||_p^2)^{1/2}.$$

However since f is Fourier supported in Θ'_1 , $f_{\theta'_{J,m}} = f_{\theta'_{J,1}}$ and hence $D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta) \leq D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta)$.

The reverse inequality will make use of Lemma 4.1.3. The idea is to partition Θ'_m into m translates of Θ'_1 , apply $D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta)$ to each of these translates, and then sum them together using Lemma 4.1.3 (losing a constant depending on m).

Let f be Fourier supported in Θ'_m . For each $J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])$, we can write

$$\theta'_{J,m} = \bigcup_{i=1}^m \theta'_{J,1} + (0, c_i)$$

for some c_i and the union is a disjoint union (except at the boundary). Explicitly if m is odd, then we can take $\{c_i\} = \{\frac{k\delta^2}{2} : k \text{ even}, |k| \leq m-1\}$ and if m is even, then we can take $\{c_i\} = \{\frac{k\delta^2}{2} : k \text{ odd}, |k| \leq m-1\}$.

Next Lemma 4.1.3 implies that

$$\|f_{\theta'_{J,m}}\|_p \sim_m \sum_{i=1}^m \|f_{\theta'_{J,1}+(0,c_i)}\|_p$$

where here we have removed the dependence on p because $2 \le p \le 6$. Therefore

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{\theta'_{J,1}+(0,c_i)}\|_p^2 \lesssim (\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{\theta'_{J,1}+(0,c_i)}\|_p)^2 \lesssim_m \|f_{\theta'_{J,m}}\|_p^2.$$
(4.2)

With this, we write $f = \sum_{i=1}^{m} f_{\Theta'_1 + (0,c_i)}$ and estimate

$$\|f\|_{p} \lesssim_{m} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \|f_{\Theta_{1}^{\prime}+(0,c_{i})}\|_{p}^{2}\right)^{1/2} \lesssim D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta_{J,1}^{\prime}+(0,c_{i})}\|_{p}^{2}\right)^{1/2}$$

Interchanging sums and then applying (4.2) then shows $D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta) \leq_m D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta)$. This completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.4.

Lemma 4.1.5 (Local-global equivalence for the same n). For $2 \le p \le 6$,

$$D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta).$$

Proof. We first show that $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) \leq_{n,E} D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$. Let \mathcal{B} be a partition of \mathbb{R}^2 into squares of side length δ^{-2} . Since $\sum_{B\in\mathcal{B}} 1_B = 1$, convolving both sides with $w_{B(0,\delta^{-2}),E}$ and using convolution properties of $w_{B,E}$ (Lemma 2.2.1) shows that $\sum_{B\in\mathcal{B}} w_{B,E} \leq_E 1$.

Let f be Fourier supported in Θ'_n . Then

$$\|f\|_{p}^{p} = \sum_{B \in \mathcal{B}} \|f\|_{L^{p}(B)}^{p} \leqslant D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta)^{p} \sum_{B \in \mathcal{B}} (\sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta'_{J,n}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2})^{p/2},$$

Using Minkowski (and that $p \ge 2$) to interchange the l_J^2 and l_B^p bounds this by

$$\left(\sum_{J\in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta'_{J,n}}\|^{2}_{L^{p}(\sum_{B\in\mathcal{B}} w_{B,E})}\right)^{p/2}.$$

Finally using that $\sum_{B \in \mathcal{B}} w_{B,E} \leq_E 1$ then shows that $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) \leq_E D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$ where here we have used that $p \leq 6$ to remove the dependence on p.

From Lemma 4.1.4, to show the reverse inequality, it suffices to show

$$D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta,h) \lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,10n}^{par,G}(\delta,h).$$

Let f be Fourier supported in Θ'_n . We have

$$\|f\|_{L^{p}(B)}^{2} \leq_{E} \|f_{\theta'_{[0,\delta],n}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2} + \|\eta_{B}f_{\theta'_{[\delta,1-\delta],n}}\|_{p}^{2} + \|f_{\theta'_{[1-\delta,1],n}}\|_{L^{p}(w_{B,E})}^{2}$$

Since $n/2 + 1 \leq 10n$, the Fourier transform of $\eta_B f_{\theta'_{[\delta,1-\delta],n}}$ is supported in Θ'_{10n} . Observe that for $J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])$,

$$(\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_r,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} = \begin{cases} (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_r,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} & \text{if } J = [0, \delta] \\ (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} + (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_r,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} & \text{if } J = [\delta, 2\delta] \\ \sum_{I \in \{J_\ell, J, J_r\}} (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_r,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} & \text{if } J \in P_{\delta}([2\delta, 1 - 2\delta]) \\ (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_\ell,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} + (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} & \text{if } J = [1 - 2\delta, 1 - \delta] \\ (\eta_B f_{\theta'_{J_\ell,n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}} & \text{if } J = [1 - \delta, 1] \end{cases}$$

where J_{ℓ} and J_r are the intervals to the left and right of J, respectively. Applying the definition of $D_{p,10n}^{par,G}(\delta)$ gives

$$\|\eta_B f_{\theta'_{[\delta,1-\delta],n}}\|_p^2 \leqslant D_{p,10n}^{par,G}(\delta)^2 \sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|(\eta_B f_{\theta'_{[\delta,1-\delta],n}})_{\theta'_{J,10n}}\|_p^2$$

Using (4.3) and the observations that $\theta'_{J,10n}(h)$ is a parallelogram and Fourier restriction to a parallelogram is bounded in L^p , the above is

$$\lesssim D_{p,10n}^{par,G}(\delta)^2 \sum_{J \in P_{\delta}([0,1])} \|f_{\theta'_{J,n}}\|_{L^{p}(\eta_{B})}^{2}$$

where we have removed the dependence on p because $p \leq 6$. Since $\eta_B \leq_E w_{B,E}$, it then follows that $D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \leq_E D_{p,10n}^{par,G}(\delta)$. This completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.5.

Corollary 4.1.6 (Local equivalence for $n \neq m$, fixed E). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and $n \neq m$,

$$D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{n,m,E} D_{p,m,E}^{par,L}(\delta).$$

Proof. From Lemma 4.1.5, $D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta)$. From Lemma 4.1.4, $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) \sim_{n,m} D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta)$. Applying Lemma 4.1.5 again then completes the proof of Corollary 4.1.6.

Corollary 4.1.7 (Local equivalence for $n \neq m$, $E_1 \neq E_2$). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$, $n \neq m$, $E_1 \neq E_2$,

$$D_{p,n,E_1}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{n,m,E_1,E_2} D_{p,m,E_2}^{par,L}(\delta).$$

Proof. Corollary 4.1.6 and Lemma 4.1.5 gives that

$$D_{p,n,E_1}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{n,m,E_1} D_{p,m,E_1}^{par,L}(\delta) \sim_{m,E_1} D_{p,m}^{par,G}(\delta) \sim_{m,E_2} D_{p,m,E_2}^{par,L}(\delta)$$

which completes the proof of Corollary 4.1.7.

4.1.3 Equivalence of decoupling constants

We have the following lemma which will help us relate the parallelogram decoupling constants from Definition 4.1.2 to the decoupling constants we have defined in Definition 4.1.1.

Lemma 4.1.8. For $n \ge 2$, we have

$$\theta'_{J,1} \subset \theta_{J,n} \subset \theta'_{J,2n}.$$

Proof. For $s \in J$, recall from (2.35) that

$$|s^2 - L_J(s)| \le \delta^2/4.$$

Since $n \ge 2$, for $s \in J$,

$$L_J(s) + \frac{\delta^2}{2} \leqslant s^2 + \frac{n\delta^2}{2} \leqslant L_J(s) + n\delta^2$$

which completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.8.

Like the parallelogram decoupling constant equivalence, we have the following three equivalences. The purpose of introducing the parallelogram decoupling constants was because Fourier restriction to $\theta_{J,n}$ is not a bounded operator on L^p , however, Fourier restriction to $\theta'_{J,n}$ is a bounded operator on L^p .

Lemma 4.1.9 (Local-global equivalence for the same n). For $2 \le p \le 6$ and $n \ge 2$,

$$D_{p,n,E}^L(\delta) \sim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^G(\delta).$$

Proof. Since $n \ge 2$, Lemma 4.1.8 implies $\Theta'_1 \subset \Theta_n \subset \Theta'_{2n}$ and hence

$$D_{p,1,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \leqslant D_{p,n,E}^{L}(\delta) \leqslant D_{p,2n,E}^{par,L}(\delta) \lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,1,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$$

$$(4.4)$$

where the last inequality we have used Corollary 4.1.6. Using similar reasoning and Lemma 4.1.4 gives

$$D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta) \leqslant D_{p,n}^G(\delta) \leqslant D_{p,2n}^{par,G}(\delta) \lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta).$$

$$(4.5)$$

Finally combining these two estimates and Lemma 4.1.5 imply $D_{p,n,E}^{L}(\delta) \sim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^{G}(\delta)$ which completes the proof of Lemma 4.1.9.

Corollary 4.1.10 (Global equivalence for $n \neq m$). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and $n \neq m$ with $n, m \geq 2$,

$$D_{p,n}^G(\delta) \sim_{n,m} D_{p,m}^G(\delta).$$

Proof. It suffices to show that for each $n \ge 2$, $D_{p,n}^G(\delta) \sim_n D_{p,1}^{par,G}(\delta)$. But this exactly was shown in (4.5).

Corollary 4.1.11 (Local equivalence for $n \neq m$, fixed E). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and $n \neq m$ with $n, m \geq 2$,

$$D_{p,n,E}^L(\delta) \sim_{n,m,E} D_{p,m,E}^L(\delta).$$

Proof. For each $n \ge 2$, it is enough to show that $D_{p,n,E}^{L}(\delta) \sim_{n} D_{p,1,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$ but this is what was shown in (4.4).

Corollary 4.1.12 (Local equivalence for $n \neq m$, $E_1 \neq E_2$). For $2 \leq p \leq 6$ and $n \neq m$ with $n, m \geq 2$,

$$D_{p,n,E_1}^L(\delta) \sim_{n,m,E_1,E_2} D_{p,m,E_2}^L(\delta).$$

Proof. From Corollary 4.1.11, it is enough to show that $D_{p,m,E_1}^L(\delta) \sim_{m,E_1,E_2} D_{p,m,E_2}^L(\delta)$. But this follows immediately from Lemma 4.1.9.

Note that $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$ defined in Definition 2.3.3 is the same as $D_{p,10,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$ in this section. Therefore we have shown that for $2 \leq p \leq 6$, all the following constants are equivalent (up to constants that depend on all parameters of the constants involved except for p and δ):

- (a) Extension operator based, spatially localized:
 - $D_{p,E}(\delta)$, defined in (2.1), used in [BD17]
 - $\widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$, defined in (2.2)
 - $\overline{D}_p(\delta)$, defined in Definition 2.3.3

(b) Fourier based, spatially localized:

- $\hat{D}_{p,E}(\delta)$, defined in Definition 2.3.3, equal to $D_{p,10,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$
- $D_{p,n,E}^{L}(\delta)$, defined in Definition 4.1.1
- $D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\delta)$, defined in Definition 4.1.2

(c) Fourier based, global:

- $D_{p,n}^G(\delta)$, defined in Definition 4.1.1, used in [BD15]
- $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta)$, defined in Definition 4.1.2

That is, take any number of the eight above decoupling constants, for example, $D_{p,E_1}(\delta)$, $D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta)$, $\overline{D}_p(\delta)$, and $D_{p,m,E_2}^L(\delta)$ (also assume $n, m \ge 2$). Then our results show that for $2 \le p \le 6$,

$$D_{p,E_1}(\delta) \sim_{n,E_1} D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\delta) \sim_n \overline{D}_p(\delta) \sim_{m,E_2} D_{p,m,E_2}^L(\delta).$$

4.2 Monotonicity of the parabola decoupling constant

One immediate application of the results in Section 4.1, is that we can show that the decoupling constant, however defined in the list above is essentially a decreasing function of δ . The way we show Corollary 4.2.2 is not the most efficient way to show this for a particular decoupling constant. If one is willing to work with weight functions $w_{B,E}$, $\tilde{w}_{B,E}$, η_B directly one can show the applicable monotonicity result using a calculation that is similar to the proof of parabolic rescaling (Section 2.4). However, having done the heavy lifting in Section 4.1 in showing many decoupling constants are equivalent we present a nice application of our work. This application of the equivalence of decoupling constants shows the power of such an equivalence since often certain calculations are easier with some decoupling constants while others are much more tedious.

The main proposition we claim is the following:

Proposition 4.2.1. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $2 \leq p \leq 6$, we have

$$D_{p,2}^G(\frac{1}{N}) \le D_{p,2}^G(\frac{1}{N+1})$$

where $D_{p,n}^G(\delta)$ is as in Definition 4.1.1.

Proof. This proof is a change of variables. To emphasize the interval and the scale δ , instead of using the notation $\theta_{J,2}$ from (4.1), we will let $T(\delta, I)$ be the piece of δ^2 -tube living above $I \subset [0, 1]$. That is

$$T(\delta, I) := \{ (s, s^2 + t) : s \in I, |t| \le \delta^2 \} (= \theta_{I,2}).$$

Suppose f is Fourier supported in a $1/N^2$ -tube of the parabola living above [0, 1]. We have

$$f(x) = \int_{T(\frac{1}{N}, [0,1])} \hat{f}(\xi) e(x \cdot \xi) d\xi$$

= $(\frac{N+1}{N})^3 \int_{T(\frac{1}{N+1}, [0, \frac{N}{N+1}])} \hat{f}(\frac{N+1}{N}\eta_1, \frac{(N+1)^2}{N^2}\eta_2) e(x_1 \frac{N+1}{N}\eta_1 + x_2 \frac{(N+1)^2}{N^2}\eta_2) d\eta$

Therefore

$$||f||_p = \left(\frac{N+1}{N}\right)^{3-3/p} ||g_N||_p \tag{4.6}$$

with

$$g_N(x) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \widehat{f}(\frac{N+1}{N}\eta_1, \frac{(N+1)^2}{N^2}\eta_2) \mathbb{1}_{T(\frac{1}{N+1}, [0, \frac{N}{N+1}])}(\eta) e(\eta \cdot x) \, d\eta$$

Note that g_N is Fourier supported in a $1/(N + 1)^2$ -tube of the parabola living above [0, 1]. Then

$$\left(\frac{N+1}{N}\right)^{3-3/p} \|g_N\|_p \leqslant \left(\frac{N+1}{N}\right)^{3-3/p} D_{p,2}^G \left(\frac{1}{N+1}\right) \left(\sum_{\substack{0 \leqslant i \leqslant N\\\tau \in T(\frac{1}{N+1}, [\frac{i}{N+1}, \frac{i+1}{N+1}])}} \|(g_N)_\tau\|_p^2\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (4.7)

For i < N,

$$\widehat{(g_N)}_{\tau}(\eta) = \widehat{f}(\frac{N+1}{N}\eta_1, \frac{(N+1)^2}{N^2}\eta_2)1_{\tau}(\eta)$$

and when i = N, $(g_N)_{\tau} = 0$. Undoing the change of variables used to obtain (4.6) gives that (4.7) is equal to

$$D_{p,2}^G(\frac{1}{N+1}) (\sum_{\substack{0 \le j \le N-1\\ \tau \in T(\frac{1}{N}, [\frac{i}{N}, \frac{i+1}{N}])}} \|f_{\tau}\|_p^2)^{1/2}.$$

Applying the definition of $D_{p,2}^G(1/N)$ then completes the proof of Proposition 4.2.1.

The following corollary follows from combining the above proposition and the results in Section 4.1.

Corollary 4.2.2. For $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $2 \leq p \leq 6$, the following eight inequalities are true:

$$\begin{split} D_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_E D_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ \widetilde{D}_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_E D_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_E \widehat{D}_{p,E}(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,n,E}^{par,L}(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ D_{p,n,E}^L(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,n,E}^L(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ \overline{D}_p(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^L(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_{n,E} D_{p,n}^{par,G}(\frac{1}{N+1}) \\ D_{p,n}^G(\frac{1}{N}) &\lesssim_n D_{p,n}^G(\frac{1}{N+1}). \end{split}$$

We can obtain a similar result when applying this idea to the observation that $D_{p,2}^G(\delta)$ is almost multiplicative, that is, for $\delta_1, \delta_2 \in \mathbb{N}^{-1}$, $D_{p,2}^G(\delta_1\delta_2) \leq D_{p,2}^G(\delta_1)D_{p,2}^G(\delta_2)$, however we omit the proof here.

4.3 An elementary proof of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola

Having seen two iterative proofs of l^2L^4 decoupling for the parabola, we now give a direct proof. This is the only nontrivial parabola decoupling theorem that can be proven directly (as far as the author knows). The proof is similar in spirit to the short proof of discrete Fourier restriction in L^4 for (n, n^2) that Bourgain gives in Proposition 2.1 of [Bou93].

For an interval $I \subset [0, 1]$, let

$$(\mathcal{E}_I g)(x) = \int_I g(\xi) e(\xi x_1 + \xi^2 x_2) d\xi$$

where $e(x) = e^{2\pi i x}$. We will prove that not only can we decouple [0, 1] into intervals of length δ at some O(1) cost, but also we can decouple [0, 1] into an arbitrary collection of intervals at an O(1) cost. Let $\mathcal{I} = \{I_i\}_{i=1}^N$ be an arbitrary partition of [0, 1] into N intervals. Let

$$R = (\min_{I \in \mathcal{I}} |I|)^{-2}$$

and if B is a square of side length R centered at c_B , let

$$w_B(x) = (1 + \frac{|x - c_B|}{R})^{-100}$$

Let η be a Schwartz function such that $\operatorname{supp}(\widehat{\eta}) \subset B(0,1)$ and $1_{B(0,1)} \leq \eta$. For a square $B = B(c_B, R)$, let $\eta_B(x) = \eta(\frac{x-c_B}{R})$.

Proposition 4.3.1. For all $g: [0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ and all squares B of side length R,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^4(B)} \lesssim (\sum_{I \in \mathcal{I}} \|\mathcal{E}_Ig\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^{1/2}$$
(4.8)

where the implied constant is an absolute constant independent of the partition \mathcal{I} .

Remark 4.3.2. It is an open problem whether an analogous statement is true with L^4 replaced with L^p for some other p < 6 even if we accept an $(\#\mathcal{I})^{\varepsilon}$ loss.

Proof. Since $g:[0,1] \to \mathbb{C}$ is arbitrary, we may assume that B is centered at the origin. We have

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^4(B)}^4 = \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g \cdot \overline{\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g}\|_{L^2(B)}^2.$$

Then

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,1]}g\|_{L^{4}(B)}^{4} \lesssim \|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i,j \leq N \\ |i-j| \leq 1}} \mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\overline{\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g}\|_{L^{2}(B)}^{2} + \|\sum_{\substack{1 \leq i,j \leq N \\ |i-j| > 1}} \mathcal{E}_{I_{i}}g\overline{\mathcal{E}_{I_{j}}g}\|_{L^{2}(B)}^{2}.$$
(4.9)

We analyze the first expression in (4.6). We have

$$|\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le N \\ |i-j| \le 1}} \mathcal{E}_{I_i} g \overline{\mathcal{E}_{I_j} g} \|_{L^2(B)}^2 \leq (\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le N \\ |i-j| \le 1}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_i} g\|_{L^4(B)} \|\mathcal{E}_{I_j} g\|_{L^4(B)})^2 \lesssim (\sum_{I \in \mathcal{I}} \|\mathcal{E}_{I} g\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^2$$
(4.10)

where the last inequality is by Cauchy-Schwarz. We now analyze the second term in (4.9). Since $1_B \leq 1_{10B} \leq \eta_{10B}$, it suffices to analyze

$$\|\sum_{\substack{1 \le i, j \le N \\ |i-j| > 1}} \mathcal{E}_{I_i} g \overline{\mathcal{E}_{I_j} g} \|_{L^2(\eta_{10B})}^2$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{1 \le i, i', j, j' \le N \\ |i-j| > 1, |i'-j'| > 1}} \int_{I_i \times I_j \times I_{i'} \times I_{j'}} g(\xi_1) \overline{g(\xi_2) g(\xi_3)} g(\xi_4) \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} e(\cdots) \eta_{10B}(x) \, dx \, d\xi$$
(4.11)

where the expression in $e(\cdots)$ is

$$(\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4)x_1 + (\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2)x_2.$$

We claim the integral in ξ above is equal to 0 if |i - i'| > 1 or |j - j'| > 1 and so we can add the conditions that $|i - i'| \leq 1$ and $|j - j'| \leq 1$ to the sum in (4.11).

We only show that case when |i - i'| > 1, the case when |j - j'| > 1 is similar. Since η_{10B} has Fourier support on B(0, 1/(10R)), for the integral in (4.11) to not be 0, it is necessary that

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4| &\leq \frac{1}{10R} \\ |\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2| &\leq \frac{1}{10R} \end{aligned}$$
(4.12)

for all $\xi_1 \in I_i$, $\xi_2 \in I_j$, $\xi_3 \in I_{i'}$, and $\xi_4 \in I_{j'}$ and therefore we can insert this condition into the integral in the ξ -variables. Since |i - j| > 1, |i' - j'| > 1, and |i - i'| > 1, we have $|\xi_1 - \xi_2| > R^{-1/2}$, $|\xi_3 - \xi_4| > R^{-1/2}$, and $|\xi_1 - \xi_3| > R^{-1/2}$, respectively. We claim that these inequalities are incompatible with (4.12). **Lemma 4.3.3.** Suppose $0 \leq \xi_1, \xi_2, \xi_3, \xi_4 \leq 1$. The system

$$|\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4| \le \frac{1}{10R} \tag{4.13}$$

$$\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2 | \leqslant \frac{1}{10R}$$
(4.14)

$$|\xi_3 - \xi_4| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}} \tag{4.15}$$

$$|\xi_1 - \xi_3| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}} \tag{4.16}$$

has no solution.

Proof. Suppose there was a solution to the above system of inequalities. Note that

$$\xi_1^2 - \xi_2^2 - \xi_3^2 + \xi_4^2 = (\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4)(\xi_1 + \xi_2) + (\xi_3 - \xi_4)(\xi_1 + \xi_2 - \xi_3 - \xi_4)$$

and so combining this with (4.13), (4.14), (4.15), the triangle inequality, and that $\xi_i \in [0, 1]$ gives

$$\frac{1}{R^{1/2}}|\xi_1+\xi_2-\xi_3-\xi_4| \leq \frac{1}{10R}+2|\xi_1-\xi_2-\xi_3+\xi_4| \leq \frac{3}{10R}$$

Therefore

$$|\xi_1 + \xi_2 - \xi_3 - \xi_4| \le \frac{3}{10R^{1/2}}.$$
(4.17)

Since we are not given the relative positions of the ξ_i , we have the following four cases.

(i) $\xi_3 > \xi_1$ and $\xi_2 > \xi_4$: Using (4.13), positivity of $\xi_3 - \xi_1$ and $\xi_2 - \xi_4$, and (4.16) gives

$$\frac{1}{10R} \ge |\xi_3 - \xi_1 + \xi_4 - \xi_2| = |\xi_3 - \xi_1| + |\xi_4 - \xi_2| \ge |\xi_3 - \xi_1| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}}$$

which is impossible.

(*ii*) $\xi_1 > \xi_3$ and $\xi_4 > \xi_2$: Using (4.13), positivity of $\xi_1 - \xi_3$ and $\xi_4 - \xi_2$, and (4.16) gives

$$\frac{1}{10R} \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_2 - \xi_3 + \xi_4| = |\xi_1 - \xi_3| + |\xi_4 - \xi_2| \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_3| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}}$$

which is impossible.

(*iii*) $\xi_3 > \xi_1$ and $\xi_4 > \xi_2$: Using (4.17), positivity of $\xi_3 - \xi_1$ and $\xi_4 - \xi_2$, and (4.16) gives

$$\frac{3}{10R^{1/2}} \ge |\xi_3 - \xi_1 + \xi_4 - \xi_2| = |\xi_3 - \xi_1| + |\xi_4 - \xi_2| \ge |\xi_3 - \xi_1| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}}$$

which is impossible.

(*iv*) $\xi_1 > \xi_3$ and $\xi_2 > \xi_4$: Using (4.17), positivity of $\xi_1 - \xi_3$ and $\xi_2 - \xi_4$, and (4.16) gives $\frac{3}{10R^{1/2}} \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_3 + \xi_2 - \xi_4| = |\xi_1 - \xi_3| + |\xi_2 - \xi_4| \ge |\xi_1 - \xi_3| > \frac{1}{R^{1/2}}$

Thus we have shown the inequalities (4.13)-(4.16) to be incompatible. This completes the proof of Lemma 4.3.3.

Therefore Lemma 4.3.3 implies (4.11) is

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{1 \leq i, i', j, j' \leq N \\ |i-j|>1, |i'-j'|>1 \\ |i-i'| \leq 1, |j-j'| \leq 1}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i} g \overline{\mathcal{E}_{I_j} g \mathcal{E}_{I_{i'}} g} \mathcal{E}_{I_{j'}} g |\eta_{10B} dx$$

$$\leq \sum_{1 \leq i, j \leq N} \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} |\mathcal{E}_{I_i} g|^2 |\mathcal{E}_{I_j} g|^2 w_B dx \leq (\sum_{I \in \mathcal{I}} \|\mathcal{E}_I g\|_{L^4(w_B)}^2)^2$$

$$(4.18)$$

where the second inequality is by Cauchy-Schwarz and that $\eta_{10B} \leq w_{10B} \leq w_B$ and the last inequality is by Hölder's inequality. Combining (4.9), (4.10), and (4.18) then proves (4.8). This completes the proof of Proposition 4.3.1.

4.4 Small ball l^2 decoupling for the paraboloid

Decoupling for the paraboloid as stated in 1.2 has an $L^p(B)$ where B is a cube in \mathbb{R}^n of side length δ^{-2} . This is a natural scale since we are decoupling into frequency cubes in $[0,1]^{n-1}$ of side length δ and hence the wavepackets that arise are of size $\delta^{-1} \times \cdots \times \delta^{-1} \times \delta^{-2}$.

One can ask perhaps what happens in l^2 decoupling for the paraboloid when we consider *B* to be a ball of radius δ^{-r} with $1 \leq r < 2$. The following result was communicated to the author by Hong Wang in January 2018. This a purely expository chapter and the author claims no originality in the argument below. All errors are my own misunderstanding of her argument.

For $Q \subset [0,1]^{n-1}$ and $g: [0,1]^{n-1} \to \mathbb{C}$, define the extension operator

$$(\mathcal{E}_Q g)(x) := \int_Q g(\xi) e(\xi_1 x_1 + \dots + \xi_{n-1} x_{n-1} + |\xi|^2 x_n) d\xi = \int_Q g(\xi) e(\xi \cdot \underline{x} + |\xi|^2 x_n) d\xi$$

Also define $\mathcal{E}g := \mathcal{E}_{[0,1]^{n-1}}g$. We will ignore any weight functions or integrality issues that may arise in this analysis and freely make use of the uncertainty principle. Given a cube Q, let $P_{\delta}(Q)$ be the partition of Q into cubes of side length δ .

Fix $1 \leq r < 2$ and $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$, let $D_p(\delta, r)$ be the best constant such that

$$\|\mathcal{E}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})} \leq D_{p}(\delta, r) (\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{Q}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
(4.19)

for all $g: [0,1]^{n-1} \to \mathbb{C}$ and all cubes $B_r \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of side length δ^{-r} . Note that the standard Bourgain-Demeter decoupling for the paraboloid [BD15] gives that $1 \leq D_p(\delta, 2) \leq_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon}$. We claim the following result.

Proposition 4.4.1. For $1 \le r < 2$ and $2 \le p \le \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$, $\delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)} \le D_p(\delta, r) \le_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)-\varepsilon}$.

In particular, Proposition 4.4.1 implies that at spatial scales smaller than δ^{-2} , to decouple we must lose some negative power of δ . For the lower bound, we exhibit a specific g (in particular $g = 1_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}}$) and compute both sides of (4.19). For the upper bound, we reduce the problem using the uncertainty principle to be a problem about the Fourier transform.

4.4.1 The lower bound

Without loss of generality we may assume that $B_r = [0, \delta^{-r}]^n$. Let $g := 1_{[0, \delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}}$ (if B_r is a different cube in \mathbb{R}^n of side length δ^{-r} , then we can multiply g by an appropriate phase). We then have

$$(\mathcal{E}1_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}})(x) = \int_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}} e(\xi \cdot \underline{x} + |\xi|^2 x_n) d\xi$$
$$= \delta^{(n-1)r/2} \int_{[0,1]^{n-1}} e(\eta \cdot \delta^{r/2} \underline{x} + \delta^r |\eta|^2 x_n) d\eta.$$

Another change of variables then gives

$$\|\mathcal{E}1_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}}\|_{L^p(B_r)} = \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} \|\mathcal{E}1_{[0,1]^{n-1}}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1}\times[0,1])}.$$
(4.20)

Since $|\mathcal{E}1_{[0,1]^{n-1}}|$ is essentially constant on $1 \times 1 \times \cdots \times 1$ boxes, for $x \in [0, \delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1} \times [0, 1]$ we can replace $|(\mathcal{E}1_{[0,1]^{n-1}})(x)|$ by $|(\mathcal{E}1_{[0,1]^{n-1}})(\underline{x}, 0)|$ and hence (4.20) is essentially the same as

$$\delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} \|\check{\mathbf{1}}_{[0,1]^{n-1}}\|_{L^{p}([0,\delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1})} = \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} \|\check{\mathbf{1}}_{[0,1]}\|_{L^{p}([0,\delta^{-r/2}])}^{n-1}.$$

The same computations give that the right hand side of (4.19) is

$$(\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,1]^{n-1})} \| \mathcal{E}_{Q} \mathbf{1}_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}} \|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2} = (\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1})} \| \mathcal{E} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2}$$
$$= \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} (\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta^{1}-r/2}([0,1]^{n-1})} \| \mathcal{E} \mathbf{1}_{Q} \|_{L^{p}([0,\delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1} \times [0,1])}^{2})^{1/2}$$

Note that here we have implicitly used that r < 2 since this implies $\delta^{1-r/2} < 1$. From the uncertainty principle, this is once again essentially

$$\begin{split} \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} &(\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta^{1-r/2}}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\check{1}_Q\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1})}^2)^{1/2} \\ &= \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})} \delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})\frac{n-1}{2}} \|\check{1}_{[0,\delta^{1-r/2}]^{n-1}}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}]^{n-1})} \\ &= \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})-(1-\frac{r}{2})\frac{n-1}{2}} \|\check{1}_{[0,\delta^{1-r/2}]}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}])}^{n-1} \\ &= \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})-(1-\frac{r}{2})\frac{n-1}{2}} \|\check{1}_{[0,\delta^{1-r/2}]}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}])}^n \\ &= \delta^{\frac{r}{2}(n-1-\frac{n+1}{p})-(1-\frac{r}{2})\frac{n-1}{2}+(1-\frac{r}{2})(1-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)} \|\check{1}_{[0,1]}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{1-r}])}^{n-1} \end{split}$$

Therefore

$$\sup_{g,B_r} \frac{\|\mathcal{E}g\|_{L^p(B_r)}}{(\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\mathcal{E}_Q g\|_{L^p(B_r)}^2)^{1/2}} \ge \delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)} (\frac{\|\check{\mathbf{1}}_{[0,1]}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r/2}])}}{\|\check{\mathbf{1}}_{[0,1]}\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{1-r}])}})^{n-1}$$

Since r/2 > r - 1, the ratio of L^p norms is ≥ 1 which then proves the lower bound of Proposition 4.4.1.

4.4.2 The upper bound

As in the lower bound we will apply a (slightly different) change of variables and the uncertainty principle to transform the problem into a problem about the Fourier transform. We want to show that

$$\|\mathcal{E}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)-\varepsilon} (\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{Q}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

for all $g: [0,1]^{n-1} \to \mathbb{C}$ and all cubes $B_r \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of side length δ^{-2} . Since $2 \leq p \leq \frac{2(n+1)}{n-1}$, decoupling for the paraboloid gives that

$$\|\mathcal{E}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})} \lesssim_{\varepsilon} \delta^{-\varepsilon} (\sum_{Q' \in P_{\delta^{r/2}}([0,1]^{n-1})} \|\mathcal{E}_{Q'}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$

Therefore it remains to show that for each $Q' \in P_{\delta^{r/2}}([0,1]^{n-1})$,

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{Q'}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})} \lesssim \delta^{-(1-\frac{r}{2})(\frac{1}{2}-\frac{1}{p})(n-1)} (\sum_{Q \in P_{\delta}(Q')} \|\mathcal{E}_{Q}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2}.$$
(4.21)

Without loss of generality (in particular ignoring issues with weights), we may assume that $Q' = [0, \delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}$. Let $g_{\delta}(x) := g(\delta x)$. A change of variables gives that

$$(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}}g)(x) = \int_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}} g(\xi)e(\xi \cdot \underline{x} + |\xi|^2 x_n) d\xi$$
$$= \delta^{n-1} \int_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}} g_{\delta}(\eta)e(\eta \cdot \delta \underline{x} + |\eta|^2 \delta^2 x_n) d\eta$$

and hence

$$\|\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1}}g\|_{L^p(B_r)} = \delta^{(n-1)-\frac{n+1}{p}} \|\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}}g_\delta\|_{L^p([0,\delta^{-r+1}]^{n-1}\times[0,\delta^{-r+2}])}.$$
(4.22)

From the uncertainty principle, $|(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}}g_{\delta})(x)|$ is essentially constant on $\delta^{1-r/2} \times \cdots \times \delta^{1-r/2} \times \delta^{2-r}$ boxes. Therefore for $x \in [0, \delta^{-r+1}]^{n-1} \times [0, \delta^{-r+2}]$, $|(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}}g_{\delta})(x)|$ is essentially equal to $|(\mathcal{E}_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}}g_{\delta})(\underline{x}, 0)|$ and hence (4.22) becomes essentially equal to

$$\delta^{\frac{2-r}{p}} \times \delta^{(n-1)-\frac{n+1}{p}} \| \int_{[0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1}} g_{\delta}(\eta) e(\eta \cdot y) \, d\eta \|_{L^{p}_{y}([0,\delta^{-r+1}]^{n-1})} d\eta \|_{L^{p}_{y}([0,\delta^{-r+1}]^{n-1})}$$

The same reasoning then shows that

$$(\sum_{\substack{Q \in P_{\delta}([0,\delta^{r/2}]^{n-1})}} \|\mathcal{E}_{Q}g\|_{L^{p}(B_{r})}^{2})^{1/2} \\ \approx \delta^{\frac{2-r}{p}} \times \delta^{(n-1)-\frac{n+1}{p}} (\sum_{\substack{Q \in P_{1}([0,\delta^{-1+r/2}]^{n-1})}} \|\int_{Q} g_{\delta}(\eta)e(\eta \cdot y) \, d\eta\|_{L^{p}_{y}([0,\delta^{-r+1}]^{n-1})}^{2})^{1/2}$$

Therefore since $r - 1 \ge 0$, (4.21) then follows from the following lemma and parallel decoupling. The argument below basically is from Lecture 2 of Larry Guth's lectures notes on decoupling [Gut18].

Lemma 4.4.2. Suppose \hat{f} is supported on $[0, N]^d$. Then

$$\|f\|_{L^p([0,1]^d)} \lesssim N^{d(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{p})} (\sum_{Q \in P_1([0,N]^d)} \|f_Q\|_{L^p([0,1]^d)}^2)^{1/2}$$

where here $\widehat{f_Q} = \widehat{f} 1_Q$.

To prove Lemma 4.4.2, we first recall Bernstein's inequality (and we ignore weight functions).

Lemma 4.4.3. Suppose \hat{f} is supported on a cube of side length 1. Then for any cube B of side length 1, $\|f\|_{L^{\infty}(B)} \leq \|f\|_{L^{1}(B)}$.

Proof of Lemma 4.4.2. Since $f = \sum_{Q \in P_1([0,N]^d)} f_Q$, almost orthogonality and ignoring weights gives that essentially

$$||f||^2_{L^2([0,1]^d)} \lesssim \sum_{Q \in P_1([0,N]^d)} ||f_Q||^2_{L^2([0,1]^d)}.$$

Observe that

$$\int_{[0,1]^d} |f|^p \leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1]^d)}^{p-2} \int_{[0,1]^d} |f|^2 \leq \left(\sum_{Q \in P_1([0,N]^d)} \|f_Q\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1]^d)}\right)^{p-2} \sum_{Q \in P_1([0,N]^d)} \|f_Q\|_{L^2([0,1]^d)}^2$$

Hölder and Bernstein then bound the above by

$$N^{d\frac{(p-2)}{2}} \left(\sum_{Q \in P_{1}([0,N]^{d})} \|f_{Q}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,1]^{d})}^{2}\right)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} \left(\sum_{Q \in P_{1}([0,N]^{d})} \|f_{Q}\|_{L^{2}([0,1]^{d})}^{2}\right)$$
$$\lesssim N^{d\frac{(p-2)}{2}} \left(\sum_{Q \in P_{1}([0,N]^{d})} \|f_{Q}\|_{L^{p}([0,1]^{d})}^{2}\right)^{p/2}.$$

Taking 1/p powers then completes the proof of Lemma 4.4.2.

REFERENCES

- [BBG18] Jonathan Bennett, Neal Bez, Susana Gutiérrez, and Sanghyuk Lee. "Estimates for the kinetic transport equation in hyperbolic Sobolev spaces." J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 114:1–28, 2018.
- [BCT06] Jonathan Bennett, Anthony Carbery, and Terence Tao. "On the multilinear restriction and Kakeya conjectures." Acta Math., **196**(2):261–302, 2006.
- [BD15] Jean Bourgain and Ciprian Demeter. "The proof of the l^2 decoupling conjecture." Ann. of Math. (2), **182**(1):351–389, 2015.
- [BD16] Jean Bourgain and Ciprian Demeter. "Mean value estimates for Weyl sums in two dimensions." J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), **94**(3):814–838, 2016.
- [BD17] Jean Bourgain and Ciprian Demeter. "A study guide for the l^2 decoupling theorem." Chin. Ann. Math. Ser. B, **38**(1):173-200, 2017.
- [BDG16] Jean Bourgain, Ciprian Demeter, and Larry Guth. "Proof of the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem for degrees higher than three." Ann. of Math. (2), 184(2):633–682, 2016.
- [BDG17] Jean Bourgain, Ciprian Demeter, and Shaoming Guo. "Sharp bounds for the cubic Parsell-Vinogradov system in two dimensions." *Adv. Math.*, **320**:827–875, 2017.
- [BG11] Jean Bourgain and Larry Guth. "Bounds on oscillatory integral operators based on multilinear estimates." *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, **21**(6):1239–1295, 2011.
- [BHS18] David Beltran, Jonathan Hickman, and Christopher D. Sogge. "Variable coefficient Wolff-type inequalities and sharp local smoothing estimates for wave equations on manifolds." arXiv:1801.06910, 2018.
- [Bou93] Jean Bourgain. "Fourier transform restriction phenomena for certain lattice subsets and applications to nonlinear evolution equations. I. Schrödinger equations." *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 3(2):107–156, 1993.
- [Bou13] Jean Bourgain. "Moment inequalities for trigonometric polynomials with spectrum in curved hypersurfaces." *Israel J. Math.*, **193**(1):441–458, 2013.
- [Bou17a] Jean Bourgain. "Decoupling, exponential sums and the Riemann zeta function." J. Amer. Math. Soc., **30**(1):205–224, 2017.
- [Bou17b] Jean Bourgain. "Decoupling inequalities and some mean-value theorems." J. Anal. Math., **133**:313–334, 2017.
- [BW18] Jean Bourgain and Nigel Watt. "Decoupling for perturbed cones and mean square of $|\zeta(\frac{1}{2} + it)|$." International Mathematics Research Notices, **2018**(17):5219–5296, 2018.

- [DGG17] Yu Deng, Pierre Germain, and Larry Guth. "Strichartz estimates for the Schrödinger equation on irrational tori." J. Funct. Anal., **273**(9):2846–2869, 2017.
- [DGL17] Xiumin Du, Larry Guth, and Xiaochun Li. "A sharp Schrödinger maximal estimate in \mathbb{R}^2 ." Ann. of Math. (2), **186**(2):607–640, 2017.
- [DGL18] Xiumin Du, Larry Guth, Xiaochun Li, and Ruixiang Zhang. "Pointwise convergence of Schrödinger solutions and multilinear refined Strichartz estimates." *Forum Math. Sigma*, 6:e14, 18, 2018.
- [DGO18] Xiumin Du, Larry Guth, Yumeng Ou, Hong Wang, Bobby Wilson, and Ruixiang Zhang. "Weighted restriction estimates and application to Falconer distance set problem." arXiv:1802.10186, 2018.
- [DZ19] Xiumin Du and Ruixiang Zhang. "Sharp L^2 estimates of the Schrödinger maximal function in higher dimensions." Annals of Mathematics, **189**(3):837–861, 2019.
- [For02] Kevin Ford. "Vinogradov's integral and bounds for the Riemann zeta function." *Proc. London Math. Soc. (3)*, **85**(3):565–633, 2002.
- [FSW18] Chenjie Fan, Gigliola Staffilani, Hong Wang, and Bobby Wilson. "On a bilinear Strichartz estimate on irrational tori." Anal. PDE, 11(4):919–944, 2018.
- [GIO18] Larry Guth, Alex Iosevich, Yumeng Ou, and Hong Wang. "On Falconer's distance set problem in the plane." arXiv:1808.09346, 2018.
- [GS09] Gustavo Garrigós and Andreas Seeger. "On plate decompositions of cone multipliers." *Proc. Edinb. Math. Soc. (2)*, **52**(3):631–651, 2009.
- [GS10] Gustavo Garrigós and Andreas Seeger. "A mixed norm variant of Wolff's inequality for paraboloids." In *Harmonic analysis and partial differential equations*, volume 505 of *Contemp. Math.*, pp. 179–197. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010.
- [Guo17] Shaoming Guo. "On a binary system of Prendiville: the cubic case." arXiv:1701.06732, 2017.
- [Gut18] Larry Guth. "Lectures Notes for Math 118, Topics in Analysis: Decoupling." http://math.mit.edu/~lguth/Math118.html, 2018.
- [GZ18a] Shaoming Guo and Ruixiang Zhang. "On integer solutions of Parsell-Vinogradov systems." arXiv:1804.02488, to appear in *Inventiones mathematicae*, 2018.
- [GZ18b] Shaoming Guo and Pavel Zorin-Kranich. "Decoupling for moment manifolds associated to Arkhipov–Chubarikov–Karatsuba systems." arXiv:1811.02207, 2018.
- [Hea15] D. R. Heath-Brown. "The Cubic Case of Vinogradov's Mean Value Theorem A Simplified Approach to Wooley's "Efficient Congruencing"." arXiv:1512.03272, 2015.

- [Hea17] D. R. Heath-Brown. "A new kth derivative estimate for exponential sums via Vinogradov's mean value." Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova, 296(Analiticheskaya i Kombinatornaya Teoriya Chisel):95–110, 2017.
- [Hor90] Lars Hormander. The analysis of linear partial differential operators. I, volume 256 of Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, second edition, 1990. Distribution theory and Fourier analysis.
- [Joh02] Warren P. Johnson. "The curious history of Faà di Bruno's formula." Amer. Math. Monthly, **109**(3):217–234, 2002.
- [Lee16] Jungjin Lee. "A trilinear approach to square function and local smoothing estimates for the wave operator." arXiv:1607.08426, 2016.
- [Lew15] Mark Lewko. "The Bourgain-Demeter-Guth breakthrough and the Riemann zeta function?" https://mathoverflow.net/q/225644, 2015.
- [LP06] Izabella Laba and Malabika Pramanik. "Wolff's inequality for hypersurfaces." Collect. Math., (Vol. Extra):293–326, 2006.
- [LW02] Izabella Łaba and Thomas Wolff. "A local smoothing estimate in higher dimensions." J. Anal. Math., 88:149–171, 2002. Dedicated to the memory of Tom Wolff.
- [Pie19] Lillian B. Pierce. "The Vinogradov Mean Value Theorem [after Wooley, and Bourgain, Demeter and Guth]." Astérisque Exposés Bourbaki, **407**:479–564, 2019.
- [Tao15] Terence Tao. "The two-dimensional case of the Bourgain-Demeter-Guth proof of the Vinogradov main conjecture." terrytao.wordpress.com, 2015.
- [Vin35] Ivan M. Vinogradov. "New estimates for Weyl sums." Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR, 8:195–198, 1935.
- [Wol00] Thomas Wolff. "Local smoothing type estimates on L^p for large p." Geom. Funct. Anal., **10**(5):1237–1288, 2000.
- [Woo12] Trevor D. Wooley. "Vinogradov's mean value theorem via efficient congruencing." Ann. of Math. (2), **175**(3):1575–1627, 2012.
- [Woo13] Trevor D. Wooley. "Vinogradov's mean value theorem via efficient congruencing, II." Duke Math. J., 162(4):673–730, 2013.
- [Woo15] Trevor D. Wooley. "Multigrade efficient congruencing and Vinogradov's mean value theorem." *Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3)*, **111**(3):519–560, 2015.
- [Woo16] Trevor D. Wooley. "The cubic case of the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem." Adv. Math., **294**:532–561, 2016.
- [Woo17] Trevor D. Wooley. "Approximating the main conjecture in Vinogradov's mean value theorem." *Mathematika*, **63**(1):292–350, 2017.

[Woo19] Trevor D. Wooley. "Nested efficient congruencing and relatives of Vinogradov's mean value theorem." Proceedings of the London Mathematical Society, 118(4):942–1016, 2019.